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About Us
Coast Capital Savings Credit Union (our friends know us as “Coast Capital”) is Canada’s second largest credit union,
dedicated to changing the way Canadians feel about banking, forever. We are a co-operative company owned by the
512,000 members who bank with us. We offer banking, investment and insurance services through our 50 branches
in the Metro Vancouver, Fraser Valley and Vancouver Island regions of British Columbia. Our total assets under
administration were $14.8 billion as at December 31, 2013.
Coast Capital’s team of 1,600 staff are dedicated to improving the financial well-being of our members, customers
and communities. We have delivered helpful product innovations such as Canada’s first free chequing account from
a full-service financial institution and the country’s most flexible mortgage product, the You’re the Boss® Mortgage.
Our company has earned recognition as one of Canada’s 10 Most Admired Corporate Cultures™ and is a member
of Canada’s Best Managed Companies Platinum Club. Every year, we make our communities stronger by investing
seven per cent of our budgeted pre-tax income in local programs, partnerships and events. We are an Imagine Canada
Caring Company.
Purpose
• To change the way Canadians feel about banking, forever.
Mission
• Simple financial help ®.
Values
• We take business seriously. Ourselves, not so much.
• We invite innovation.
• We make spirited teamwork happen.
• We keep our promises, pinkie-swear.
• We live to make our communities stronger.
• We make it easy as pie.
Retail Services
Coast Capital offers banking and investment services to members directly, and life insurance through our subsidiary
Coast Capital Financial Management Ltd.
Banking and investment services include savings and chequing accounts, term deposits, registered savings accounts
(RRSPs, TFSAs, RRIFs, RESPs), mutual funds and online brokerage, mortgages, loans, lines of credit and credit
cards. We offer in-branch teller services, access to a surcharge-free network of 2,400 ATMs across Canada and
telephone, Internet and mobile banking services.
Our life and disability insurance products include life, critical illness, disability and long term-care insurance as well
as segregated funds and annuities. Life and disability insurance services are offered through our branch network and
by a team of mobile specialists.
Business Services
Coast Capital offers lending, leasing and deposit services to commercial real estate and small- and medium-sized
businesses throughout B.C. This includes savings and chequing accounts, U.S. chequing accounts, business credit
cards, merchant payment services, term loans, interim lending and long-term commercial mortgages, letters and lines
of credit and automated funds transfers. We provide commercial and industrial equipment leasing for businesses
in B.C. through our equipment finance division, and to companies located from Alberta to Ontario through our
subsidiary Coast Capital Equipment Finance Ltd.
Businesses can access business and related individual or employee insurance solutions through Coast Capital
Financial Management Ltd. Our insurance for business owners and partners includes personal living benefits as well
as group benefits plans and strategies related to succession planning and protecting the business. Our businessrelated insurance solutions are provided through our mobile insurance experts.
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Board Chair’s Message
Board Chair’s Message
Coast Capital Savings continued to help members in 2013
using Simple financial help ®. We are a recognized leader
in offering great value to our members with innovative
financial products and service. Our membership grew to
more than 512,000 in 2013, maintaining our spot as the
largest credit union in Canada by number of members.
Our members are both our owners and our best
customers. We want them to know that Coast Capital
is stronger than ever, ready to develop the next
generation banking experience and continue to deliver
on our purpose: To change the way Canadians feel about
banking, forever.
Members Have Their Say
Last fall, we launched a member engagement program
called Have Your Say, asking for input from our
membership. Nearly 90 per cent of those surveyed said
they were satisfied or very satisfied with Coast Capital
as their financial institution and 85 per cent said they
believe there is value in their membership. Our members’
feedback is consistent with independent research that
gives Coast Capital the highest Net Promoter Score
amongst all the major financial institutions operating in
British Columbia. Members reported their top priorities
for Coast Capital are helpful and knowledgeable staff,
more innovative products and services, and more
helpful mobile and online tools. We’re on it!
Last year, there was a member-initiated special
resolution on director compensation which emphasized
the importance of open dialogue with members. In
response to that special resolution, Coast Capital invited
members to volunteer for an independent memberdriven task force to review the Director Compensation
Philosophy. In February of this year, that task force came
out with its list of recommendations that will be voted on
during the annual directors election. The results will be
announced at the Annual General Meeting in April 2014.
Strong Financial Growth
The Canadian economy enjoyed modest growth last year
and so did Coast Capital. We achieved this by increasing
income sources such as commercial loans and wealth
management and through business realignment. It was
a busy year with many projects and the Board provided
guidance for numerous significant organizational
initiatives such as the implementation of a new banking
system and the sale of our insurance subsidiary. We’re
now even stronger on the inside, ready for what the
future brings.
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Helping to Build a Better Community
Sharing success with our members and their communities
is so important at Coast Capital that we allocate seven
per cent of budgeted pre-tax profits back to local
communities where our members live and work. Last
year, Coast Capital invested more than $4.8 million in
communities, guided by our promise to Help Build a
Richer Future for Youth.
We are committed to engaging, empowering and
providing youth with leadership opportunities. We are
creating opportunities for youth inside our organization
through our Youth Team work experience program and
investing in youth-serving programs in our communities.
And, we’re empowering youth to help us make funding
decisions through three Young Leaders Community
Councils which represent youth in the Lower Mainland
and Vancouver Island.
These Councils bring emerging young leaders
together to contribute their unique skills and experience
and together they recommended close to $1 million in
grants to nearly 100 youth-serving local community
groups last year.
Coast Capital is committed to supporting youth
entrepreneurship and innovation. Through our
partnership with the Sauder School of Business at the
University of British Columbia, we support a unique social
venture accelerator, the Coast Capital Savings Innovation
Hub, which coaches and mentors budding entrepreneurs
who want to create positive social and environmental
impact. At Simon Fraser University, we are helping shape
the entrepreneurs and business leaders of tomorrow
through the Venture Connection program, which
supported close to 700 young entrepreneurs in 2013 and
has helped launch several successful start-ups.
In 2013, we invested in groups that are working to
build awareness around stress and youth mental health.
Through our partnership with the Victoria Hospitals
Foundation, we’re contributing to the development of
a mobile phone app that will help youth with mental
illness manage their recovery and access resources. We
support Fraser Health’s Speak Up program that aims to
give teens and young adults a voice in mental health and
substance use issues, through the development of an
interactive website and delivery of peer-run workshops
in 84 schools and four universities, with the goal of
reaching 35,000 young people per year across the Fraser
Health region. We think it’s important to support groundbreaking research around the causes and treatment of
mental illness.

We know that youth experience depression and stress
when they are socially excluded and disengaged. For
this reason, Coast Capital has partnered with CKNW
to be the presenting sponsor of their province-wide
campaign, Pink Shirt Day, which encourages everyone to
wear pink on the last Wednesday in February, and send
the message that bullying will not be tolerated. Proceeds
from the CKNW Orphans Fund Pink Shirt Day campaign
support 10 not-for-profit organizations working on antibullying initiatives.
Yay Team
Coast Capital is a premier partner and the official
credit union of the BC Lions Football Club. Through
our partnership, we present Lions Pride, an out-reach
program in our local high schools for high-risk youth that
supports the importance of making healthy and positive
choices.
We’re also the official financial institution and
Presenting Partner of the BC Games Society. Our
three-year partnership will help ensure young athletes
and communities have a chance to come together to
demonstrate individual achievement and community
pride. Watch for us this summer in Nanaimo.

Stepping Up to Help Neighbours in Need
Last spring, Coast Capital was among six BC credit unions
that joined forces to provide $245,000 to assist with flood
relief and rebuilding efforts in neighbouring Alberta. The
funds went to assist the Canadian Red Cross in providing
affected Alberta residents with immediate needs such as
shelter, water and food.
We’re Blushing
Corporate awards continued to recognize innovation
here at Coast Capital in 2013. Business in Vancouver
recognized our brass with Top CEO and Top CFO
distinctions and the organization was again honoured as
one of Canada’s Best Managed Companies and named
one of BC’s Top Employers.
Thanks
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I thank our CEO,
her executive team and every Coast Capital employee
for their hard work in changing the way Canadians feel
about banking, forever. We thank members for banking
with us and trusting us to help them achieve their
financial goals.

Bill Wellburn, FCA, C.Dir.
Chair, Board of Directors
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CEO’s Message
On the outside, Coast Capital is a friendly credit union with
helpful staff. On the inside, these dedicated individuals
worked even harder in 2013 to serve our members, lay
the foundation for future growth and build on our history
of strong financial performance. After a number of inside
changes and enhancements in 2013, Coast Capital is
stronger than ever.
Despite a modest economic recovery in Canada
and BC, Coast Capital continues to outperform the
market. We attracted thousands of new members in
2013; substantially increased our investment sales;
grew our retail and commercial deposit portfolios; and
achieved some of the industry’s strongest liquidity and
capital ratios – all in an industry that continues to be
challenged with low interest rates, increasing costs and
consolidation within the credit union system.
The Management’s Discussion and Analysis section
and Consolidated Financial Statements in this annual
report give more detail about Coast Capital’s performance
in 2013. There, you will find what we achieved and what
targets we set for 2014. But here’s a sneak peek:
At first glance, the numbers show an extraordinary
year for Coast Capital in terms of our net income,
up 108 per cent from $72.4 million in 2012 to $150.6
million in 2013. Much of the increase is due to the sale
of properties and our insurance subsidiary. Taking
these out of the equation, we had a solid year in 2013
with balanced financial performance despite a year
of transformation and challenging external market
conditions.
Our total loans grew by 2.2 per cent from $10.8 billion
at the end of 2012 to $11.0 billion in 2013. Commercial
loans, including commercial mortgages and equipment
financing, grew from $2.5 billion in 2012 to $2.7 billion, an
increase of 9.3 per cent. Our investment portfolio grew by
nearly 16 per cent to just over $2.3 billion as more members
invested in our Low Fee, More for Me Mutual Funds™.
Total assets under Coast Capital’s administration
increased 1.7 per cent from $14.6 billion in 2012 to
$14.8 billion in 2013. Our regulatory capital ratio increased
from 12.63 per cent in 2012 to 15.28 per cent, placing it
well above the supervisory requirement of 10 per cent.
As well, our liquidity target generated from core deposits
was maintained at 9.5 per cent throughout the year.
Strides Ahead in 2013
Ask almost anyone who works at Coast Capital what
was at the top of their to-do list in 2013 and they will
tell you about our transition to our new banking system.
It was the biggest undertaking in our organization’s
history, requiring the savvy and efforts of everyone
here to bring it to life. Replacing the previous system
was an enormous undertaking, but one necessary for
us to remain equipped to meet our members’ everincreasing technological and financial needs, as well as
4
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our continued growth.
Coast Capital is already benefitting from a stronger,
more stable system and improved customer experience
which we will continue to build on in the years to come.
With our banking system now in place, members will
find it easier to do business with us across all business
lines and channels.
We thank our employees wholeheartedly for their hard
work on the new banking system and their dedication
to providing our members with exceptional customer
service through the transition. I would also like to take
this opportunity to thank all members for supporting
us through this implementation. We appreciated your
patience and understanding as we got up to speed.
Also of significance in 2013 was the sale of our
insurance subsidiary, Coast Capital Insurance Services
Ltd. (“CCIS”) to our new partner, Western Financial Group
(“WFG”) which is owned by the Desjardins Group. The
transition was seamless with little impact on members
and is an example of how strategic partnerships should
work. WFG continues to operate CCIS under the Coast
Capital brand, in the same Coast Capital locations with
the same great staff. This sale allows us to really focus
on our core business of banking. We can now offer more
comprehensive insurance solutions to our members
through WFG and provide insurance employees more
career growth opportunities.
Membership Has Value
Our membership reached an all-time high of just over
512,000 in 2013 affirming our leadership as one of the
fastest-growing credit unions in Canada. We are the
largest credit union in the country by membership – and
we want to keep it going.
We were delighted to see again that our members are
twice as likely to recommend us to a friend or colleague
compared to customers of banks. As well, a survey of
our members in 2013 told us that they believe we are
focused on the right things, providing them with great
products and services and running the credit union the
way they like. This feedback will shape how we will
continue to bring value and make a positive difference
to our members.
To help us continue adding value to membership, we
have developed a three-year corporate strategy that will
be rolled out, starting in 2014. It will be a game-changer
and we think members are really going to like what
comes their way.
New Relationships for Growth
At Coast Capital, we know there is strength in numbers.
That goes for partners as well as members. In April of 2013,
we signed a Memorandum of Understanding with the
Desjardins Group, Canada’s largest financial co-operative
group and provider of Coast Capital Desjardins Visa cards.

The agreement builds on the existing relationship we
have shared over the last several years and will help us
explore opportunities to create new products and services
to better serve our members. In the long term, it will help
us both to grow and remain competitive.
2014 Priorities
Coast Capital plans to keep delivering on our promise
of Simple financial help® in order to change the
way Canadians feel about banking, forever. We are
improving service by offering banking and payments
through digital channels: Interac e-Transfer and an
Android phone app were launched in early 2014. We are
working on a way that will allow members to securely
deposit a cheque using their smartphone or tablet. We
will also roll out a state-of-the-art contact centre in late
2014 which will make it even easier for our members to
do business with us over the phone or online. In terms
of bricks and mortar, we continue to make progress on
our new Help Headquarters head office in Surrey with a
targeted completion in late 2015.
With 512,000 existing members in BC, we continue
to look at our options for bringing our wonderful

value proposition to new markets in Canada. Given
the economic climate, we anticipate a relatively lowgrowth, low-interest rate environment for some time.
Yet, continued growth is vital to be able to still provide
great value products like The Free Chequing, Free Debit
and More Account®, as well as to deliver more new
products, services and channels to our members.
In line with this, we were delighted when the federal
government announced additional measures to make
it easier for Canadian credit unions to expand outside
their provincial boundaries. This is good news and will
help Coast Capital expand across Canada, as long as it’s
the right move for us and our members agree. We are
committed to having an open dialogue with members
and employees about these opportunities as we go
forward.
Thank you to all employees for their hard work
last year and to our Board for its ongoing support
and guidance. Of course, I also want to thank all our
wonderful members. With more than one in 10 British
Columbians now banking with us statistically speaking,
we are reaching more people than ever with our promise
to change the way Canadians feel about banking, forever.

Tracy Redies
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Financial Highlights
2013 Performance Against Targets
Loan growth
Net growth in total loans

Target

$831 million

Result

$239 million

Deposit growth
Net growth in total deposits

Target

$630 million

Result

$128 million

Net income
All revenue less expenses and taxes

Target

$73.1 million

Result

$150.6 million

Return on average assets
Net income expressed as a percentage of average assets

Target

0.57%

Result

1.20%

Return on average equity
Net income expressed as a percentage of average equity

Target

9.69%

Result

19.30%

Capital
Regulator-defined and primarily retained earnings plus share equity divided by total assets adjusted for risk as defined by regulators

Target

13.56%

Result

15.28%

Non-interest expenses
All costs that are not interest-related, with the exception of provisions for credit losses and income taxes

Target

No greater than 1.83% of average assets

Result

1.91%

Operating efficiency
Coast Capital’s cost to earn $1, equal to all non-interest expenses divided by the sum of net interest income and other income

Target

No greater than 75.2%

Result

6

76.1%
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Financial Highlights
Financial Highlights at a Glance
Total loans

Total deposits

Members’ equity

Billions of dollars

Billions of dollars

Millions of dollars

872

11.3

724

9.8
600

10.3

9.9
9.7

8.4

2009

2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

2013

2012

543

2011

2010

2009

8.2

655

596

2010

8.5

Net interest income

Non-interest expenses

Net income

As a percentage of average assets

As a percentage of average assets

Millions of dollars

2013

11.2

2012

11.0

2011

10.8

150.6

2.38
2.13

2.37
2.09

2.05

1.91

62.0

Net income

Net income

Operating efficiency

As a percentage of average assets

As a percentage of average equity

In per cent

1.20

71.0

11.2

2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

2013

68.7

2012

2011

10.0

2010

2009

2013

2012

10.4

72.1
69.5

11.6

0.60

2011

2010

2009

72.4

12.3

0.57

0.53

76.1

19.3

0.67
0.63

2013

2012

2011

2010

2013

2012

2011

2010

54.3
2009

2013

65.4

1.91

1.92

2012

2011

2010

1.95

2.10

2009

2.16

2009

72.4

70.2

2.25

CGAAP
IFRS

On January 1, 2011, we changed the way we prepare our financial statements and adopted new accounting policies, transitioning from
Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“CGAAP”) to International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Our 2010 financial
results, originally reported using CGAAP, have been restated using IFRS to compare with our 2011 performance. Both sets of 2010 results are
included for historical comparison.
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Financial Highlights
Financial Highlights: 5-Year Overview
IFRS
2013

in thousands of dollars

IFRS
2012

IFRS
2011

IFRS
2010

CGAAP
2010

CGAAP
2009

Balance sheets
Assets
Cash and cash resources

$

Financial investments
Loans

152,121

$

399,374

$

375,590

$

192,166

$

190,667

$

964,005

1,250,619

1,286,124

1,447,872

1,730,060

1,729,970

1,809,508
8,245,780

11,002,775

10,764,060

9,805,582

8,481,790

8,383,003

Premises and equipment

25,465

37,699

34,778

35,650

35,650

34,307

Other

98,742

112,248

104,415

76,838

67,761

73,244

$ 12,529,722 $ 12,599,505 $ 11,768,237

$ 10,516,504

$ 10,407,051 $ 11,126,844

Liabilities
Deposits
Demand

4,369,450

4,110,316

4,026,815

3,638,114

3,638,114

3,188,079

Term

5,437,519

5,538,357

4,785,453

4,596,448

4,596,448

5,249,023

Registered

1,445,200

1,471,271

1,435,319

1,424,406

1,424,406

1,410,444

2,344

2,256

2,161

2,064

2,064

1,972

62,400

66,582

61,617

58,758

58,758

70,962

11,316,913

11,188,782

10,311,365

9,719,790

9,719,790

9,920,480

175,000

565,000

675,000

–

–

575,000

Borrowings secured by loans

83,464

51,720

50,673

97,070

–

–

Other

82,024

69,564

76,039

74,525

66,575

62,921

11,657,401

11,875,066

11,113,077

9,891,385

9,786,365

10,558,401

–

–

–

25,000

25,000

25,000

Class A shares
Accrued interest
Borrowings

Subordinated debt
Members’ equity
Class B shares
Retained earnings
Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss)

36,454

38,892

40,302

41,485

41,485

42,597

838,142

688,091

616,576

555,834

551,484

486,962

2,800

2,717

13,884

872,321

(2,275)

724,439

(2,544)

655,160

(1,718)

600,119

595,686

543,443

$ 12,529,722

$ 12,599,505

$ 11,768,237

$ 10,516,504

$ 10,407,051

$ 11,126,844

$

$

$

$

$

$

Income statements
Interest income

432,713

425,516

414,954

419,205

406,272

424,388

Interest expense

192,012

191,880

178,687

169,275

158,491

194,039

Net interest income

240,701

233,636

236,267

249,930

247,781

230,349

Provision for credit losses

5,794

8,047

8,337

7,628

10,028

20,665

234,907

225,589

227,930

242,302

237,752

209,684

Fee, commission and other income

72,873

89,671

75,157

71,706

70,679

64,983

Gain on sale of assets and shares

111,993

–

–

–

–

–

419,773

315,260

303,087

314,008

308,431

274,667

Non-interest expenses

238,712

229,459

224,553

220,817

221,469

213,840

Income before undernoted

181,061

85,801

78,534

93,191

86,963

60,827

–

–

–

–

–

6,706

Unusual item/extraordinary item
Income before provision for
income taxes

181,061

85,801

78,534

93,191

86,963

67,533

Provision for income taxes

30,430

13,355

16,561

22,966

21,529

13,272

Net income

8

$

150,631
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$

72,446

$

61,973

$

70,225

$

65,434

$

54,261

Financial Highlights
Financial Highlights: 5-Year Overview
IFRS
2013

IFRS
2012

IFRS
2011

IFRS
2010

CGAAP
2010

Asset growth

(0.55)

7.06

11.90

(5.49)

(6.47)

6.54

Loan growth

2.22

9.77

15.61

2.86

1.66

(1.42)

in thousands of dollars

CGAAP
2009

Financial statistics in per cent

Deposit growth

1.15

8.51

6.09

(2.02)

(2.02)

7.26

76.13

70.97

72.11

68.65

69.54

72.41

Capital ratio

15.28

12.63

13.06

14.29

14.29

12.42

Liquidity ratio

12.12

14.28

16.52

19.58

19.76

26.43

Operating efficiency

Percentage of average assets
Net interest income

1.92

1.95

2.16

2.37

2.38

2.25

Other income

0.58

0.75

0.69

0.68

0.68

0.64

Non-interest expenses

1.91

1.91

2.05

2.10

2.13

2.09

Percentage return on
Average assets

1.20

0.60

0.57

0.67

0.63

0.53

Average equity

19.30

11.23

9.99

12.32

11.61

10.38

Average assets

$ 12,508,923

$ 11,996,263

$ 10,962,358

$ 10,531,573

$ 10,402,570

$ 10,233,230

Average equity

780,574

645,257

620,078

569,951

563,406

522,829

2,293,326

1,978,066

1,762,378

1,757,689

1,757,689

1,635,757

91,457

49,977

48,484

91,089

91,089

172,261

$ 14,823,048

$ 14,577,571

$ 13,530,615

$ 12,274,193

$ 12,255,829

$ 12,934,862

$

$

$

$

$

$

Mutual funds under administration
Securitized loans
Total assets under administration
Asset quality trends
Allowance for credit losses,
beginning
Provisions for credit losses
Loans written off
Recoveries of loans written off
Allowance for credit losses, end
Impaired loans

$

42,507

43,658

59,911

63,546

62,614

53,645

5,794

8,047

8,337

7,635

10,028

20,665

10,676

10,957

25,949

12,190

12,193

12,359

1,237

1,759

1,359

920

920

663

38,862

42,507

43,658

59,911

61,369

62,614

39,607

$

50,541

$

77,769

$

101,498

$

101,498

$

76,869

Locations
Branches

50

50

51

50

50

50

Insurance offices

30

32

34

34

34

34

On January 1, 2011, we changed the way we prepare our financial statements and adopted new accounting policies, transitioning from
Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“CGAAP”) to International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Our 2010 financial
results, originally reported using CGAAP, have been restated using IFRS to compare with our 2011 performance. Both sets of 2010 results are
included for historical comparison.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) section of the annual report gives readers an overview
of Coast Capital Savings Credit Union (“Coast Capital”), and enables them to assess its operations and financial
position, as well as applicable material risks. The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial and Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”). A section providing a detailed analysis of our capital structure is also included. This MD&A is current as of
February 28, 2014.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Overview
We are Coast Capital Savings, Canada’s second largest credit union owned by the 512,000 members who bank with
us. We have 50 branches in the Metro Vancouver, Fraser Valley and Vancouver Island regions of British Columbia and
have exciting plans to grow. We have assets of $12.5 billion and assets under administration of $14.8 billion.
Performance highlights for 2013:
• Net income increased by 108 per cent from $72.4 million last year to $150.6 million.
• Revenue was $425.6 million in 2013, compared to $323.3 million the previous year. $112.0 million of this
increase is due to the sale of properties and our general insurance subsidiary.
• Total investment services assets under administration increased by 15.9 per cent to $2.3 billion from
$2.0 billion.
• Retained earnings increased by 21.8 per cent, from $688.1 million in 2012 to $838.1 million.
• Regulatory capital ratio increased from 12.63 per cent in 2012 to 15.28 per cent.
• We maintained or exceeded a liquidity target of 9.5 per cent throughout the year. This financial health metric
measures liquidity generated from our core depositors.
• Total assets decreased by 0.6 per cent to $12.5 billion from $12.6 billion.
• Total loans grew by 2.2 per cent from $10.8 billion at the end of 2012 to $11.0 billion.
• Commercial loans, inclusive of commercial mortgages and equipment financing, grew from $2.5 billion
in 2012 to $2.7 billion, an increase of 9.3 per cent.
• Residential mortgages stayed flat at $8.0 billion with growth of 0.2 per cent.
• Total deposits increased from $11.2 billion in 2012 to $11.3 billion in 2013, an increase of 1.2 per cent. Retail
and business deposits increased by $0.2 billion. Deposit growth enabled us to maintain stable core liquidity
levels of 10.4 per cent at the end of the year.
• Total assets under administration increased by 1.7 per cent to $14.8 billion from $14.6 billion in 2012.
• Net interest income increased from $233.6 million to $240.7 million. Current year growth is attributed to
a strategic change in the mix of our loan portfolio to offset the compression that continues to impact the
financial services industry.
In the early 2000s three leading credit unions joined together to create a new kind of banking institution. Our
founding credit unions shared a belief that Canadians deserved a banking alternative that benefits ordinary people
and communities. They also recognized that in order to successfully compete against much larger banks, they were
going to need to do two things: offer a better experience to more Canadians, and be different.
So that’s what we’ve done. We’ve established a unique brand voice and a suite of innovative and competitive
products that successfully differentiate our credit union in the marketplace. Since 2003, we’ve grown our membership
by over 5 per cent per year, more than any other credit union in Canada. In total, in the past ten years, we’ve added
more than 200,000 new members. We’ve also grown our business, posting 6.4 per cent in asset growth, annualized
since 2004 while continuing to deepen our relationships with our individual and business members. True to our
co-operative roots, we’ve accomplished these results while making our communities stronger through contributions
totalling $50 million since 2000.
We believe the strategies that brought us to this point will allow us to realize the vision of our founders. That’s
because these strategies are aligned with the powerful purpose of our organization — to change the way Canadians
feel about banking, forever — a simple, ambitious, and unique goal that everyone at Coast Capital strives for every
day. Our purpose recognizes our need to achieve scale and grow to benefit new members and communities. It also
ensures we continue to do things differently, to make banking better for Canadians, forever.
To reinforce the centrality of our purpose, we make sure it cascades throughout the organization. For example, we
have embedded it as a daily objective for all our member-facing staff — I will change the way Canadians feel about
banking today — and aligned it with our human resources strategy to change the way employees feel about work,
forever. Our purpose is at the forefront of every decision we make and is alive in all business units.
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Strategy
How we do things differently — our strategy — is
Thinking of joining Coast Capital and becoming a
reflected in our mission to deliver Simple financial help ®.
member and owner? Here are some reasons why
‘Simple’ and ‘helpful’ are two words that Canadians
that’s a good idea:
rarely use when describing traditional banking, which
• You get to bank with an organization that is
is why they are key principles underlying our mission
dedicated to improving your financial well-being.
and strategy: we’re intentionally challenging the
• You get to enjoy Simple financial help.
norms of our industry. Where the banking standard
• You get high value products and services, with
practice is delivering sophisticated, complex advice, we
the same great rates enjoyed by all members.
provide simple, actionable help. Where most financial
• Your assets are well looked after by strong and
institutions offer personalized service for affluent clients,
prudent managers who live in your community.
we offer efficient, cheerful service for all. And like our
• You have a democratic say in how we are
purpose, this notion of challenging norms permeates
governed, with equal rights regardless of
our strategic thinking at Coast Capital. You can see it
financial position.
in our brand — How can we help you? ® — which puts
• Your community is strengthened when we
members first, rather than putting the company first,
contribute seven per cent of budgeted pre-tax
and in our corporate culture, which fosters un-bankincome to local causes, initiatives and events.
like behaviour with values such as taking our business
• You will benefit as the business grows and
seriously, ourselves not so much.
expands into new communities.
What we do and how we do it isn’t for everyone. We
describe the type of people who get the most benefit
from being Coast Capital members as value-conscious Canadians who want simple, innovative banking. What this
description says is our members expect we won’t “nickel-and-dime” them, and they’ll get the best quality products
and services at a cost that makes sense. “Value” in “value-conscious” is a play on both meanings of the word. It says
our members want value for money and also want to do business with a company that shares their values and ethics.
Because we’re a co-operative financial institution, we’re not bound by trying to maximize quarterly shareholder
earnings, and we plan for the long-term. For our strategy, this means remaining focused on long-term goals, and
using an iterative planning process to determine the best ways to achieve those objectives in the near term.
2013 was the final year of our most recent three-year strategic plan. We defined our focus in this period using five
aiming points:
• Community banking 2.0: building on service strengths to deliver unexpected customer experience through our
branches and all channels;
• Local community builders: beyond giving, building communities through partnerships and employee engagement;
• Retail banking in under 30 minutes: offering streamlined, fast, end-to-end processes and products that support our
mission of Simple financial help;
• Business banking: using our local decision-makers to deliver professional advice to local entrepreneurs; and
• Targeted geographic expansion: growing our business outside of British Columbia.
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2013 achievements in each of these areas by aiming point:
Community
banking 2.0

• Conducted 30,000 Where You’re At Money Chats™ with customers, ingraining a culture of help.
• Growth in Low-fee, More-for-me Mutual Funds™ of nearly $300 million from market appreciation
and new investments. The fund family provides access to pension fund-style management while
incurring industry low expense ratios.
• Further expansion of multi-skilled branch employees with 44 additions to the Money Pro role in
order to better equip our employees to meet a greater breadth of members’ needs.

Local
community
builders

• Leveraged the Young Leaders Community Councils by granting approximately $1 million to nearly
100 local community groups and initiatives.
• Reached more than 1.4 million British Columbians with community investments.
• Launched a major sponsorship of the BC Games (Nanaimo Summer 2014, Penticton Winter 2016
and Abbotsford Summer 2016) as well as community/marketing partnerships with the BC Lions.

Retail banking • Implemented our new banking system in February 2013. With the new system in place, we will be
in under 30
able to enhance our member service capabilities, such as e-money transfer and deposit capture, while
minutes
providing for new opportunities.
• Continued focus on identifying and executing on strategic cost management initiatives.
Business
banking

• Advanced a relationship model to enhance customer experience.
• Rebalanced portfolio by growing non-real estate business banking at a faster pace than commercial
real estate.
• Delivered expanded professional development to relationship managers.

Targeted
geographic
expansion

• Established formal corporate development team with a view to having a dedicated team that we can
grow as expansion opportunities present themselves.

New three-year strategy
As we refreshed our strategy for the next three years, we considered the changing landscape of our markets.
Specifically, we looked at:
• Technological advances in payment processes that include person to person, and business to business
• Convenience as defined by members but also as observed in other industries
• Enhanced ways to articulate the value of membership
• The banking needs of ‘Generation Y’ and entrepreneurs
While remaining true to our brand, our next three-year strategy addresses some significant themes:
Membership Has Value
Providing greater value to members who do more business with us:
• Migrate from a focus on individual transaction to one of fostering a mutually beneficial financial relationship
• Deepen relationships with existing members versus external growth
• Expand the value realized by a single member to value realized at a family and business relationship level
• Transform focus from realizing value from a product to an ongoing experience
Update to Business Model
While we encourage members from all segments to do business with us, we realize that some segments are more
inclined. We want to ensure that these relationships are mutually beneficial:
• Define and focus on our top market segments; design packaged offerings
• Accelerate growth in business banking and wealth management, diversify reliance away from interest income
• Simplify and automate end-to-end processes, assisting members and employees
• Adopt and improve on a suite of ‘digital basics’ – services and applications expected by members to make their
banking more convenient
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Next Generation
In recent years, we have been able to attract younger customers because of our innovative financial products. While
maintaining focus on our current member base, we need to increase the ability to attract new ones by developing,
creating and piloting the banking experience and business model for the next generation and migrating to a seamless
omni-channel member experience.
Over the next three years, we will improve our internal capabilities with a number of technological enhancements:
• End-to-end onboarding – provide consistent customer experience;
• Automated loan decisions – provide faster response times for credit applicants and consistent pricing across all
delivery channels; and
• Electronic content management – speed up access to historic underlying documentation, digitize to reduce
paper storage room and costs.
Legislative and policy developments
The following had or will have significant impacts on how we operate:
Corporate Governance Guideline – In January 2013, the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions
(“OSFI”) released this guideline to complement relevant provisions in federal financial institutions legislation.
Subsequently, the provincial Financial Institutions Commission (“FICOM”) released its Governance Guideline for
British Columbia credit unions in September 2013. This guideline outlines FICOM’s expectations for sound governance
practices at all British Columbia credit unions and is intended to assist credit union boards in the exercise of their
duties and obligations to protect the interests of credit union members. This guideline is designed to recognize the
co-operative nature of credit unions and differences in size, scope and complexity within the credit union system.
Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (“FATCA”) – US legislation designed this act to improve tax compliance of US
citizens with foreign financial assets and offshore accounts. In addition, FATCA will require non-US financial institutions
to report directly to the US Internal Revenue Services (“IRS”) information about financial accounts held by US taxpayers.
However, throughout 2013, we awaited harmonization between FATCA regulations and an intergovernmental agreement
(“IGA”) between federal governments to determine the legislation’s impact. The IGA was signed on February 5, 2014,
and will shift financial institutions’ reporting from the IRS to the Canada Revenue Agency.
Liquidity Adequacy Requirements – OSFI announced in November 2013 guidelines that establish the framework
within which OSFI will assess whether a bank, a bank holding company, a trust company or a loan company maintains
adequate liquidity. Interested parties were invited to provide comments on the guidelines by January 24, 2014. The
guidelines are intended as a domestic response to formalize the framework from the Basel Committee on Banking
Supervision.
Prepaid Payments Products Regulations – In December 2013, the federal government followed up on its promise
to take action and develop measures to enhance the consumer protection framework with respect to payment
network-branded cards. The intention of the regulations is to better protect consumers of financial products and
ensure they have the necessary tools to make responsible financial decisions.
Economic environment and impact in 2013
Economists expected the Canadian economy to improve upon growth of 1.7 per cent in 2012. Improvements
stemming from a resurgence of the global economy inclusive of a stronger US economy were to translate into a
stronger Canadian export sector.
Actual growth was somewhat disappointing with Canadian GDP forecast to be consistent with 2012’s growth of
1.7 per cent. Factors contributing to the lacklustre growth have been a continuation of Canada’s merchandise trade
deficit, which did not benefit from the strong Canadian dollar through much of 2013. Additionally, growth in the US
housing sector did not generate expected increases to exports of Canadian lumber and motor vehicles and parts to
the US. The employment picture also weakened with only 102,000 jobs being created in Canada in 2013 versus the
312,000 in 2012. As the year ended, the Bank of Canada amended its monetary policy view from tightening to neutral,
as inflation began to track at the lower end of its targeted range of 1 per cent to 3 per cent.
Growth in the US has been slow, though signs of economic health are beginning to materialize. 2013 US GDP
grew by 1.9 per cent, though more encouraging has been the upward trend in growth witnessed each quarter in 2013
and expected to increase into 2014. Strong consumer spending fuelled economic growth but was partially offset by
reduced government spending from shutdowns. While US policy-makers did little to reduce instability throughout
much of the year, they did manage sufficient compromise to avoid major shutdowns.
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The Eurozone continued to languish at or near deflationary levels. High unemployment combined with high
exchange rates made imports attractive but exports relatively expensive. Growth has been muted and expected to
be below zero. The positive perspective was that Eurozone contagion appeared to be controlled with credit spreads
narrowing between the most and least prosperous countries, and growth actually exceeding expectations.
The British Columbia economy performed unevenly during the course of the year. Retail sales declined by
0.2 per cent to 1.7 per cent, housing starts fell by almost 10 per cent, Consumer Price Index declined by 0.2 per cent
while the unemployment rate remained stable at 6.6 per cent.
Nationally, housing activity was significantly impacted by 2012 rules changes from OSFI and the Canada Mortgage
and Housing Corporation (“CMHC”). Both served to reduce demand for residential mortgage lending and had
immediate impacts in mid-2012. In comparison, 2013 MLS activity in our trade area was up 8 per cent for the first half
of the year while activity in the second half of the year picked up by 34 per cent as compared to a low base reduced
by rules changes. Year over year, sales in Greater Vancouver increased by 14 per cent, Greater Victoria increased by
4 per cent, while the Fraser Valley declined by 1.5 per cent.
Interest rates were significantly impacted by changing market expectations during the year. While the prime rate
remained unchanged in 2013, the lack of inflationary pressure in Canada shifted expectations of short-term interest
rate increases further into the future. In the US, expectations that the US Federal Reserve would begin reducing its
bond purchasing program resulted in long-term interest rates increasing during the second and third quarters. This
translated into increases in mortgage rates in Canada, particularly at the five-year and longer-term levels.
Economic environment in 2014
Most market observers appear to expect the Bank Rate to remain at the same level it has been since 2010, being
1 per cent. The Bank of Canada’s removal of its upward bias for interest rate changes combined with stalling
commodity prices from slower growth in emerging markets has lowered the value of the Canadian dollar making
exports more affordable. Other possible benefits expected from the Canadian economy are reductions to domestic
excess capacity and deflationary risks.
These improvements are expected to have more noticeable impacts in provinces with strong manufacturing
sectors, as opposed to resource-based sectors. Less growth disparity between the resource-rich Prairie provinces
and the remaining provinces is expected to increase national growth to 2.7 per cent.
The US economy is expected to grow at higher levels than recent years. This is expected to have spill-over benefits
for British Columbia. Multi-billion dollar investments in the energy sector combined with benefits of a stronger US
housing market and increased exports of products to China are all expected to contribute to stronger growth in
British Columbia. The province’s GDP growth is expected to increase from 1.2 per cent in 2013 to 2.4 per cent, but is
contingent on improving economic conditions in the province’s main markets.
As the US Federal Reserve commences the tapering of its stimulus program, long-term interest rates are expected to
rise. The position of the Bank of Canada is that this will have minimal impact on a more vibrant housing market, while
any dampening of consumer spending would address historically high consumer debt levels. However, it will be difficult
to predict how markets will respond to dramatic shifts in volumes of stimulus given the lack of historical precedent.
Corporate Performance
Much of our efforts in 2013 were focused on successfully implementing our new banking system. More than half
of our capital expenditures and a significant portion of our employees’ efforts supported the system conversion.
We implemented our new banking system on the holiday weekend in February culminating several years’ effort.
Beyond the system conversion, our focus was on expanding and diversifying our commercial banking,
particularly in the areas of services to small- and medium-sized businesses, growing our retail and business
deposit relationships, pursuing sustainable growth with sound liquidity and capital management and expanding
our brand via strategic expansion opportunities. Each of these areas are ones which we have demonstrated market
leadership balanced with principles of sound risk management and sustainable growth.
We completed a significant transaction in 2013 with the sale of all of the shares of our general insurance subsidiary
Coast Capital Insurance Services Ltd. (“CCIS”). We determined that given the geographic concentration of our trade
area and the resource constraints we would have in growing CCIS into an industry leader, a partnership model with a
larger insurance company that retained general insurance within our retail branches would provide better long-term
products and services to our customers. Our sale to Western Financial Group provided us this partnership model.
The transaction had a significant impact on our 2013 corporate performance resulting in a pre-income tax gain of
$88.8 million. It will also provide greater career opportunities to insurance employees.
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We continued to experience margin compression throughout 2013. The Canadian chartered banks have become
more focused on expanding their market share domestically, particularly with residential mortgages. For the second
consecutive spring, this translated into aggressive pricing driving down loan yields, particularly on fixed-rate fiveyear mortgages. At the same time, banks competed aggressively on consumer deposit products thus narrowing
margins from both sides. We saw some abatement in loan pricing as bond yields increased by as much as 75 basis
points throughout Q2 and Q3 in response to market expectations of reduced financial stimulus by the US Federal
Reserve. Our focus on sustainable growth drove our decision to compete less aggressively on rate as compared to
the market. While our net interest margin still declined from 1.95 per cent to 1.92 per cent, we reversed a trend of
declining margins since 2010 by the midpoint of the year. Our lending growth was 0.5 per cent in the retail segment
and 10 per cent in commercial.
Our net income in 2013 was $150.6 million, a record year for Canadian credit unions. This amount was enhanced
by gains on the sale of our general insurance business as well as the sale of many of our owned premises. Net gains,
adjusted for income taxes, were $93.1 million. By comparison, net income for 2012 was $72.4 million.
Despite the increase in net income, we incurred some additional costs in 2013:
• Cost impacts as a result of the banking system implementation. This introduced amortization expenses versus
our previous system that had been fully depreciated. We additionally had costs for internal resources that were
capitalized during the system build but now returned to normal operations.
• Reorganization costs prompted by the banking system implementation but also as a refocus of our complement
towards better customer delivery aligned to strategy.
• Lesser ability to access the credit union income tax deduction with reduced deposit growth.
Despite pressures on our net interest margin, the change in mix to our loan portfolio enabled us to increase our
net interest income, up from $233.6 million in 2012 to $240.7 million. This mix change was a strategic shift towards
increasing our commercial loan portfolio as well as sourcing more of our funding from our retail and business
deposit customers.
The real estate market responded rapidly and dramatically in mid-2012 to rule changes by CMHC and OSFI that
combined to reduce consumer demand for residential debt. This reduced level of activity continued into the first half
of 2013 in our trade area as new sales declined by 12.3 per cent. As the level of active listings remained basically
unchanged, prices declined reaching a low in January 2013 that was a 5 per cent decline from the market high of May
2012, just before the rule changes. In the second half of 2013, markets had time to adjust to the rule changes. Price
levels responded with the additional demand driving prices up by 1.9 per cent from the January 2013 level.
While loans increased, overall assets were down slightly by 0.6 per cent from $12.6 billion to $12.5 billion as we
reduced our borrowings. Our year-end total liquidity ratio was 12.1 per cent, well above the statutory minimum of
8 per cent. Our intention is to source as much of our liquidity as possible from members’ deposits providing more
stable funding. This focus is captured by monitoring our core liquidity metric: liquid investments sourced from
deposits. Our year-end metric was 10.4 per cent (9.6 per cent for year-end 2012) indicating that liquidity sourced from
member deposits exceeds the regulatory minimum for total liquidity.
Assets under administration include assets on our balance sheet plus mutual funds invested with third parties.
The market value of these funds increased by $315.3 million as market appreciation enhanced the value of new
investments by members. Included within this value appreciation, members invested net new funds of $87.3 million.
Total deposits increased to $11.3 billion from $11.2 billion. In addition to reducing our reliance on borrowings,
we have also managed total deposit costs by shifting growth from wholesale channels to personal and business
members. Deposit balances from the latter increased by $0.3 billion ($0.5 billion 2012). Deposit balances in our free
chequing account and in our business chequing accounts increased by $0.2 billion while TFSA balances grew by $0.1
billion.
Members’ equity increased by $147.9 million from $724.4 million to $872.3 million. The increase was from
net income of $150.6 million, offset by reductions in accumulated other comprehensive income and from Class B
share redemptions.
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Financial Performance
Net interest income
Interest income is our major source of revenue and is earned from retail and commercial banking. In 2013, we earned
$432.7 million in interest revenue from borrowers on their loans and from other investments. Interest expense,
which represents amounts paid by us on members’ deposits and corporate borrowings, totalled $192.0 million.
Net interest income is the difference between interest revenue and interest expense. In 2013, net interest income
was $240.7 million compared to $233.6 million in 2012. Net interest income as a percentage of average assets was
1.92 per cent for 2013 compared to 1.95 per cent in 2012. Net interest income is adjusted for lending fees, and
mortgage and deposit broker commissions amortized using the effective interest method.
Analysis of net interest income
Year ended December 31
in thousand of dollars

2013
Average
balance

Cash resources

$ 1,443,020

Mix %

Interest

Interest
rate %

2012
Average
balance

Mix %

Interest

Interest
rate %

11.5 $ 22,047

1.53 $ 1,511,784

12.6 $ 25,450

1.68

Loans
Residential

8,026,595

64.2

270,292

3.37

7,784,120

64.9

268,739

3.45

Commercial

2,631,449

21.0

119,177

4.53

2,256,019

18.8

109,078

4.83

81,896

0.7

5,485

6.70

84,245

0.7

5,523

6.56

201,757

1.6

15,712

7.79

210,136

1.8

16,726

7.96

86.1 $ 400,066

3.87

Personal
Lines of credit
Total loans
Other assets
Total

$ 10,941,697
124,206
$ 12,508,923

87.5 $ 410,666
1.0

–

100.0 $ 432,713

3.75 $ 10,334,520
–

149,947

3.46 $ 11,996,251

–

–

100.0 $ 425,516

1.2

3.55

Deposits
Demand

4,343,343

34.7

32,743

0.75

4,066,088

33.9

31,808

0.78

Term

5,261,684

42.1

119,952

2.28

5,152,219

42.9

112,952

2.19

Registered plans

1,543,225

12.3

31,741

2.06

1,465,482

12.2

35,486

2.42

89.1 $ 180,246

1.69

Total deposits
Borrowings
Derivatives
Total financial liabilities

$ 11,148,252
268,962
–
$ 11,417,214

89.1 $ 184,436
2.2

5,822

–

1,754

91.3 $ 192,012

1.65 $ 10,683,789
2.16

515,095

–

–

1.68 $ 11,198,884

4.3

9,299

1.81

–

2,335

–

93.4 $ 191,880

1.71

Other liabilities

311,190

2.5

–

–

112,426

0.9

–

–

Class B shares

37,507

0.2

–

–

39,072

0.3

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

6.0

–

–

5.4

–

–

100.0 $ 191,880

1.60

$ 233,636

1.95

Accumulated other
comprehensive
income (AOCI)
Retained earnings
Total
Net interest income

(3,840)
746,906
$ 12,508,923

100.0 $ 192,012
$ 240,701

(2,390)
648,259

1.54 $ 11,996,251
1.92
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Our net interest income was once again impacted by the low interest rate environment, although to a lesser extent
than recent years. Net interest margins as reported by Canadian banks declined in 2013. Mortgages continued a longterm trend of repricing at lower rates than maturing loans yields. We opted to be less aggressive than previous years
in matching competitors’ fixed-term rates and concentrated on maintaining relationships with existing members
as well as growing in segments that strengthened our capital position. This approach, combined with growing our
deposit balances from our personal and business customer base, has allowed us to minimize downward pressures
on our margins. However, the result was slower growth to our loan and deposit base as compared to 2012.
Fee, commission and other income
Fee, commission and other income is all income that is not interest-related. This includes items such as insurance,
credit card and mutual fund commissions, foreign exchange income, banking service charges and fair valuation
changes to certain financial instruments. We price our products and services to provide excellent member value and
fair returns while maintaining market competitiveness.
Excluding gains on the sale of assets and subsidiaries, we earned $72.9 million in fee, commission and other
income in 2013 compared to $84.1 million in 2012. On July 2, 2013, we sold our general insurance subsidiary
company CCIS. As a result of the sale, we reported reduced general insurance commission revenue in 2013 as we
earned $12.7 million in the second half of 2012.
One other non-recurring revenue source was the impact from hedging activities. Adjustments in fair value to
investments held for trading and derivatives held for hedging purposes but not qualifying for hedge accounting
treatment are both charged directly to the income statement. While adjustments for both 2013 and 2012 were
positive, amounts booked as income in 2013 were reduced by $2.3 million.
A number of factors contributed to increased revenue of $1.5 million from our mutual and segregated fund
products. Equity markets, combined with strong net fund sales, increased our fund assets under administration by
$0.3 billion, increasing revenue by $1.8 million. Our decision to no longer sell funds with a deferred sales charge load
type had a short-term adverse impact on upfront sales commission revenue. The result of shifting to sell no-load
segregated funds exclusively in late 2012 was reduced revenue of $0.6 million in 2013. However, results of an earlier
and similar switch in mutual fund load type increased the yield earned on trailers fees, increasing long-term earnings
stability and current earnings by $0.8 million.
Other revenue sources that increased in 2013 included:
• Credit card commissions of $0.5 million as we continued to have more members initiating and using our credit cards.
• Service fees applied to commercial accounts of $2.1 million as a result of attracting new business customers and
adjustments to our fee schedule. These fee adjustments were necessary to remain sustainable in the long term.
Non-interest expenses
Non-interest expenses are all costs that are not interest-related, excluding provisions for credit losses and income
taxes. These include employee salaries and benefits, occupancy, information technology, marketing, community
contributions, deposit insurance assessments, ATM and debit card interchange fees and other costs. We continue to
strive to contain and manage our costs as effectively as possible.
Our non-interest expenses increased by 4 per cent, to $238.7 million from $229.5 million in 2012. Employee costs,
including salaries, benefits and incentive compensation, increased from $127.7 million in 2012 to $129.8 million in
2013, an increase of 1.5 per cent. This can be attributed primarily to one-time restructuring costs as well as, to a
lesser extent, market range increases to salaries, offset by savings realized from the sale of our general insurance
subsidiary. The conversion to our new banking system also introduced new costs including higher amortization costs
of $3.5 million and one-time costs of $2.7 million to implement and configure that were expensed immediately in 2013.
Other cost changes included:
• Reduced non-human capital expenses to support general insurance for a half year of $3.1 million.
• Higher occupancy costs of $1.2 million is the result of more leased space after the sale and leaseback of our head
office and five branches, higher renewal rates on some leased premises offset by the April 1, 2013 Province of
British Columbia’s reversion from HST to PST.
• Higher regulatory assessments that match our balance sheet and customer growth but also reflective of lower
investment returns on deposit insurance funds managed by the Credit Union Deposit Insurance Corporation (“CUDIC”).
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Capital expenditures
In 2013, our capital expenditures were $8.2 million compared to $31.7 million in 2012. The conversion to our new
banking system on February 12, 2013 was the culmination of a number of years of system development, testing and
data migration with 2012 capital costs of $19.2 million. 2013 was focused on operationalizing the system within our
branches and administrative departments.
Capital costs incurred in 2013 included a final $6.2 million for implementing the banking system and increasing
hardware capacity, $0.9 million on branch leasehold improvements and $0.5 million on completing upgrades to our
branch cash dispensing machines to address compatibility with new polymer notes.
Year ended December 31
in thousands of dollars
Building renovation and improvements

2013
$

Leasehold improvements

3

2012
$

104

879

4,271

Computer equipment

1,795

2,752

Software

4,440

20,806

Furniture and equipment

1,079

3,769

Total

$

8,196

$

31,702

Loans
Total loans grew by 2.2 per cent to $11.0 billion from $10.8 billion in 2012. This is a slower growth rate than compared
to 2012 when our loan portfolio grew by 9.8 per cent. The lower growth rate was a result of a slower residential real
estate market and the decision to manage our margins in a manner that provided reasonable returns on regulatory
capital. We did continue to pursue our goal of slightly remixing our loan portfolio from high volume origination of
lower yielding residential mortgages in favour of higher yielding commercial loans.
We primarily originate real estate-secured first mortgages in the Metro Vancouver, Fraser Valley and Vancouver
Island regions of British Columbia. We provide mortgages to individuals and businesses and source loans directly
to our members in our retail branches, via our mobile mortgage specialists and contact centre representatives, or
through approved external brokers. Of our total loan portfolio, 93.1 per cent is secured by real property. While this
provides a high degree of tangible security for our asset base, we also seek to diversify by expanding our portfolio
into operational lending to businesses, especially small- and medium-sized enterprises, which is a key component
of our commercial banking strategy. This rebalancing is accompanied by sound underwriting policies and practices,
which is evident in the declining impaired balances and delinquency rates.
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Loan portfolio
As at December 31

2013

Number

Total
in millions
of dollars1

Average
in thousands
Mix %
of dollars

2012

Number

Total
in millions
of dollars1

Average
in thousands
Mix %
of dollars

Retail
Mortgages
Conventional

3,506

31.8

165

16,590

3,310

30.7

3,165

780

7.1

246

2,787

681

6.3

244

83

29

0.3

349

92

41

0.4

446

Insured

4,625

1,285

11.7

278

4,618

1,269

11.8

275

High-ratio

5,820

1,420

12.9

244

6,975

1,683

15.6

241

Mortgage-secured lines of
credit

17,950

1,013

9.2

56

17,847

1,029

9.5

58

Subtotal mortgages

52,840

8,033

72.9

152

48,909

8,013

74.3

164

Revenue
Progressive

21,197

$

$

$

$

200

Other
Other lines of credit

132,976

189

1.7

1

146,136

200

1.9

1

Personal loans

9,847

72

0.7

7

7,428

79

0.7

11

Subtotal other

142,803

261

2.4

2

153,564

279

2.6

2

Subtotal retail

195,663

8,294

75.3

42

202,473

8,292

76.9

41

Commercial
Commercial loans

19,245

2,424

22.0

126

15,810

2,214

20.5

140

Commercial leasing

3,408

303

2.7

89

3,339

280

2.6

84

Subtotal commercial

22,653

2,727

24.7

120

19,149

2,494

23.1

130

218,316

11,021

100.0

50

221,622

10,786

100.0

49

Subtotal individuals and
commercial
Accrued interest
Total loan portfolio

21
218,316

$ 11,042

21
100.0

$

51

221,622

$ 10,807

100.0

$

49

1 Before allowance for credit losses

At December 31, 2013, residential mortgage loans totalled $8 billion, nearly unchanged from last year. This portfolio
represents 73.0 per cent of total loans outstanding compared to 74.3 per cent of total loans at December 31, 2012.
New rules from CMHC and OSFI which went into effect in mid-2012 made qualification significantly more difficult for
new home buyers. This had an industry-wide impact of slowing down insured mortgage lending and occurred as the
overall real estate market was already showing signs of a slowdown.
Personal loans to members include installment loans, demand loans and lines of credit. We also offer a suite of credit
cards. Based on the contractual agreement with the credit card supplier, we do not profit from the balances owing from
the credit card holders but earn a fee based on the total net purchases of the credit card holders, as well as a per-card
fee. At December 31, 2013, personal loans totalling $261.1 million ($279.0 million in 2012) represented 2.4 per cent of
total loans outstanding compared to 2.6 per cent of total loans as at December 31, 2012. This reduction includes the
sale of a $16.2 million portfolio of insurance premium financings as part of the sale of the general insurance subsidiary.
At December 31, 2013, commercial loans totalled $2.7 billion, representing 24.7 per cent of total loans outstanding
(21.6 per cent of total assets) compared with $2.5 billion, representing 23.1 per cent of total loans as at December 31, 2012
(19.6 per cent of total assets). Throughout 2013, we sought to diversify by shifting resources away from real estate lending in
favour of growth in operational financing. We grew this portfolio by $28.3 million, an increase of 35.6 per cent. We continued
to access our syndication channel which contributed significantly to our growth and geographic diversification while
continuing to finance more construction lending reflecting higher yield opportunities and favourable market conditions.
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As noted above, our commercial lending consists primarily of first mortgages for real estate term loans and
development projects. We provide banking services and operating lines to small- and medium-sized businesses and,
increasingly, we offer payments and cash management products and services. Another growth area is equipment
financing using commercial leases; in 2013, our commercial lease portfolio increased by $22.5 million or 8.1 per cent.
We continue to see this area as an opportunity for further growth and a way to help members grow their businesses.
We maintain conservative lending policies and hold no loans denominated in a foreign currency. Our present
policy limits commercial lending to a maximum of $3.75 billion, in line with our goal of holding 30 per cent of total
assets in commercial loans, the regulatory maximum. The maximum single loan exposure to any one property is
currently limited to $30 million, while our maximum exposure to any one connection is limited to $50 million on real
estate loans. Other types of loans have substantially lower limits.
Allowance for credit losses
We maintain collective and specific allowances to reduce the value of our loan portfolio by the amount of estimated
credit losses. We review our loan portfolio on an ongoing basis and establish a specific allowance if we identify potential
credit losses on individual loans. We are gaining experience with an updated IFRS compliant collective allowance model
which provides greater insights into the performance of our various loan portfolios. We additionally apply management
judgment that considers economic impacts that may not be reflected immediately in our model. Our provision for credit
losses in 2013 was $5.8 million compared to $8 million in 2012. The decrease in 2013 was primarily attributed to the
reversals of loans previously provided or written off and fewer new large loans becoming impaired. We reduced our
collective allowances for credit losses by $0.3 million or 0.9 per cent reflective of improved probabilities of default and
slower loan growth. The total allowance for credit losses decreased from $42.5 million or 0.39 per cent of total loans as at
December 31, 2012, to $38.9 million or 0.35 per cent at December 31, 2013. Our specific allowance declined by $3.3 million
or 32.5 per cent as we resolved certain large impaired commercial loans while reducing delinquencies in retail lending.
Impaired loan balances declined from $50.5 million at December 31, 2012 to $39.6 million at December 31, 2013,
reflecting improved portfolio performance as we work out delinquent loans that peaked following the recession. We
classify a loan as impaired if, in the opinion of management, we have reasonable doubt as to its ultimate collectability,
either in whole or in part, of principal or interest. While the entire amount of the loan is reported as impaired, factors such
as collateral in place mitigate how much of the value of the loan is actually at risk and requires an allowance. Loans where
interest or principal is contractually past due 90 days are automatically classified as impaired, unless we determine that
we have no reasonable doubt as to the ultimate collectability of principal and interest. All loans are classified as impaired
when interest or principal is past due 180 days. With the transition to IFRS, we continue to recognize interest income
on a loan even when we classify it as impaired. We will assign a specific allowance to the impaired loan for the accrued
interest unless, in our opinion, we have no reasonable doubt as to the collectability of the interest.
Asset quality coverage
As at December 31
in thousands of dollars
Total loans
Provision for credit losses

2013
$

11,002,775

2012
$

10,764,060

5,794

8,047

Loan write-offs

10,676

10,957

Total allowance for credit losses

38,862

42,507

Impaired loans

39,607

50,541

872,321

724,439

Provision for credit losses as % of total loans

0.05

0.07

Loan write-offs as % of total loans

0.10

0.10

Impaired as % of total loans

0.36

0.47

Members’ equity
in per cent

Impaired as % of members’ equity
Total allowance as % of impaired loans
Total allowance as % of total loans

4.54

6.98

98.12

84.10

0.35

0.39
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Deposits
We offer a full range of personal deposit services and products, including chequing accounts, savings accounts, and
term deposits. All deposit accounts are in Canadian funds, with the exception of a special US dollar (USD) chequing
account and USD short-term deposits. Included in our deposit suite is the successful Haggle-free Guarantee® term
deposit pricing concept, where all our retail members are assured that they receive our best rate without having to
negotiate. We actively market a suite of products including RRSPs, RRIFs and RESPs, as well as a complete line of
Tax-Free Savings deposit products to accommodate a wide-range of members’ tax planning needs.
Total deposits as at December 31, 2013 were $11.3 billion compared with $11.2 billion for the previous year, an
increase of 1.2 per cent. With banks competing heavily to increase market share in residential lending and Bank of
Canada policy announcements extending any expectations for rate increases further out into the future, retail deposit
rates stayed flat or decreased. Combined with market values in equity indexes growing by nearly 10 per cent, deposit
growth was slower than 2012. Continuing our focus to increase core deposit balances from retail and commercial
members, we increased our balances in these deposits by $0.3 billion or 3.3 per cent by providing ongoing feature
products. Much of this growth was from business chequing and retail free chequing balances which increased by a
combined $0.1 billion or 14.3 per cent. Offsetting this growth, balances in our institutional and wholesale deposits
declined by $0.1 billion, or 4.3 per cent.
At December 31, 2013, demand deposits represented 38.6 per cent of total deposits compared with 36.8 per cent
in the previous year. Term deposits represented 48.4 per cent compared with 49.6 per cent in 2012. Registered
term deposit balances grew by $49.9 million over 2012, making up 12.9 per cent of total deposits compared with
13.2 per cent in 2012.
Borrowings
Access to borrowing facilities is an important part of effective liquidity management for financial institutions. These
facilities are used as a cash management tool to fund loans during periods when loan growth exceeds deposit
growth. When the reverse happens, that is, deposit growth exceeds loan growth, we pay these facilities down. As
such, outstanding amounts under both these facilities fluctuate throughout the year.
We maintain loan facilities with Central 1 Credit Union (“Central 1”), Caisse Centrale Desjardins (“Caisse”) and a
schedule 1 Canadian bank. The primary Central 1 facility is dedicated and allows us to borrow up to 5 per cent of our
total assets. Amounts above this level are also available at Central 1 under special circumstances and for specific
terms. Through the Caisse facility, we are able to borrow up to $250 million. We had $175.0 million in borrowings
outstanding at December 31, 2013, compared to balances of $565.0 million at the end of 2012. Average borrowings
throughout the year were $206.5 million, compared to $432.0 million for 2012.
In late 2012, we became approved to participate in both CMHC’s National Housing Act Mortgage-Backed Securities
(“NHA MBS”) and Canada Mortgage Bonds (“CMB”) programs providing us additional sources of liquidity. As an
approved NHA MBS issuer, we are able to sell pools of insured mortgages into the marketplace. This process, also
known as securitization, enables us to convert a pool of non-liquid assets (mortgages) into cash, which can then
fund new mortgage business. We typically use this funding channel when loan growth exceeds deposit growth.
Even though the mortgages have been sold, we continue to administer the mortgages without any impact to our
members. Under IFRS accounting, the securitization is recorded as a financing transaction with the loans remaining
on our balance sheet. Including our first transaction in late 2012, we have securitized three tranches and report a total
fixed-rate liability of $83.5 million at the end of 2013 ($51.7 million in 2012). Each pool is due to mature five years from
the initial date of sale transaction. In 2013, we converted conventional mortgages for inclusion into the pools through
the use of portfolio insurance. In 2014, we will look at other options for securitizing non-insured loans in order to
increase our ability to access cost-effective alternatives to funding our growing loan portfolio.
Capital Management
We are committed to maintaining a strong capital position by balancing the interests and requirements of members,
regulators and depositors. Our regulatory capital requirements are prescribed by FICOM using the risk-weighted
approach developed by the Bank for International Settlements (“BIS”). In March 2013, FICOM provided a guideline
for BC credit unions expanding upon the minimum capital standard based on a ratio of capital to risk-weighted assets
of 8 per cent. FICOM has now set a supervisory target of 10 per cent; credit unions falling below this level are required
to immediately improve their position to prevent supervisory intervention.
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Additionally, FICOM requires a credit union to set its own internal capital target above 10 per cent. The internal
target needs to consider the risk appetite of the individual credit union and quantify the level of capital required to
protect depositors. We have performed an analysis that considers risks beyond credit risk inclusive of operational,
market, reputation and concentration risk, setting our minimum internal capital target at 13 per cent. We are
committed to a strong capital position and are supportive of system-wide initiatives that focus on internal targets
and early warning signals.
Our greatest source of growth in regulatory capital is the return we generate on risk-weighted assets. As such,
it is incumbent upon the credit union to ensure that pricing decisions result in a sufficient return on assets lent to
members. At the same time, growing revenues from non-interest sources, and managing the credit union’s operating
expenses prudently, result in a sustainable level of regulatory capital being maintained.
Capital regulations require that at least 50 per cent of a credit union’s capital base, for the purpose of meeting the
minimum target, must consist of primary capital, known as Tier 1, comprised of retained earnings, voting shares,
qualifying investment shares and contributed surplus, less deferred income tax assets and intangible assets such
as goodwill. As we do not currently access capital markets to raise equity, our principal source of Tier 1 capital is
retained earnings, the most stable source of capital.
Secondary capital, known as Tier 2, includes subordinated notes, other investment shares, and 50 per cent of a
credit union’s portion of retained earnings in Central 1, CUDIC, and Stabilization Central Credit Union (“Stab Central”).
A credit union’s assets are weighted according to six categories of relative risk ranging from 0 per cent to 200 per
cent. Residential mortgages, the largest portion of our assets, are risk-weighted at 35 per cent, while commercial
loans, the second largest portion, are risk-weighted at 100 per cent.
We monitor our capital levels on a regular basis. Our capital plan is updated in conjunction with a refresh of
our risk appetite and our annual operating plan which provides a forecast of capital requirements over a five-year
horizon. We monitor and evaluate the impact of future changes to capital regulations arising from Basel III. Although
this would not be fully in effect until 2019, our capital forecasts comply with the new capital requirements.
At December 31, 2013, our total capital ratio, which includes Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital, was 15.28 per cent – an
increase over the 12.63 per cent in 2012. Significant drivers for growth to our regulatory capital in 2013 were:
• Income earned from operations and added to retained earnings;
• Gains realized from business reorganizations;
• Higher yields on risk-weighted assets; and
• Reduced capital deductions for unamortized but capitalized software. This is the result of the implementation of our new
banking system requiring us to start amortizing these capital costs, and reduced new capital expenditure on IT systems.
The following two tables show the levels of our capital and our risk-weighted assets under the BIS requirements:
Tier 1 and 2 capital
As at December 31
in thousands of dollars

2013

2012

Tier 1 capital
Class A shares

$

Class B shares
Retained earnings
Deferred income taxes

2,344

$

38,892

838,142

688,091

(2,707)

1

Less: capital deductions

2,256

36,454

(4,346)

874,233

724,893

(52,890)

(61,314)

821,343

663,579

84,628

82,657

Tier 2 capital
Portion of equity in Central 1, CUDIC and Stab Central 2

84,628
Total capital

$

905,971

82,657
$

746,236

1 Statutory inclusion of only credit union deferred income taxes
2 Portion of system related equity multiplied by 50 per cent
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Risk-weighted assets
As at December 31
in thousands of dollars

Cash resources

$

2013

2012

Balance
sheet
amount

Balance
sheet
amount

BIS riskweight
(%)

1,265,562

0

1,070,237

Commercial paper

$

$

2013

2012

Riskweighted
balance

Riskweighted
balance

–

$

–

331,361

414,176

0–150

89,738

110,361

Residential mortgages

5,327,910

5,067,564

35

1,872,281

1,779,079

Insured mortgages

1,286,003

1,271,575

0

–

–

High-ratio mortgages 75 to 80
per cent loan to value (“LTV”)

1,264,842

1,488,378

75

948,631

1,116,283

134,017

145,032

75

100,513

108,773

High-ratio mortgages
greater than 80 per cent LTV
Personal loans

261,053

278,989

75

195,790

209,242

Commercial loans and leasing

2,727,414

2,498,642

100

2,585,296

2,414,230

Other assets and investments

126,885

169,587

100

127,260

169,587

0–100

7,874

Off-balance-sheet exposure
$

12,529,722

$

12,599,505

$

Risk-weighted assets as a percentage of total assets

5,927,383

1,530
$

5,909,085

47.2%

46.9%

13.86

11.23

1.42

1.40

15.28

12.63

in per cent
Ratio of capital to risk-weighted assets
Primary capital to risk-weighted assets
Secondary capital to risk-weighted assets
Total capital ratio
Total collective allowance for credit losses
As a percentage of risk-weighted assets

$

32,045
0.54%

$

32,408
0.55%

Lines of Business Performance
Measurement and reporting of our lines of business
Our management reporting framework is intended to measure the performance of each line of business as if it were a
stand-alone business. The following list highlights the key aspects of how our lines of business are managed and reported:
• Retail banking includes income earned from residential mortgages, personal loans and deposits sourced through
our branches, mobile lenders, contact centre or external brokers, as well as other general banking activities.
• Investment services includes the deposit and fund revenues from assets under administration plus life and living
benefits insurance commissions.
• Commercial services includes income from commercial loans and deposits and other commercial activities such
as equipment financing.
• General insurance includes the commissions earned from automobile, home, business and travel insurance
policies.
• Corporate support is the enterprise-wide activities undertaken for the benefit of the organization and not directly
attributable to the four business lines. This includes net revenues from certain treasury activities, and indirect noninterest expenses. We use a funds transfer pricing methodology to evaluate the profitability of each financial asset
or liability within each line of business.
• We allocate all premises and direct technology costs to each line of business. We use a management reporting
framework to allocate other costs not directly attributable to the line of business.
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Retail banking and investment services
The retail banking group is our core business, maintaining highly valued relationships with a majority of our members.
Retail services include personal lending (residential mortgages, personal loans and lines of credit, credit cards,
creditor protection), deposit and transaction services (chequing and savings accounts, bank drafts, wire transfers,
term deposits and registered deposits) and other general banking activities (foreign exchange, safety deposit boxes).
Retail member services are delivered through our network of 50 branches (14 on southern Vancouver Island and 36
throughout Metro Vancouver and in the Fraser Valley), our contact centre in Surrey and through online and mobile
accessible channels.
After several years of planning and development, we launched our new banking system in 2013. In addition to
the technical challenges, implementation of the new system involved change for our banking staff and members.
Through considerable planning, training and communication efforts, both before and after the conversion, service
disruptions to retail services were minimized.
The Where You’re At Money Chat™, launched in 2011, continued to be an important platform for our service and
help offering, by providing a process to ensure we are able to identify the comprehensive financial services needs of
our members and to provide solutions. We completed over 30,000 Money Chats with members in 2013, bringing the
total since launch to almost 80,000. To achieve our Simple financial help mission, we further expanded the Money
Pro role in 2013. Money Pros have expanded roles and service capabilities to help members with a broader array
of needs – from banking to personal lending to investment solutions. For members with more complex financial
needs, Coast Capital continues to provide access to a team of financial planners and insurance specialists.
Also in 2013, recognizing the growing importance of wealth management to members, we integrated our
investment services division with our retail banking division. This integration, complete from the management
level to the front-line sales and service teams, further enhances our ability to provide comprehensive and seamless
service to our members. Helping members identify needs and providing valued solutions will increase the number
of products members choose to hold with Coast Capital and further their financial well-being. In 2013, the number of
products held by active members grew by 2 per cent.
Retail banking loan and deposit portfolios
Financial performance
in millions of dollars
2013 saw continued competition in the mortgage market, keeping rates
7,467
2011
low. In this environment we made strategic pricing decisions to manage
our net interest margins and, combined with a slow residential housing
7,711
market, resulted in modest growth of $21 million in our retail mortgage
2012
8,006
portfolio. Growth in our personal loan and line of credit lending portfolio
8,287
was relatively flat in 2013. Combined retail and commercial deposit
balances grew in 2013 by $263 million, primarily in demand and high
2013
8,269
interest savings accounts, with a decrease in the term deposit portfolio.
8,290
Interest rate margins on retail loan and deposit business were
 Retail and commercial deposits
relatively stable in 2013 compared to 2012. However, total revenues
 Retail mortgages, loans and lines of credit
attributed to retail banking declined by $10.8 million. This decline
is primarily due to a large reclassification of $940 million of existing
deposits from the retail division to the commercial small business
division. Average deposit balances attributed to the retail division
Retail banking revenues
in thousands of dollars
were $560 million lower in 2013 compared to 2012. Banking services
revenues from account fees and other transactional services increased
193,260
2011
by $2.4 million in 2013 over 2012.
The investment services industry experienced less market volatility
2012
196,785
in 2013 relative to previous years, with Canadian and global equity
markets generally positive for the year. The Canadian S&P/TSX Total
2013
185,964*
Return index rose 13 per cent and the US S&P 500 Total Return Index
*impacted by transfer of $940 million of business
rose 32.4 per cent in 2013. Positive market returns combined with sales
*demand accounts from retail to commercial
efforts resulted in total fund assets under administration growth of $315
*banking revenues
million in 2013, 15.9 per cent, increasing our total fund portfolio to $2.3
billion. Our Low-fee, More-for-me Mutual Funds™, launched in 2009, continued to provide value to our customers by
offering access to actively managed, diversified investment portfolios with low management expense ratios. Lowfee, More-for-me Mutual Funds™ assets under administration grew $286 million in 2013, to $716 million at year-end,
representing 31 per cent of Coast Capital’s total fund assets under administration.
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Revenue earned from fund assets under administration grew by
$2 million in 2013, while life insurance revenue declined by $0.2 million.
Fund revenue increases were driven by fund asset growth during the
year and higher trailer commission rates. Life insurance activities were
impacted by the sale of CCIS halfway through 2013, which created
challenges related to designated life insurance sales space within the
branch network. We are in the process of adding additional space in
many of our locations.
Opportunities and challenges
With the implementation of the new banking system completed in 2013,
2014 and future years will provide an opportunity to realize efficiency
improvements related to the system. Retail loan and deposit growth
expectations remain modest for 2014, with rate competition expected to
persist along with slow but stable real estate markets in our trade area.
Increased accessibility to investment services through expanded
staff capabilities and integration within the retail team will provide an
enhanced member experience and ensure that we are able to deliver
Simple financial help® that is both accessible and comprehensive. The
value that we are building in our retail and investments business is
aligned to the increased need for wealth management and financial
security advice by our members.

Investment services revenue
in thousands of dollars

2011

14,370
3,089

2012

14,057
3,112

2013

16,103
2,892

 Funds

 Life

Fund assets under administration
in millions of dollars

2011
2012
2013

1,762
1,978
2,293

Commercial banking
The Commercial Banking Group is also a core business and one of our key strategic areas of focus in the coming
years. We offer a wide variety of services to our members including lending (term financing, construction mortgages,
lines of credit, loans, leasing, letters of credit, credit card services and creditor protection) as well as deposits and
transaction services (chequing and savings accounts, term deposits, wire transfers, Customer Automated Funds
Transfers and other cash management services) and other general banking activities. The commercial member is
served through a network of five Commercial Banking hubs (Downtown Vancouver, Richmond, Surrey and two in the
Victoria area) as well as our branch network and mobile accessible channels.
The Commercial Banking Group is comprised of the following business lines:
Commercial Real Estate (“CRE”) – The CRE group provides full service relationship management to approximately
600 members actively involved in real estate investment and development. Through an experienced team of
individuals, the group provides term and construction financing as well as deposit, cash management and other dayto-day banking services. Financing covers a broad spectrum of asset classes including office, commercial, retail, light
industrial and multifamily, principally located in Metro Vancouver, the Fraser Valley and southern Vancouver Island.
Business Banking – Business Banking consists of the Mid-market and Small Business Groups. The Mid-market
Group provides full service relationship management to approximately 1,000 commercial members involved in
various operating businesses, including manufacturing, hospitality, retail, not-for-profit entities, professionals,
contractors/sub-trades, franchisees and wholesalers/distributors/service industry. The Mid-market Group provides a
full range of financing options (term loans, operating lines of credit, business mortgages, and investment loans) as
well as deposit, cash management and other day-to-day banking services to its members. These members are served
by an experienced team of relationship managers from our Commercial Banking hubs. The Small Business segment
is an integral component of the Commercial Banking Group. Through a team of over 30 professionals, commercial
banking services and solutions are provided to over 42,000 small businesses and not-for-profit members from our
Commercial Banking hubs, select branches and our contact centre.
Equipment Finance – the Equipment Finance group manages a leasing portfolio of over 3,400 contracts in the
provinces of British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba and Ontario. Payments and Cash Management
Group (“PCM”) – The PCM group assists our members with complex transactional and deposit requirements. In
addition to supporting other commercial lines, this group provides services to large commercial members, property
managers, institutions and large not-for-profit members. Services include customized account packages, online
banking, electronic funds transfer, deposit products and foreign exchange.
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Loan Syndication – The Loan Syndication process involves multiple lenders in providing funding for commercial
businesses with a primary focus on managing risk. In addition, the function helps to provide asset, industry, and
geographic diversification; promote and grow our commercial loan portfolio by developing relationships with other
credit unions, banks and other financial institutions; protect and foster long-term relationships as clients borrowing
limits exceed our individual borrower risk appetite limits; and establish a footprint across Canada. Loan Syndication
plays an important part in helping facilitate transactions for both Commercial Real Estate and Mid-market Business
Banking.
Many commercial banking initiatives were undertaken in 2013 including the establishment of our Commercial
Banking hubs, the execution of the relationship management strategy for the Small Business portfolio, the
introduction of the newly created Business Banking Officer position, and the development of the Where You’re At
Business Chat™ to name a few. As well, we completed the transfer of all commercial members from Retail Banking
to the Commercial Banking Group. This was done to provide an enhanced and focused approach for the commercial
member by having commercially trained staff provide a better and more consistent member experience.
We remain committed to a superior and differentiated member experience with a focus on providing value-added
services to our commercial members while maintaining the profitability and acceptable risk profile of our business.
This strategy has allowed the Commercial Banking Group to enjoy a high rate of growth over the past number of years.
Financial performance
During the year, we grew our assets by $275 million or 11 per cent.
This was generated primarily in commercial loans and mortgages
with growth of $226 million. We continued to enhance our syndication
channel, which grew $71 million during the year. We have continued our
focus on generating more deposits from our business customers to fund
our loan growth, succeeding with growth of $149 million and enhancing
our consolidated liquidity position. We also identified and transferred
in an additional $940 million in deposit balances residing in the Retail
division. By transferring the accounts, these business customers will be
well served by our relationship managers.
The interest rate environment remained challenging throughout the
year. On average, our asset yields were 30 basis points lower year-overyear. In spite of these challenges, our revenues continued to generate
positive results.
Opportunities and challenges
Opportunities in 2014 will come from continuing to strengthen our
relationship with existing and new business members in markets where
we have the right to win, namely business banking and mid-market, and
pursuing opportunities to grow the equipment financing business. With
the conversion to our new banking system complete, we are deploying
resources to improve online accessibility and mobile tools. As we
improve our value–added services to our business members, we will be
better positioned to support their strategic goals.
General insurance
In 2013, subsequent to a strategic review of our business, the company’s
ownership in Coast Capital Insurance Services Ltd. (“CCIS”) was sold in
a share transaction to Western Financial Group (“WFG”). As insurance
business risks increased over the last few years, our ability to diversify
this risk was coming under increasing pressures due to our limited
operational area. As a result, to improve the service to our customers
and members, the optimal solution was to sell the subsidiary to a larger
committed insurance provider.
Under the terms of the agreement, our branches that offer general

Commercial banking portfolios
in millions of dollars

2011

2,113
182

2012

2,499
1,169

2013

2,774
1,669

 Assets

 Deposits

Commercial banking revenues
in thousands of dollars

2011

68,005

2012

69,029

2013

90,733*

*impacted by transfer of $940 million of business
*demand accounts from retail to commercial
*banking revenues

General insurances revenues
in thousands of dollars

2011

26,185

2012

27,663

2013*

13,000

*half-year data only
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insurance will continue to operate under the CCIS name for at least two years and WFG will continue to employ all of
CCIS’s employees. WFG is the largest and fastest growing insurance brokerage in Western Canada and the purchase
of CCIS retail locations across the Lower Mainland and southern Vancouver Island complements the 29 branches in
22 communities they currently operate throughout BC. Through these operations, members will continue to have
access to a variety of insurance products.
The company will continue to offer habitational, private auto, short-term travel and basic commercial products
under the Coast Capital brand name. In addition, ICBC, marine and some commercial packages, RV and long-term
travel will be offered under a supplier’s name. Finally, customers will continue to have access to assistance in
payment options offered by the financing product PayVantage.
Life and disability insurance will continue to be offered to customers through the subsidiary company Coast
Capital Financial Management Ltd. as summarized in the retail banking and investment services section.
Risk Management
(Certain information within this section, where indicated, forms an integral part of the audited financial statements.)
The Integrated Risk Management (“IRM”) framework
(shown
below) was adopted in 2009 and serves as both a
BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
governance and management tool to provide effective oversight and risk management. This framework, which is
embedded in our daily business activities and planning process, enables us to enhance member value and maintain
RISK REVIEW COMMITTEE
AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE
Board Committees
sound business and financial operations over the long term. The Group Risk Management (“GRM”) function, under
the leadership of the Chief Risk Officer (“CRO”), enhances the continued growth of the business by maintaining
Management Committees
ASSET LIABILITY COMMITTEE
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
SENIOR CREDIT COMMITTEE
appropriate risk monitoring and adherence to regulatory practices. GRM is responsible for building and maintaining
our enterprise-wide risk management capability, which comprises operational and credit risk functions. Furthermore,
Functional Units GRM develops
GROUPour
RISKrisk
MANAGEMENT
BUSINESSand
LINESlimits, and provides
SUPPORTindependent
UNITS
INTERNAL
AUDIT
appetite, risk policies
review
and oversight
across the
enterprise on risk-related issues.
The IRM framework is dynamic and flexible allowing us to adapt as required to internal and external opportunities.
Our approach allows us to look across all business areas to identify, assess, monitor and report on and mitigate all
current and potential risks. Banking and Credit Union business activities have inherent risks, and we are committed
to the effective, efficient and proactive management of these risks within acceptable levels.
Increasing the awareness of the risk-management role throughout the organization contributes to building a stable
and strong company to benefit our members, staff and communities.
MEMBERS’ DESIRE FOR A STRONG AND STABLE CREDIT UNION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ DESIRED KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

LEGAL AND REGULATORY COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS

ENTERPRISE RISK APPETITE

CREDIT AND
COUNTERPARTY RISK

MARKET RISK

LIQUIDITY AND
FUNDING RISK

OPERATIONAL RISK

STRATEGIC RISK

LEGAL, REGULATORY AND REPUTATION RISK
INTEGRATED RISK MANAGEMENT

Our framework is anchored in a three-lines-of-defense approach to managing risk and is fundamental to our operating
model. The operating groups are the first line of defense and own the risk in their operations. They are responsible for
pursuing suitable business opportunities within our risk appetite. Each operating group must ensure that it is acting
within its delegated risk-taking authority, as set out in our corporate risk policies and limits. Each of the groups has
established effective processes and controls to ensure that they comply with and operate within these limits.
The second line of defense is provided by GRM along with other corporate support areas including Finance and
Treasury, Legal, Human Resources and Information Technology. These groups provide independent oversight and
establish corporate risk management policies, infrastructure, processes and practices that address all significant
risks across the enterprise. The third line of defense is our Corporate Audit Group, which monitors the efficiency and
effectiveness of controls across various functions within our operations, including control, risk management and
governance processes that support the enterprise.
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Risk Management responsibility is clearly defined
across all Coast Capital teams & stakeholders.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

2ND LINE OF DEFENSE

3RD LINE OF DEFENSE

Credit Risk Management
Finance
Operational Risk Mgt
RETAIL
BUSINESS
MANAGEMENT

COMMERCIAL
BUSINESS
MANAGEMENT

Security

IT &
OPERATIONS
MANAGEMENT

Regulators

External Auditors

1ST LINE OF DEFENSE

INTERNAL
AUDIT

Compliance
Legal
Human Resources
IT & Information Mgt Risk
Portfolio & Market Risk Mgt

• Identify & Manage Risks
• Establish & Administer Internal Controls
• Monitor to Identify Control Breakdowns/Inadequate
Procedures & Remedy
• Adhere to Limits & Guidance

• Collaborate with 1st Line of
Risk Assessments to Identify
& Address Key Risks
• Set & Administer Limits &
Guidance
• Ensure Effectiveness of
Internal Control Framework
• Track & Report on Emerging
Issues & Trends – Alerts/
Stress Scenarios

• Independent Review &
Assurance of Risk Management
Governance

Risk governance
Sound corporate governance is essential for ensuring an appropriate level of management and oversight of risks
and controls in order to balance risk and reward in the organization. Below is a representation of our governance
structure that includes a robust committee structure, a comprehensive set of corporate policies approved by the
Board of Directors or its committees and operating guidelines.
Our risk management framework is reviewed on a regular basis by the Risk Review Committee of the Board of
Directors to provide governance of our risk-taking activities.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Committees
Board Committees

RISK REVIEW COMMITTEE

Management
Committees
Management
Committees
Functional
Units
Functional
Units

ASSET LIABILITY COMMITTEE

GROUP RISK MANAGEMENT

AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

BUSINESS LINES

SENIOR CREDIT COMMITTEE

SUPPORT UNITS

INTERNAL AUDIT

Board of Directors: provides general oversight, establishes the risk management appetite which is monitored
through the Risk Review Committee and the Audit and Finance Committee, and approves the strategic direction of
the credit union.
Risk Review Committee: provides risk oversight for the Board, including the monitoring and evaluation of key risks,
by ensuring the appropriate risk framework and policies are in place. The Chief Risk Officer has a reporting line to
the committee.
DESIRE FOR A STRONG AND STABLE CREDIT UNION
Audit and Finance Committee: provides MEMBERS’
oversight
for the Board on financial and controls matters, including
maintaining the integrity, reliability, accuracy and clarity of financial reporting. The Director of Internal Audit has a
OF DIRECTORS’ DESIRED KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
LEGAL AND REGULATORY COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS
reporting line to BOARD
the committee.

ENTERPRISE RISK APPETITE

2013 Annual Report
CREDIT AND
COUNTERPARTY RISK

MARKET RISK

LIQUIDITY AND
FUNDING RISK

OPERATIONAL RISK

STRATEGIC RISK
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Asset Liability Committee: ensures that we are within our risk appetite in terms of liquidity and funding, interest rate
risk, foreign exchange risk and capital management.
Executive Committee: develops and executes our strategic direction and ensures the overall risk profile is aligned
with strategic direction.
Senior Credit Committee: ensures that we are within our risk appetite in terms of credit risk and approves credit deals
above individual limits and within our regulatory caps.
Group Risk Management: promotes our risk management culture and provides risk management support to the
Business Lines, Support Units, Executive Committee and the Board and its committees.
Business Lines: provide the front-line sales production and operate and manage the controls used to mitigate risks
in the organization.
Support Units: provide back-office assistance primarily to the Business Lines but also to the rest of the organization.
These units also operate and manage the controls used to mitigate risks.
Internal Audit: provides independent oversight and testing of the controls in place to manage the risks that we face.
We actively monitor and manage the following principal risks which are most likely to affect our organization:
credit and counterparty risk, market risk, liquidity and funding management risk, operational risk, strategic risk, legal
and regulatory risk and reputation risk.
Risk appetite
Our risk appetite framework consists of a risk appetite statement, as well as supporting key risk metrics, and corporate
policies and standards, including limits. Our risk appetite defines the amount of risk that we are willing to assume
in all risk types, given our guiding principles and capital capacity, thereby supporting sound business initiatives
and growth. Our risk appetite is integrated into both our strategic planning processes and our lines of business.
On an annual basis, senior management recommends our risk appetite statement for approval by the Risk Review
Committee of the Board of Directors.
Our Risk Appetite Statement is defined in both quantitative and qualitative terms and is applied consistently across
the enterprise. Among other things, our risk appetite must be:
• Well understood, owned and managed by all colleagues. We strive to deliver Simple financial help through clear,
easy-to-understand products with simple policies and procedures. All of our colleagues who serve our members
every day, in our branches and sales teams and in our support and head office teams, through to our Board
Directors, senior executives and managers, are aware of, and responsible for, the risks we take.
• Aligned with our strategic goals. We aim to change the way Canadians feel about banking, forever and achieve this
by protecting and strengthening our business, reputation, values and brand. We operate in a dynamic environment,
and we are committed to investing in the long-term interests of our members, employees and communities.
• Matched to our resources, capabilities, operating environment and outlook. We should never become exposed to
excessive or inappropriate financial or operational costs or risk of loss.
These three risk appetite principles apply to everything we do, and all the risks we face and manage. Our risk
appetite framework enables us to:
• Actively set and monitor our business strategy against political, regulatory and economic environment changes
and pursue business initiatives that are relevant and of value to our members and markets;
• Subject new products and initiatives to a rigorous review to ensure all key risks and returns are understood, that
outcomes are consistent with our brand, markets served and cultural fit and these initiatives can be effectively
managed within our available resource capacity and capabilities;
• Ensure that everything we do is guided by principles of honesty, integrity and respect, as well as high ethical
standards and compliance with regulations;
• Achieve steady, sustainable capital efficient growth in operating profits that enable us to maintain a strong capital
position that meets or exceeds regulatory requirements;
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• Source diverse, sustainable, cost-effective liquidity and funding at a level that meets or exceeds regulatory
requirements;
• Maintain a diversified and above-average quality lending portfolio;
• Remain committed to fair pay, equal opportunities and personal and professional development for our people; and
• Have simple, clear and easy-to-follow IT systems and operational policies, procedures and controls to protect and
support our members and colleagues.
Risk limits
Our risk limits are shaped by our risk principles and risk appetite, which also help to shape our business strategies
and decisions. These limits are reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors and/or management committees
and include:
• Credit and Counterparty Risk – limits on country, industry, portfolio/product segments and group and singlename exposures;
• Market Risk – limits on market value exposure and stress exposures; and
• Liquidity and Funding Risk – limits on minimum levels of liquid assets and maximum levels of asset pledging, as
well as guidelines approved by senior management for liability diversification and credit and liquidity requirements.
Credit and counterparty risk
(Information below is an integral part of the audited financial statements.)
Credit risk is the risk of losing money on a(n):
• Loan – where the borrower is unwilling or unable to fulfil their financial obligations;
• Investment – where a decrease in the credit quality of the issuer leads to a decline in market value.
Counterparty risk is the risk that, in a contract, the other party fails to meet its contractual obligations. In the context
of a credit union, this is a consideration beyond our loan portfolio and includes potential transactions with strategic
partners, vendors or other financial intermediaries. These transactions are subject to counterparty risk rating limits
that include portfolio, industry and single name caps. Reporting allows us to monitor and manage this risk.
Our system for controlling the credit risk of borrowers defaulting on loan obligations is based upon strict adherence
to clearly defined credit policies and credit approval procedures. We review lending practices and activities on a
regular basis to ensure adherence to policy and prudent credit quality.
As the first line of defence, operating groups are accountable for originating and approving (or recommending),
within delegated limits, credit decisions based on the completion of appropriate due diligence. The operating groups
assume ownership of the risk. As the second line of defence, GRM adjudicates and approves credit decisions and is
accountable for providing independent oversight of the risks assumed by the operating groups. Staff within GRM
operate in a disciplined environment with clear delegation of decision-making authority, including individually
delegated lending limits. Credit decision-making is conducted at the management level appropriate to the size and
risk of each transaction in accordance with comprehensive corporate policies, standards and procedures governing
the conduct of credit risk activities.
Maximum exposure to credit risk – The following table presents the maximum exposure to credit risk of balance
sheet and off-balance-sheet financial instruments, before taking into account any collateral held or other credit
enhancements. For financial assets recognized on the balance sheet, the exposure to credit risk equals their carrying
amount. For financial guarantees granted, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount that we
would have to pay if the guarantees were called upon. For loan commitments and other credit-related commitments
that are irrevocable over the life of the respective facilities, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the full amount
of the committed facilities.
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Maximum exposure to credit risk
As at December 31, 2013
in thousands of dollars

Banking

Derivatives

On balance sheet
Cash held at Central 1

$

Investments held at Central 1

112,596
936,502

Shares in Central 1

45,759

Other investments

307,883

Loans

11,002,775

Derivative instruments

$

Accounts receivable

1

8,225
12,413,740

1

Off balance sheet
Letters of credit

38,459

Commitments to extend credit

2,885,244
2,923,703

Maximum exposure to credit risk

$ 15,337,443

–
$

1

Concentration risk – Concentration risk arises with larger value exposures and where a number of borrowers are
engaged in similar economic activities and/or are located in the same geographic region. We primarily carry out
our lending activities in the Metro Vancouver, Fraser Valley and Vancouver Island regions of British Columbia. The
following table breaks down our lending activity by loan type and industry.
As at December 31, 2013
in thousands of dollars

Outstanding

Undrawn
commitments

Residential mortgages

$ 8,032,838

$ 1,186,957

$ 9,219,795

261,053

800,616

1,061,669

Construction1

561,724

492,077

Food services and accommodation

Personal loans

Other

Derivatives

Total
exposure

Commercial
36,140

1,089,941

110,394

27,133

137,527

Agriculture

10,920

3,246

14,166

Finance and insurance

15,454

4,922

20,376

Manufacturing

43,828

22,094

65,922

Professional

19,295

25,227

44,522

1,251,882

194,913

1,446,795

34,301

31,810

66,111

232,777

8,562

241,339

Real estate
Retail and wholesale trade
Transportation
Other

446,839

87,687

$ 11,021,305

$ 2,885,244

1 For construction loans, “Other” refers to letters of credit
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Market risk
(Information below is an integral part of the audited financial statements.)
Market risk is the risk that interest rate fluctuations and volatile foreign exchange markets impact our profitability,
capital and ability to achieve business objectives.
Market risk is primarily incurred in the fundamental banking activities of lending and deposit gathering. Reporting
to the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), the Head of Treasury is responsible for preparing, executing and monitoring
market risk management strategies in this area, with additional oversight provided by GRM.
Interest rate risk – Our treasury team closely manages interest rate risk and forwards major recommendations to our
Asset Liability Committee (“ALCO”)— comprised of the CEO, CFO, CRO, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Commercial
Officer, Head of Treasury, SVP, Finance and other executives. The committee meets regularly to review Coast Capital’s
interest rate risk profile in conjunction with a review of the current economic environment, setting course direction
as necessary. Treasury managers use strategies that manage the spread between deposit and loan rates for different
maturities, while making sure to stay within policy limits that define our risk appetite, optimizing our profitability.
As noted in our discussion of net interest income, the majority of our revenue is derived from the spread between
the interest we earn from members’ loans and the interest we pay on members’ deposits. With a majority of our
loans and deposits maturing at differing time periods, the mismatch between the timing and volume of loans and
deposits maturing results in interest rate risk. If the interest we pay to maturing deposits increases at a faster pace
than the interest we earn from maturing loans, our spreads decline. We are additionally impacted by mismatches
between variable-rate loans and deposits. As our current balance sheet profile has a larger proportion of variablerate assets versus variable-rate liabilities, our income is compressed as interest rates decline.
Mismatches in maturity dates between loans and deposits are constantly changing. These changes are in large
part influenced by members’ expectations of future interest rates. On a monthly basis, our Treasury Department,
through the use of an asset liability model, forecasts both our net interest income, factoring in various interest rate
scenarios, along with our interest rate risk profile. This modelling assesses the effect of rising or falling interest rates
and the impact it may have on net interest income and market value over the next 12 months. Should the interest rate
risk profile exceed the ALCO’s risk tolerance, we could manage this through conventional means, such as marketing
specific deposit products or securitizing pools of mortgages or synthetic means, such as using interest rate swaps.
At year-end, we held $0.1 billion in interest rate swaps for risk management purposes compared to $0.2 billion at
December 31, 2012.
Asset and liability maturities
As at December 31
in thousands of dollars

2013
Assets

Liabilities
and equity

$ 4,109,591

$ 3,858,285

1,046,858

4,275,995

1–2 years 2015

1,368,756

1,160,632

2–3 years 2016

1,973,054

3–4 years 2017

1,905,905
1,864,323

Variable rate

2012
Assets

Liabilities
and equity

$ 4,260,008

$ 4,059,750

1,214,949

4,456,891

208,124

1,152,763

1,039,275

824,554

1,148,500

1,494,205

880,172

614,033

225,065

1,680,840

2,070,227

279,759

1,790,468

282,962

1,581,361

2,147,728

239,404

1,908,324

Differential
$

251,306

Differential
$

200,258

Interest sensitive
Maturing within 1 year

(3,229,137)

(3,241,942)

Maturing between

4+ years 2018+
Non-interest bearing items

1

261,235

1,902,229

$ 12,529,722

$ 12,529,722

(1,640,994)
$

–

259,625

1,644,254

$ 12,599,505

$ 12,599,505

113,488

(1,384,631)
$

–

1 Assets include cash, accrued interest receivable, premises and equipment and other items. Liabilities/equity include accrued interest payable,
retained earnings, Class B shares and other items.
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As of December 2013, our risk profile is asymmetrical, indicating that our net interest income is negatively skewed
to an immediate downward movement in interest rates. In comparison, last year’s risk profile was asset sensitive. The
asymmetrical risk profile is attributed to the large cashable term deposit balances on our balance sheet, which enable
members to redeem prior to maturity and immediately renew at higher rates when interest rates rise. Alternatively,
when interest rates decline expectations are for the deposits to remain unchanged until maturity, as their existing
deposit rate will be higher than the current rates. Lastly, the $150.1 million growth in retained earnings in 2013 has
increased the mismatch of our non-interest bearing position essentially providing us more zero cost of funds.
The following table shows the expected change to net interest income as a result of an immediate change in
interest rates. These measures are based on a number of assumptions and consider the professional judgment of
senior financial staff. For instance, the historically low interest rate environment has resulted in considerable margin
compression as deposit costs had less downward room to move than loan yields. Management judgment includes
assumptions relating to further compression or decompression. Interest rate scenarios are based on outstanding
asset and liability balances as at December 31:
Impact on net interest income
in thousands of dollars

2013

2012

1 per cent increase in rates

$

(331)

$

2,867

1 per cent decrease in rates

$

(5,381)

$

(3,942)

Most financial institutions tend to deem a prudent level of asset/liability mismatching to be necessary in order to
optimize profitability. The challenge is to find the level of mismatch that will maximize net interest income while
maintaining an acceptable level of risk.
Foreign exchange risk – Any assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies have foreign exchange risk.
The majority of our foreign exchange risk comes from USD transactions. The risk occurs through the mismatch in
balances between:
• USD denominated deposits (chequing and term deposits) offered to our members, and
• USD denominated instruments that we invest in as a natural hedge of our foreign exchange risk.
Our market risk corporate policy stipulates the maximum difference permitted between these USD deposits and USD
investments. By limiting the difference, we protect against rapid changes in foreign exchange rates.
Liquidity and funding management risk
(Information below is an integral part of the audited financial statements.)
Liquidity and funding management risk is the inability to satisfy cash flow obligations in a timely and cost-effective
manner, or a poor investment, resulting in a loss that impacts our ability to achieve our business objectives. This
may arise as a result of the inability to convert liquid reserves into cash quickly, redemption of maturing deposits
exceeding liquidity reserves, or the over reliance on specific depositors or types of deposits.
The Financial Institutions Act (“FIA”) requires us to maintain a minimum of 8.0 per cent of total deposits and
borrowings in a liquidity portfolio comprised of investments with maturities ranging from overnight to five years.
As part of this regulation, we are also required to hold statutory liquidity with Central 1 equalling 1.5 per cent of the
British Columbia credit union system’s assets, which presently amount to approximately 7.0 per cent of deposits
and borrowings. These deposits provide yields similar to those of Government of Canada treasury bills or bonds. In
addition to the liquidity portfolio held at Central 1, we hold other liquidity investments outside of Central 1, which are
governed by our liquidity and funding risk corporate policy. Investments outside of Central 1 are invested in financial
instruments that are rated R-1 low (A–) or higher and are restricted by the notional amount eligible to be purchased.
Our intention is to maintain a total liquidity portfolio at or above 10.0 per cent of total deposits and borrowings.
This level provides us with an operating cushion in the event of rapid asset growth or sudden deposit declines and
still allows us to meet our regulatory requirements. Our treasury team monitors liquidity levels on a daily basis.
We have a Liquidity Contingency Management Plan to ensure that our liquidity is effectively managed. This plan
lays out how and what is monitored to determine the health of our liquidity, as well as the steps to be taken if a
liquidity event takes place. Liquidity metrics are monitored monthly to determine whether a liquidity issue might be
in the offing and its stage of urgency. We stress test our forecasted liquidity needs and monitor our liquidity profile
against Basel III liquidity coverage ratio and the net stable funding ratio on a monthly basis.
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Maintaining liquidity levels and funding loan growth are managed using a number of different strategies. These
include growing our core retail deposits through the introduction of new retail deposit products, continuing to
promote existing retail deposit products, seeking deposits through an established network of deposit agents and
fostering institutional relationships to attract wholesale deposits. We also have in place several borrowing lines
along with the ability to participate in the MBS and CMB programs (as noted earlier).
Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk that errors, or inadequate activities or controls with regard to products, services, processes,
vendors, partners, technology or projects could result in a loss or missed opportunity that prevents the achievement
of strategic objectives.
We invest in our people and endeavour to have those with the right skills in the right job at the right time. This
enables the development of strong leaders and loyal employees, while providing a safe workplace that will help us
grow and maintain a healthy corporate culture. We also strive to conduct activities in a manner consistent with our
and our members’ stated objectives. This requires a clear understanding of the relationship that we have with our
members and ensuring that our sales staff have the appropriate training and licensing.
We incur operational risk as a result of general day-to-day activities throughout the organization. As such,
operational risk covers a broad range of events such as fraud, errors, disasters and legal and privacy issues, all
of which can impact our efficiency, reputation, brand and financial performance. We have built solid partnerships
with other organizations that make sound business sense with the primary objective being to make these functions
seamless to our stakeholders. We have processes in place to help ensure these partnerships remain effective and
add value. We continue to create and implement both technology and processes that assist in increasing efficiencies.
These in turn help us use our resources more effectively and contain costs.
We have an operational risk management program in place to strengthen the organization’s ability to identify,
manage and mitigate risk. The expected outcome of our program is that our members, employees and community
will continue to be confident in our ability to manage risk while maintaining a sound financial position.
We manage our operational risk through various policies and procedures that affect different aspects of our
business and that also help protect the integrity and security of the organization while allowing us to minimize any
adverse impacts to our stakeholders.
The primary components of the program include:
Corporate policies and procedures
We have established a corporate policy framework. These policies are reviewed annually by the Executive Committee
and the Board. They are in place to ensure employees understand what is expected of them by the organization.
Corporate insurance
We have a corporate insurance program that is designed to protect our organization against unexpected losses such
as fraud, disasters, accidents or lawsuits. We regularly review a number of our primary policies to ensure coverage
remains current with our business practices, growth objectives and strategic direction.
Business continuity planning
We continue to invest in our business continuity program and ensure that plans and procedures are in place to protect
the organization in the event of a disaster or unexpected outage. Processes are in place to ensure employees are
aware of these programs and that they are reviewed to address the evolving needs of the organization.
Fraud prevention
We have made substantial investments in fraud monitoring and fraud prevention. We have a team dedicated
to monitoring potential fraud across all delivery channels using the ACI Pro-active Risk Manager system. These
investments have resulted in reduced fraud losses while enhancing our abilities to detect fraud more effectively.
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Compliance and privacy
We continue to invest in compliance programs including Anti-Money Laundering Anti-Terrorist Financing,
investment compliance and privacy. This includes investing in training and technology, and reviewing our oversight
processes to ensure they remain effective. We respect our members’ privacy and have policies and procedures
that ensure our employees safeguard members’ personal information in compliance with the Personal Information
Protection Act (“PIPA”).
Corporate security
We have a number of programs to ensure the safety and preparedness of our staff. Our organization has a robust
robbery prevention program in place to ensure the safety and protection of our staff and members.
Enterprise risk management
We have a number of risk management processes in place to proactively identify potential risks that could impact
the objectives of the organization. A Risk and Control Self-Assessment is in place to identify the potential risks and
corresponding controls as they pertain to achieving the day-to-day operation of the business functions.
Strategic risk
Strategic risk is the risk that unsuccessful business strategy, inadequate execution of business strategies or the lack
of responsiveness to changes in the general business environment result in not being able to achieve our business
objectives. In order to ensure the successful implementation of our business strategy we perform a comprehensive
internal and external analysis of our business and direction as part of a three-year planning cycle with regular ongoing
monitoring of progress against our goals. During this review, we also validate new and emerging opportunities that
conform to our business strategy. This process enables documented decision-making to provide greater governance
over capital and resource allocations.
Legal and regulatory risk
Legal and regulatory risk is the risk that a flaw in design or operation, human error, oversight or indifference results
in not conforming to legal and/or regulatory requirements. We are required to meet various regulatory obligations
including but not limited to the FIA and its regulations as enforced by FICOM, the Anti-Money Laundering & AntiTerrorist Financing Act and the PIPA. This risk also includes non-compliance by our employees as it pertains to
the many statutes and regulations set out by other governing bodies, including those associated with investment
services provided to our members. We maintain a rolling internal audit plan in which we review our regulatory
environment. Additionally, our General Counsel provides ongoing analysis of legislative changes.
Reputation risk
Reputation risk is the risk that our reputation is damaged, potentially resulting in a loss of members and the ability to
compete and achieve business objectives. Reputation is any institution’s greatest asset, and in a financial institution,
reputation and brand value are essential in maintaining the continued confidence of our stakeholders. We earn our
reputation by providing quality products, outstanding service and helpful interactions with our stakeholders. Our
Code of Conduct explains the importance of corporate reputation. Annually, all employees are required to review,
complete an online course, and sign off on the Code of Conduct as an indication of their understanding.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting and Disclosures
We strive to continually adopt the best financial reporting and corporate governance practices, and as a result,
initiated a controls certification project on Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting (“ICOFR”) in 2012. This project
has continued in 2013 and is conducted entirely on a voluntary basis as regulatory requirements typically only
require such certification for public companies.
In 2013, the ICOFR project focused on finance and certain service areas that have a direct impact on financial
reporting. This included testing the design and effectiveness of internal controls, testing entity level controls,
identifying potential control weaknesses, and recommending and implementing remediation where necessary. With
the implementation of the new banking system, business lines and service departments have introduced new control
processes which we intend to test in 2014. This project will continue in 2014 to encompass both existing controls and
new changes subsequent to the banking system transition.
Executive Compensation Philosophy
Our primary objectives for executive compensation philosophy are to:
• Attract and retain highly qualified executive talent who will lead the change in how Canadians feel about
banking, forever;
• Motivate and reward executives fairly for the achievement of short- and long-term performance results that
support our member-focused corporate strategy; and,
• Provide programs that are competitive, within market, transparent, flexible, understandable and do not
encourage or reward undue or unmanageable risk.
Our primary comparative market is the Canadian financial sector. Within this sector, the most relevant organizations
include the full range of Canadian banks, with appropriate adjustments to reflect the relative size of the organization,
and other large credit unions. Together these are the main sources of executive talent. We also conduct comparisons
to organizations in other industries in order to monitor the broad marketplace, particularly for roles that require
skills that are transferable across industries. Our compensation will be positioned competitively within the primary
comparator market. The Board retains an independent compensation expert to provide advice on the various
elements of our compensation programs.
Pay-for-performance is an important component of the executive pay package. Incentive compensation is delivered
through a combination of Board-approved short- and long-term incentive compensation programs. A portion of the
executive compensation package is tied to achieving annual goals and creating long-term value.
Our Short-term Incentive Plan (“STIP”) is an annual pay-for-performance plan to focus the Executive Committee on
the achievement of our annual objectives. The objectives reflect a balanced approach to managing the organization
by focusing on financial performance, member satisfaction, employee engagement and risk management.
The Long-term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) is designed to support the longer-term corporate strategy, ensuring prudent
and balanced management of the organization over the longer term and to serve as an executive attraction and
retention tool. The goals of the LTIP are to:
• Ensure long-term health and growth so we can continue to serve and make decisions that benefit our members;
• Increase the depth of member relationship through innovative products and services; and
• Build our community satisfaction in alignment with our desire to make our communities stronger.
The Human Resources Committee is responsible for developing the plans’ objectives, monitoring performance and
recommending the plans and annual results for approval by the Board.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Incentive payments are part of short-term and long-term employment benefits. Each year the Board establishes
a number of metrics that are important to deepening the relationships with our members, employees and the
communities we serve; achieving the annual operating plan; and enhancing the long-term performance of Coast
Capital. Actual results are measured against predetermined goals for each metric and determine the eligibility for
incentive payments by key management personnel. The metrics for the 2013 short-term incentive plan and the threeyear long-term incentive plan ending December 31, 2015 are outlined below:
Short-term Incentive Plan
2013

Metrics

Long-term Incentive Plan
2013 to 2015

Financial
Normalized operating income
Controllable expenses

✔
✔

Performance vs. peer group
(3-year operating income)

✔
✔

Revenue per member
Customer
Products per member
Net promoter score

✔
✔

Employees
Employee engagement

✔

Risk Management
Asset quality
(commercial 90-day delinquency)
Core liquidity

✔
✔

Community
Community brand score

✔

Critical Accounting Estimates
Allowance for credit losses
We establish and maintain an allowance for credit losses that we consider our best estimate of probable creditrelated losses existing in our portfolio. The allowance for credit losses has a specific and collective component.
Specific allowance
Specific allowances reduce our loan balances to realizable amounts for loans where we have identified impairment.
We review all individual loans above a threshold that become delinquent. We determine the realizable value of
the loan by estimating future cash flows which may reference the underlying security. We apply judgment on the
realization period and on the valuation of the underlying security, although for significant loans, we obtain updated
third-party valuation of the collateral.
Collective allowance
Collective allowances provide for credit losses that we believe to exist but have not yet been specifically identified.
Our methodology uses a model that incorporates a number of factors such as the size of the portfolios, the
probability of default (“PD”) and the loss given default specific to the portfolios, and the period of time between
when a loss event is estimated to have occurred and when the loss is specifically identified. Additionally, we consider
current observable factors that influence losses in our portfolio. Deterioration in these factors, such as changes in
unemployment rates and provincial gross domestic product, will cause losses that may not yet have been detected
in our model. We apply judgment in evaluating the severity of changes to these observable factors.
While we quantify inputs to the model based on performance of each of the portfolios, we apply judgment when
we have gaps in data or results appear anomalous. A uniform 10 per cent increase in the PD across all portfolios
would cause the collective allowance to increase by approximately $2.0 million.
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Financial instruments measured at fair value
We record all securities, derivatives and certain loans at their fair value. Fair value represents our estimate of what we
would receive or pay, in the case of a derivative liability, in a transaction between two willing parties. The best evidence
of fair value is quoted bid or ask price, as appropriate in an active market. Where bid and ask prices are unavailable,
we use the closing price of the most recent transaction of that instrument. Where quoted prices are not available for a
particular financial instrument, we use the quoted price of a financial instrument with similar characteristics and risk
profile, or use internal or external valuation models using observable market-based inputs to estimate the fair value.
Determining fair value for instruments that are actively traded and have quoted market prices (Level 1) requires
minimal subjectivity. Judgment is required for other instruments. Our valuation of derivatives uses readily
available market information that can be input to internal models (Level 2). We validate the outputs by comparing
our valuations with counterparties. Our use of internal models without observable market information (Level 3)
uses general assumptions such as internal pricing spreads over observable market inputs. All modelled valuations
consider credit risk adjustments as appropriate. We disclose these valuations in Note 28.
Changes in fair value are recorded in the income statement unless we have elected a security to be available for
sale or held to maturity or we have designated a derivative as an effective cash flow hedge.
At December 31, 2013, $1.2 billion or 10 per cent of our financial assets and $4.2 million of our financial liabilities (all
derivative instruments) were carried at fair value ($653 million, or 5.2 per cent of our financial assets and $3.6 million
of our financial liabilities at December 31, 2012). Included in the financial assets is $15.7 million ($16.1 million at
December 31, 2012) of loans where we have made a fair value option in order to match hedged and hedging items.
Asset impairment (goodwill and intangible assets)
At December 31, 2013, we had goodwill of $0.6 million, identifiable intangible assets with a definite life at nominal
book value and software of $63.2 million. The goodwill and identifiable intangible assets were acquired in purchases
of shares or assets of financial planning businesses. These balances declined from 2012 by $5.9 million as a result of
the sale of shares in CCIS and by $0.1 million from amortization.
At least annually, we are required to test these assets for impairment. These impairment tests consist of comparing
the carrying value with the fair value of the reporting unit. We apply judgment in measuring fair value when estimating
future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition and determining the useful
life of these intangible assets in order to determine annual amortization.
We had no impairment of goodwill during the year.
During the year, as part of the sale of shares in CCIS, we reduced the entire balance of intangible assets with an
indefinite life of $2.7 million. These assets were all license appointments from the Insurance Corporation of British
Columbia (“ICBC”), a requirement to sell automobile insurance in the province of BC. The carrying amount reflected
our costs for appointments acquired in previous business combinations.
$49.9 million of the software pertains to our new banking system that became operational on February 12, 2013.
As with all other intangible assets, this system is subject to the same tests for impairment.
Contingent liabilities
In the ordinary course of our business, we are party to a number of legal proceedings. In accordance with accounting
standards, we accrue amounts if, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that a future event will
confirm that a liability had been incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of the loss can be
reasonably estimated. At times, however, it is either not possible for us to determine whether a liability has been
incurred or to reasonably estimate the amount of loss until the case is closer to resolution, in which case we will
not accrue any amounts until that time. If the reasonable estimate of loss involves a range within which a particular
amount appears to be a better estimate, we will accrue that amount. If no such better estimate within a range
is indicated, the minimum amount in the range is required to be accrued. We regularly assess the adequacy of
our contingent liability accrual and make the necessary adjustments to incorporate new information as it becomes
available. While there is inherent difficulty in predicting the outcome of such matters, based on current knowledge
and consultation with legal counsel, we do not expect that the outcome of any of these matters, individually or in
aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position. However, the outcome of any
such matters, individually or in aggregate, may be material to our operating results for a particular year.
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Income taxes
We use judgment in the estimation of income taxes and deferred income tax assets and liabilities. We estimate our
actual current tax exposure, together with assessing temporary differences that result from the different treatments
of items for tax and accounting purposes, and any tax loss carry-forwards. We are also required to establish a
deferred income tax asset in respect of expenses recorded currently for which a tax deduction will be available in a
future period, such as the collective allowance for credit losses.
Depending on our ability to grow deposits, we have access to a credit union deduction that impacts our effective
tax rate. This federal component of this deduction is to be phased out over the next five years as announced in the
federal budget of 2013/14. The provincial component is to be phased out over five years, commencing in 2016. In
valuing our deferred income tax assets and liabilities, we estimate future reversing tax rates based on our forecast
growth for deposits and income before taxes. If we estimated our future reversing rate to be 1 per cent higher, our
net deferred income tax assets would be $3.7 million higher. This would consequently reduce our deferred income
tax expense by $3.7 million.
As at December 31, 2013, we had available deferred income tax assets of $21.4 million (2012 – $17.9 million), and
deferred income tax liabilities of $11.6 million (2012 – $7.0 million). We are required to assess whether it is more
likely than not that our deferred income tax assets will be realized prior to their expiration. If it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilized, we recognize the
full deferred income tax assets. The factors used to assess the likelihood of realization are our past experience of
income and capital gains, forecast of future net income before taxes, available tax planning strategies that could be
implemented to realize the deferred income tax assets and the remaining expiration period of tax loss carry-forwards.
Although realization is not assured, we believe, based on all the available evidence, it is more likely than not that the
remaining deferred income tax assets will be realized prior to their expiration.
Outlook and Priorities
Loans and deposits
We see a real estate market providing only modest growth for 2014 with housing starts, prices and sales all growing
between one and two per cent over 2013 levels. We also expect aggressive rate competition from the chartered banks
within the spring mortgage season, which will pose challenges to both our growth and our margins.
We will target a continued shift within our commercial loan portfolio to servicing the small- and mid-market
business sector and providing day-to-day operational financing and cash management services. We believe credit
unions and particularly our brand resonate well with this segment and provide a right-to-win opportunity. We expect
a continuation of very competitive pricing in the market, which will lead to downward pressure on margins for the
different types of commercial financing that we undertake.
We rely heavily on our branch channel to source deposits from our retail and business customers in order to
fund member loans. An important part of our commercial strategy is to assign business and mid-market deposit
customers to relationship managers. We believe that this will help us to grow more deposit balances from our
existing customers in 2014.
In late 2012, we became an NHA MBS Issuer allowing us to generate funding by securitizing insured residential
mortgages. At the end of 2013, we had generated $83.5 million from this channel which included pooling conventional
mortgages and portfolio insuring them through CMHC. In 2014, we will be looking at expanding these funding
sources so that we can pool uninsured mortgages through an asset-backed commercial paper facility at short-term
rates. By focusing more on retail deposits and securitizations, we hope to reduce the percentages we hold in other
forms of funding, including borrowings and institutional deposits, which tend to be more costly and less stable.
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Net income
Net interest income will remain challenging with the continued low interest rate environment. Market observers
and economists appear to expect the Bank of Canada to keep the Bank Rate unchanged at 1 per cent while the yield
curve is expected to steepen as the US Federal Reserve tapers its stimulus program. Given the lack of empirical
evidence on the impact of this reduction, timing and volume will be unpredictable. We intend to grow our higher
yielding segments such as business, mid-market and equipment finance to remix our loan portfolio and manage
these uncertainties by diversifying our portfolio.
The sale of our general insurance subsidiary in mid-2013 will translate into reduced other income in 2014. We will
continue to offer a suite of value-based products and will engage our customers with the Where You’re At Money
Chat™, with the objective of providing our customers with the services they need to be financially successful. Our
Low-fee, More-for-me Mutual Funds™ have a value proposition that resonate well with our membership – solid
results with low management fees. We intend to improve member access to our life insurance and business insurance
products in 2014 providing the products necessary to support safety for our membership.
We will continue to use technology to drive efficiencies and cost reductions with initiatives such as rolling out
e-statements. Various one-time reorganization costs incurred in 2013, which were completed to better align our
corporate structure to our strategy, will not be repeated. A key focus will be to generate increased benefit from our
new banking system although this will require additional costs and resources. Initiatives in 2014 will include offering
new payment functionality and accessibility to members while automating other processes, all to be interfaced with
the new banking system.
We expect that by strengthening relationships with our existing members, increasing accessibility and providing a
balanced suite of products and services demanded by members, we will have taken the steps necessary to face the
expected and unexpected challenges next year.
Note Regarding Forward-looking Statements
This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements about the operations, objectives and expected financial
performance of Coast Capital Savings. These statements are subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual results may
differ depending on a number of factors, including but not limited to legislative or regulatory changes, interest rates
and general economic conditions in British Columbia and Canada. These issues should be given careful consideration
and readers should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The consolidated financial statements and all other
information contained in the Annual Report are the
responsibility of management and have been approved
by the Board of Directors (the “Board”). The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared by management
in accordance with the requirements of the Credit Union
Incorporation Act and International Financial Reporting
Standards, and include amounts based on informed
judgments and estimates of the expected effects of
current events and transactions. Financial information
presented elsewhere in this Annual Report is consistent
with that in the consolidated financial statements. In
meeting its responsibility for the reliability of financial
data, management relies on comprehensive internal
accounting, operating and system controls. Controls
include an organizational structure providing for effective
segregation of responsibilities, delegation of authority
and personal accountability and careful selection and

training of personnel; the application of accounting
and administrative policies and procedures necessary
to ensure adequate internal control over transactions,
assets and records; and a continued program of
extensive internal audits. These controls are designed
to provide reasonable assurance that financial records
are reliable for preparing financial statements and
maintaining accountability for assets, and that assets are
safeguarded against unauthorized use or disposition. The
Board has appointed an Audit and Finance Committee,
comprised of four directors, to review with management
and auditors the annual financial statements prior to
submission to the Board for final approval. KPMG LLP
has been appointed by the membership as independent
auditors to examine and report on the consolidated
financial statements, and their report appears at right.
They have full and free access to the internal audit staff
and the Audit and Finance Committee of the Board.

Tracy Redies
President and Chief Executive Officer

Don Coulter, CA
Chief Financial Officer
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Members of Coast Capital Savings Credit Union
We have audited the accompanying financial statements
of Coast Capital Savings Credit Union, which comprise
the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2013,
the consolidated statements of income, members’ equity,
comprehensive income, and cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the
Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Coast Capital Savings Credit
Union as at December 31, 2013 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
February 26, 2014
Vancouver, Canada
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
As at December 31, 2013, with comparative information for 2012
All amounts in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated		

Notes		 2013

2012

Assets
Cash and cash resources				

4

$

152,121

$

399,374

Financial investments				

5		 1,250,619		 1,286,124

Loans				

6–9		11,002,775		10,764,060

Premises and equipment				

10		

24,434		
1,031		

36,873

Investment property				

11		

Goodwill and intangible assets				

12		

52,541		

60,976

Deferred income tax assets				

24		

9,818		

10,852

Other assets				

13		

36,383		

 					$ 12,529,722

826

40,420

$ 12,599,505

Liabilities
Deposits				

14

$ 11,316,913

$ 11,188,782

Secured borrowings				

9		

83,464		

51,720

Borrowings				

16		

175,000		

565,000

Provisions				

17		

3,370		

1,998

Income taxes payable						

19,028		

2,263

Other liabilities				

59,626		

65,303

18		

						11,657,401		11,875,066
Members’ equity
Class B shares					$
Retained earnings						
Accumulated other comprehensive loss					
 						

36,454

838,142		
(2,275)		
872,321		

					$ 12,529,722
Commitments and contingent liabilities			

25

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

Bill Wellburn, FCA, C.Dir.			

Daniel Burns, JD, MBA, CMA

Chair, Board of Directors                            Chair, Audit and Finance Committee
Bill Wellburn			
Karen Kesteloo
Chair, Board of Directors                            Chair, Audit and Finance Committee
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$

38,892
688,091
(2,544)
724,439

$ 12,599,505

Consolidated Statements of Income
Year ended December 31, 2013, with comparative information for 2012
All amounts in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated			

Notes		

2013		

2012

Interest income
Loans						

20

$

410,666

$

400,066

Cash and financial investments						

20		

22,047		

25,450

								

432,713		

425,516

Interest expense
Deposits						

20		

184,436		

180,246

Borrowings						

20		

5,822		

9,299

Derivatives						

20		

1,754		

2,335

								

192,012		

191,880

Net interest income								

240,701		

233,636

Provision for credit losses						

7		

5,794		

8,047

								

234,907		

225,589

Insurance commissions								

13,545		

25,975

Mutual and segregated fund commissions							

24,981		

23,530

Fee and commission income

Foreign exchange								

5,064		

4,850

Other fees and commissions								

19,660		

17,521

								

63,250		

71,876

9,623		

12,191

Other income						

21		

Gain on sale of assets and shares						

21		

								

111,993		

5,604

419,773		

315,260

Non-interest expenses
Salaries and employee benefits						

22		

129,797		

127,703

Administration						

56,988

23		

60,820		

Technology								

9,406		

9,403

Occupancy								

22,297		

21,104
9,026

Depreciation and amortization								

11,533		

Community contributions								

4,859		

5,235

								

238,712		

229,459

Income before provision for income taxes							

181,061		

85,801

30,430		

13,355

Provision for income taxes						

24		

Net income							$

150,631

$

72,446

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Members’ Equity
As at December 31, 2013, with comparative information for 2012

All amounts in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated					

2013		

2012

Class B shares
Balance at beginning of the year							

$

38,892

$

40,302

Share dividends								

748		

Share redemptions								

(3,186)		

(2,280)

870

Balance at end of the year								

36,454		

38,892

Balance at beginning of the year								

688,091		

616,576

Net income								

150,631		

Retained earnings

Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit plans							

72,446

54		

(105)

Share dividends								

(748)		

(870)

Cash dividends								

(106)		

(90)

Income tax deduction on dividends								

220		

134

Balance at end of the year								

838,142		

688,091

Accumulated other comprehensive income – available for sale securities
Balance at beginning of the year								
Other comprehensive loss								
Balance at end of the year 								

2,325		
(208)		

3,674
(1,349)

2,117		

2,325

(4,869)		

(5,392)

Accumulated other comprehensive income – cash flow hedges
Balance at beginning of the year								
Other comprehensive income								

477		

523

Balance at end of the year 								

(4,392)		

(4,869)

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss							

(2,275)		

(2,544)

Total equity

					$

872,321

$

724,439

Class B shares are not a membership requirement. These shares are non-transferable, non-cumulative and non-voting. Retraction and redemption of
Class B shares including terms, conditions and dividends are set at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The dividend rate is a floating rate and is
currently 2.25 per cent (2012 – 2.40 per cent). These shares have a par value of $1 each. Coast Capital has authorized an unlimited number of Class B
shares and all issued shares are fully paid.
The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Year ended December 31, 2013, with comparative information for 2012
All amounts in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated					

Net income							$
Other comprehensive income
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss:
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit pension plans
(net of income taxes of $19, 2012 – $(17))							
								
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss where conditions are met:
Reclassification to net income of gains on cash flow hedges
(net of income taxes of $ – , 2012 – $(28))							
Unrealized losses on available for sale securities
(net of income taxes of $(73), 2012 – $(216))							
Gains on effective portion of cash flow hedges
(net of income taxes of $165, 2012 – $113)							
Other comprehensive income (loss)								
Total comprehensive income							$

2013		
150,631

$

54		
54		

2012
72,446

(105)
(105)

–		

(180)

(208)		

(1,349)

477		
323		
150,954
$

703
(931)
71,515

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2013, with comparative information for 2012
All amounts expressed in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated					

2013		

2012

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income before provision for income taxes						 $
181,061
$
85,801
Adjustments for:
Amortization and depreciation								
11,533		
9,026
Provision for credit losses								
5,794		
8,047
Interest income								 (430,905)		 (422,869)
Interest expense								 192,012		 191,880
Dividend income								
(1,808)		
(2,647)
Changes in other non-cash operating items							
(121,522)		
(7,940)
Interest income received								 432,039		 427,470
Interest expense paid								 (196,185)		 (186,903)
Dividends received								
466		
2,182
Net income taxes paid								
(12,631)		
(7,694)
Cash flows from operating activities								
59,854		
96,353
Cash flows used in investing activities
Net increase in loans								
(245,270)		
(968,444)
Net proceeds from sale of assets and shares							
121,691		
6,023
Net decrease in investments								 110,333		 219,221
Net sale (purchase) of premises and equipment							
9,137		
(30,887)
Cash flows used in investing activities							
(4,109)		
(774,087)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net increase in deposits								 132,216		 872,346
Net increase (decrease) in borrowings							
(358,256)		
(108,953)
Net redemption of Class A and B shares							
(3,098)		
(2,185)
Cash flows from financing activities								
(229,138)		
761,208
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		 					 (173,393)		
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year							
325,514		
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year						 $
152,121
$

83,474
242,040
325,514

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2013, with comparative information for 2012
All amounts in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated

Coast Capital Savings Credit Union (“Coast Capital”) is incorporated under the British Columbia Credit Union
Incorporation Act and its subsidiaries are incorporated under the British Columbia Company Act or the Canada
Business Corporations Act.
Coast Capital is located in Canada and its registered office is in Surrey, British Columbia. The operation of Coast
Capital is regulated under the British Columbia Financial Institutions Act. Coast Capital provides financial services to
members principally in the Metro Vancouver, Fraser Valley and Vancouver Island regions of British Columbia.
The consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) on
February 26, 2014.
1. Basis of Presentation
a) Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for available for
sale financial assets, financial assets and financial liabilities accounted for at fair value through profit or loss and
derivative financial instruments, which are measured at fair value.
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the functional currency.
c) Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during
the reporting period. Significant areas requiring the use of estimates and judgments include the measurement of
the allowance for credit losses, income taxes, goodwill and intangible assets. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
d) Change in accounting policy
i)
Coast Capital has applied IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities, with a date of initial application of January 1, 2013.
As a result of the application of IFRS 10, Coast Capital has changed its accounting policy with respect to
determining whether it has control over and consequently whether it consolidates its investees. IFRS 10
introduces a new control model that is applicable to all investees, including structured entities (see Note 2).
		 In accordance with the transitional requirements of IFRS 10, Coast Capital re-assessed the control conclusion
for its investees as of January 1, 2013 and determined that there was no change to the control conclusion for its
investees.
ii) Coast Capital has adopted IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, with effect from January 1, 2013. In accordance
with the transitional provisions, IFRS 13 has been applied prospectively from that date. As a result, Coast Capital
has adopted a new definition of fair value, as set out in Note 2. The change had no impact on the measurements
of Coast Capital’s assets and liabilities. However, Coast Capital has included new disclosures in the financial
statements which are required under IFRS 13.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated
financial statements.
a) Basis of consolidation
The financial position, operating results and cash flows of other entities are included in these consolidated financial
statements if Coast Capital controls these investees. Coast Capital controls an investee when it is exposed to, or has
rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.
Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements include the financial position, operating results and cash
flows of Coast Capital and its wholly-owned active subsidiaries, Coast Capital Financial Management Ltd. (“CCFM”)
and Coast Capital Equipment Finance Ltd. (“CCEFL”). In July 2013, Coast Capital sold its general insurance business
in Coast Capital Insurance Services Ltd. (“CCIS”) following a strategic decision to focus on and grow the core banking
business. Financial results for this operation are included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
up to the date of the sale. All inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared using consistent accounting and valuation policies for similar transactions
and events under similar circumstances.
There are no significant restrictions on Coast Capital’s ability to access or use its assets and settle its liabilities and
those of its subsidiaries, other than those resulting from regulatory requirements.
A Special Purpose Entity (“SPE”) is created to accomplish a narrow and well-defined objective.
An SPE is consolidated if, based on an evaluation of the substance of its relationship with Coast Capital and
the SPE’s risks and rewards, Coast Capital concludes that it controls the SPE. The following circumstances may
indicate a relationship which, in substance, Coast Capital controls and consequently consolidates an SPE:
i)
The activities of the SPE are being conducted on behalf of Coast Capital according to its specific business
needs so that Coast Capital obtains benefits from the SPE’s operation.
ii) Coast Capital has the decision-making powers to obtain the majority of the benefits of the activities of the SPE.
iii) Coast Capital has rights to obtain the majority of the benefits of the SPE and therefore may be exposed to
risks incident to the activities of the SPE.
iv) Coast Capital retains the majority of the residual or ownership risks related to the SPE or its assets in order to
obtain benefits from its activities.
Based on the assessments performed, Coast Capital determined that it does not control any SPEs for which the
results are not already included in its consolidated financial statements.
b) Cash and cash resources
For the purposes of the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances
with less than three months maturity from the date of acquisition, including cash and deposits with Central 1 Credit
Union (“Central 1”), treasury bills and other eligible bills, amounts due from other banks and cheques and other
items in transit.
c) Non-derivative financial instruments
All non-derivative financial instruments, with certain exceptions, are classified as one of the following: held to maturity
(“HTM”), loans and receivables, financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), available for
sale (“AFS”) or other financial liabilities. All financial instruments are recorded at fair value on initial recognition and are
subsequently accounted for based on their classification. Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial
instruments were acquired and their characteristics. Interest income and interest expense on all non-derivative financial
instruments are recognized in Net Interest Income using the effective interest method in the Consolidated Statement
of Income. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.
The amortized cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured at
initial recognition, minus principal payments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective interest method
of any difference between the initial amount recognized and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
HTM financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and a fixed maturity,
other than loans and receivables, which an entity has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. These
financial assets are accounted for at amortized cost. Coast Capital had previously designated certain investments
as HTM, which consisted of statutory deposits and certain investments with Central 1. In order to achieve greater
flexibility in managing this portfolio, Coast Capital has reclassified these instruments, with a value of $905,059 at the
time of the reclassification, including accrued interest, as AFS requiring fair valuation through Other Comprehensive
Income (“OCI”). As a result of the reclassification, Coast Capital may not classify any investments as HTM financial
assets until January 1, 2016.
Financial assets are required to be classified as FVTPL if they are acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or if they are part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for
which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. Financial assets may also be designated
as FVTPL when the designation eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies
that would otherwise arise from measuring financial assets, or from recognizing gains and losses on them, on
different bases. The fair value designation, once made, is irrevocable. Gains and losses on assets classified as FVTPL
are recorded in Other Income in the Consolidated Statement of Income. At December 31, 2013, Coast Capital has
designated select commercial loans and an investment in a Euro denominated bond as FVTPL. The objective of
these designations is to significantly reduce a measurement inconsistency that would have otherwise occurred from
measuring associated derivative instruments that were obtained to structure an economic hedge against interest rate
risk in these financial assets.
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market, other than those that are classified or designated as FVTPL or as AFS. They are accounted for at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Coast Capital’s loans and receivables principally consist of loans
and advances to members and other amounts receivable.
AFS financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as AFS or that are not designated
or classified as FVTPL, loans and receivables or HTM. AFS instruments are carried at fair value whereby the unrealized
gains and losses are included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income until sale or identification of impairment
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is transferred to the Consolidated Statement of Income. Realized gains
and losses, impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized immediately in Other Income.
Interest income on monetary AFS assets is calculated using the effective interest method and is recognized in
the Consolidated Statement of Income. Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognized in the Consolidated
Statement of Income when Coast Capital’s right to receive payment is established. Coast Capital’s AFS assets consist
of statutory deposits and certain investments with Central 1 and certain holdings of bankers’ acceptances, bonds and
equity investments.
Financial liabilities are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest method and include all financial
liabilities, other than liabilities designated as FVTPL. A financial liability is required to be classified as FVTPL if it
is incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial liabilities that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking. Coast Capital has not designated or classified any financial liabilities as FVTPL at December 31, 2013.
Financial liabilities consist of accounts payable, deposits and member shares.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheet when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts with the same counterparty and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
d) Financial investments
Investments are accounted for on a trade date basis and are classified as HTM, FVTPL or AFS.

52

Coast Capital Savings Credit Union
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
e) Impairment of financial assets
Coast Capital assesses, at each Consolidated Balance Sheet date, whether there is any objective evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets not carried
at FVTPL is considered impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of the occurrence of a loss
event and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial
assets that can be reliably estimated. The amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced by the amount of the impairment loss and recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income. However,
if the impairment pertains to an AFS financial asset, the cumulative loss, measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized
in profit or loss, is reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income and recognized in the Consolidated
Statement of Income.
For financial assets measured at amortized cost, if the amount of the impairment loss decreases in a subsequent
period and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed and recognized in profit or loss. For equity instruments classified
as AFS, impairment losses are not reversed through the Consolidated Statement of Income. For other AFS financial
assets, the impairment loss is reversed through the Consolidated Statement of Income.
f) Fair value of financial instruments
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous
market to which Coast Capital has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.
When available, Coast Capital measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market
for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.
If there is no quoted price in an active market, then Coast Capital uses valuation techniques that maximize the
use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique
incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction
price – i.e., the fair value of the consideration given or received.
If an asset or a liability at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then Coast Capital measures assets and long
positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.
The fair value of a demand deposit is not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date
on which the amount could be required to be paid.
Coast Capital recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period
during which the change has occurred.
g) Loans
Loans are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest method net of the allowance for credit losses.
Interest income is recorded on the accrual basis using the effective interest rate method. Uncollected interest
continues to be accrued at the effective interest rate whenever loans are determined to be impaired but Coast Capital
will review these loans individually to assess whether a specific allowance is required. Coast Capital classifies a
loan as impaired when, in the opinion of management, there is reasonable doubt as to the ultimate collectibility,
either in whole or in part, of principal or interest. Loans where interest or principal is contractually past due 90 days
are automatically categorized as impaired, unless management determines there is no reasonable doubt as to the
ultimate collectibility of principal and interest. All loans are classified as impaired when interest or principal is past
due 180 days.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
h) Loan fees
Loan origination fees, including commitment, renewal and renegotiation fees, are considered to be adjustments
to loan yield and are deferred and amortized to loan interest income over the term of the loans using the effective
interest method. Mortgage prepayment penalty fees are recognized in income unless only minor modifications
(based on a present value of future cash flows test) were made to the loan in which case, the fees are deferred and
amortized over the remaining term of the loan. Loan discharge and administration fees are recorded directly to
income when the loan transaction is complete. Loan syndication fees are included in income when the syndication
is completed and Coast Capital has retained no part of the package for itself or if part has been retained, it bears the
same effective interest as other participants.
i) Allowance for credit losses
Coast Capital assesses, at each Consolidated Balance Sheet date, whether there is objective evidence that a loan or
group of loans is impaired. A loan or a group of loans is impaired and impairment losses are recorded only if there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset (a “loss event”) and the loss event(s) has (have) an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the loan or
group of loans that can be reliably estimated.
For the purposes of a specific evaluation of impairment, the amount of the impairment loss on a fixed-rate loan
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the Consolidated Statement
of Income. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate determined under the contract.
For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, for which specific allowances cannot be determined,
financial assets are categorized on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics. Those characteristics are relevant to
the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the counterparties’ ability to pay
all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated. Future cash flows in a group of
financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of historical loss experience
for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group, taking into account resolution rates, work out
costs and discount factors.
Coast Capital adjusts its collective allowance methodology, taking into account factors such as historical loss
experience and adjusting for current observable data that did not impact the period, on which the historical loss
experience was based. Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets reflect and are directionally
consistent with changes in related observable data from period to period (for example, changes in unemployment
rates, real estate prices, payment status or other factors indicative of changes in the probability of losses by Coast
Capital and their magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed
regularly by Coast Capital to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. The collective
allowance is adjusted through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the adjustment in the collective
provision is recognized in Consolidated Statement of Income.
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off after all the necessary procedures, such as restructuring or collection
activities, have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.
j) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired
or transferred and either all of the risks and rewards of ownership have been substantially transferred; or the risks
and rewards of ownership have not been retained nor substantially transferred but control has not been retained.
Financial liabilities are derecognized when they are extinguished, that is when the obligation is discharged, is
cancelled or is expired.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
k) Derivative instruments and hedges
Derivative instruments are financial contracts whose value is derived from interest rates, foreign exchange rates or
other financial indices.
In the ordinary course of business, Coast Capital enters into various derivative contracts, including interest
rate forwards, swaps and options. Derivative contracts are either exchange-traded contracts or negotiated overthe-counter contracts. Coast Capital enters into such contracts principally to manage its exposures to interest rate
fluctuations as part of its asset/liability management program.
Coast Capital formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its
risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. This process includes linking
all derivatives to specific assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet or to specific firm commitments
or forecasted transactions. Coast Capital also formally assesses, at the hedge’s inception, retrospectively and
prospectively on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective
in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows attributed to hedged risks. Hedges are designated as either fair value
or cash flow hedges and are carried in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at fair value, either as assets or liabilities
depending on whether they have a positive or negative fair value.
In a cash flow hedging relationship, the effective portion of the change in fair value of the derivative is recorded
in Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”). The ineffective portion is recognized in Other Income. The amounts
recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income are reclassified to net income in the same period that the
hedged cash flows affect Net Income. For cash flow hedges that are discontinued prior to the end of the original
hedge term, the unrealized gain or loss in OCI is amortized to interest income in the Consolidated Statement of
Income as the hedged item impacts earnings. If the hedged item is sold or settled, the entire unrealized gain or loss
is recognized in Interest Income in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
In a fair value hedging relationship, the change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged
risk is recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Income. This change in fair value of the hedged item, to the extent
that the hedging relationship is effective, is offset by changes in the fair value of the hedging derivative. If the
derivative expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, no longer meets the criteria for fair value hedge accounting
or the designation is revoked, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. Any adjustment up to that point to a
hedged item for which the effective interest rate is used is amortized to the Consolidated Statement of Income as part
of the recalculated effective interest rate of the item over its remaining life.
Non-hedging derivative instruments used in trading activities are marked to market and the resulting realized and
unrealized gains or losses are recognized in Other Income in the Consolidated Statement of Income in the current
period, with a corresponding asset or liability in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
l) Finance and operating leases
Agreements which transfer to counterparties substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
assets, but not necessarily legal title, are classified as finance leases. When Coast Capital is a lessor under finance
leases, the amounts due under the leases are included as Loans in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The finance
income receivable is recognized in Net Interest Income over the periods of the leases so as to give a constant rate of
return on the net investment in the leases.
All other leases are operating leases. When Coast Capital is the lessee, leased assets are not recognized in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet. Lease amounts payable under operating leases are accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the periods of the leases and are included in Non-interest Expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
m) Premises and equipment
Land is carried at cost. Buildings, leasehold improvements, computer and telephone equipment, furniture and
other equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Subsequent expenditures are included in the
assets’ carrying amount or are recognized as separate assets only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the items will flow to Coast Capital and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repair
and maintenance costs are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Income.
Asset classes are further categorized for depreciation where significant differences in the estimated useful life of
the various components of individually significant assets are identified. Depreciation is calculated using the straightline method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Computer and telephone equipment
Furniture and other equipment

40 to 50 years
Lease term
3 to 5 years
4 to 10 years

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.
Gains and losses on disposal are recorded separately in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
n) Investment properties
Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for
sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Investment property is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and when the use of a property
changes such that it is reclassified as premises and equipment, its carrying value at the date of reclassification
becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets,
being 40 to 50 years.
Investment properties are reviewed for impairment in the same manner as premises and equipment.
o) Business combinations, goodwill and other intangible assets
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. Identifiable intangible assets are recognized
under Other Intangible Assets.
Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred for the acquisition of subsidiaries over the fair
value of the net assets acquired and is recognized at cost. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to a cash-generating unit, which is tested for impairment, annually and whenever there is an indication that the cashgenerating unit may be impaired. Impairment is tested by comparing the carrying amount of the cash-generating
unit, including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit exceeds the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit, the cash-generating unit and
the goodwill allocated to that cash generating unit is not considered impaired. Otherwise, the impairment loss is
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to reduce the other assets of the cash-generating
unit on a pro rata basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the cash-generating unit. The recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.
Other intangibles assets include computer software, customer lists and ICBC licenses. ICBC licenses have indefinite
useful lives. Computer software and customer lists have definite lives and are measured at cost and amortized using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Computer software
Customer lists

2 to 15 years
10 years

Computer software and customer lists are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable while ICBC licenses are tested annually for impairment.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The write down is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of
Income. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell or its value in use.
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p) Income taxes
Coast Capital’s income taxes are comprised of current and deferred income taxes.
Current income tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to income tax payable in respect of
previous years.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to
apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
A deferred income tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred
income tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
the related tax benefit will be realized.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current income
tax liabilities against current income tax assets and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on
the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current income tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis or their income tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
q) Employee benefits
Coast Capital participates in a number of post-retirement benefit plans, including defined benefit and defined
contribution plans as well as a multi-employer pension plan.
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive
on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors, such as age, years of service and compensation. Coast
Capital provides post-retirement benefits to its eligible employees and the obligations are comprised of the amount
of future benefits that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. The liability
recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet in respect of its defined benefit pension plans is the present value
of the unfunded defined benefit obligations at the date of the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The defined benefit
obligations are calculated annually by independent actuaries by discounting the estimated future cash outflows
using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will
be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
recognized immediately in OCI and are not recycled to the Consolidated Statement of Income.
Coast Capital also provides a group RRSP to its employees, whereby all of the contributions are funded by Coast
Capital. For these defined contribution plans, Coast Capital pays a specified flat rate for employer contributions.
Coast Capital has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are
recognized as an employee benefit expense in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.
Coast Capital is a participating member of the British Columbia Credit Union Employees’ Pension Plan (the
“Plan”), a multi-employer defined benefit plan administered by Central 1. Each member credit union is exposed to
the actuarial risks of the other employers with the result that, in Coast Capital’s opinion, there is no reasonable way to
allocate any defined benefit obligations. The Plan has informed Coast Capital that they are not able to provide defined
benefit information on a discrete employer basis as the investment records are not tracked by individual employer
and each employer is exposed to the actuarial risks of the Plan as a whole. Accordingly, Coast Capital’s participation
in the Plan is accounted for as a defined contribution plan with contributions recorded on an accrual basis.
r) Provisions
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, Coast Capital has a present legal or constructive obligation
that can be estimated reliably and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
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s) Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rates on the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to
the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items
carried at amortized cost is the difference between amortized cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the
period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period and the amortized cost in foreign currency
translated at the spot exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. Revenues and expenses are translated using
average spot exchange rates. Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognized in the Consolidated
Statement of Income. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
3. Significant Accounting Changes
A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended
December 31, 2013 and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. None of these are
expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of Coast Capital, except as discussed below.
a) IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments
In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 – “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”) which introduced new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets. In October 2010, the IASB issued additions to IFRS 9
relating to financial liabilities. Together, these changes represent the first phase in the IASB’s planned replacement
of IAS 39 – “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” (“IAS 39”) with a less complex and improved
standard for financial instruments.
The standard was originally effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. Since then, the
IASB decided that a new date should be decided upon when the entire IFRS 9 project is closer to completion and
therefore, further amendments made to IFRS 9 in November 2013 removed the mandatory effective date although
early adoption is permitted. IFRS 9 is required to be applied retrospectively.
The main changes to the requirements of IAS 39 are summarized below:
All financial assets that are currently in the scope of IAS 39 will be classified as either amortized cost or fair value.
The available-for-sale, held-to-maturity and loans and receivables categories will no longer exist. Classification of
financial assets is based on an entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and their contractual cash
flow characteristics. Reclassifications between the two categories are prohibited unless there is a change in the
entity’s business model.
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if two criteria are met: (i) the objective of the business model is
to hold the financial asset for the collection of the contractual cash flows; and (ii) the contractual cash flows of the
instrument are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding. All other financial assets would
be measured at fair value. Movements in the fair value of financial assets classified at fair value are recognized in
profit or loss, except for equity investments where an entity has taken the option to designate at fair value through
Other Comprehensive Income. If this option is taken, all subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in other
comprehensive income with no recycling of gains or losses to the income statement. Dividend income would
continue to be recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
An entity is only permitted to designate a financial asset otherwise meeting the amortized cost criteria at fair value
through profit and loss if doing so significantly reduces or eliminates an accounting mismatch. This designation is
made on initial recognition and is irrevocable.
Financial assets which contain embedded derivatives are to be classified in their entirety either at fair value or
amortized cost depending on whether the contracts as a whole meet the relevant criteria under IFRS 9.
Most of IAS 39’s requirements for financial liabilities are retained, including amortized cost accounting for most
financial liabilities. The guidance on separation of embedded derivatives will continue to apply to host contracts that
are financial liabilities. However, fair value changes attributable to changes in an entity’s own credit risk for financial
liabilities designated under the fair value option other than loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts
are to be presented in the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income unless the treatment would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. These amounts are not subsequently reclassified to the Consolidated
Statement of Income but may be transferred within members’ equity.
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3. Significant Accounting Changes (continued)
The IASB decided to consider making limited amendments to IFRS 9 to address practice and other issues. Meanwhile,
the second and third phases in IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 will address the impairment of financial assets
measured at amortized cost and hedge accounting. The impact of IFRS 9 may change as a consequence of further
developments resulting from the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39. As a result, it is impracticable to quantify the
impact of IFRS 9 as at the date of publication of these consolidated financial statements.
b) IAS 32 – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
IAS 32 outlines the presentation requirements of various financial instruments on financial statements. Recent
amendments to IAS 32 clarify that financial assets and liabilities should be reported as a net amount only if (i) there
is a legally enforceable right to offset the right, and (ii) there is an intention to settle the financial instrument on a net
basis or that there is an intention to settle both the asset and liability simultaneously.
Coast Capital intends to adopt the amendments to IAS 32 in its financial statements for the annual period beginning
on January 1, 2014. The standards require Coast Capital to apply the amendments retrospectively. Coast Capital does
not expect IAS 32 to have a material impact on the financial statements due to the nature of the agreements that it
has with its counterparties.
4. Cash and Cash Resources
2013
Cash

$

Short-term financial investments, classified as AFS
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term financial investments, classified as HTM
Accrued interest

133,613

2012
$

18,508

254,125

152,121

325,514

–

73,717

–
$

71,389

152,121

143
$

399,374

In accordance with provincial legislation, credit unions are required to maintain liquid investments at a minimum of
8 per cent of their deposit and debt liabilities. Within this 8 per cent, credit unions are required to hold with Central 1,
the greater of 1.5 per cent of all British Columbia credit union assets; or 6.0 per cent of their deposits plus borrowings.
Deposits with Central 1 earn interest at short-term market rates. The long-term portion is classified as financial
investments. These funds are not available to finance Coast Capital’s day-to-day operations and as such, are excluded
from cash and cash equivalents.
During the year, Coast Capital reclassified short-term deposits, which were previously designated as HTM, as AFS
to achieve greater flexibility in managing this portfolio.
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5. Financial Investments
2013
Financial investments, designated at FVTPL

$

Financial investments, classified as AFS
Long-term financial investments, classified as HTM
Long-term financial investments, classified as loans and receivables
Accrued interest

25,673

2012
$

32,997

1,186,151

360,898

–

884,860

30,315

–

8,480

7,369

$ 1,250,619

$ 1,286,124

AFS financial investments are primarily comprised of statutory deposits and investments with Central 1, deposit
notes and bankers’ acceptances with Canadian chartered banks, corporate, provincial and municipal bonds rated AA
or higher and commercial paper rated R1 low or higher. During the year, Coast Capital reclassified statutory deposits
and investments with Central 1, which were previously designated as HTM, as AFS to achieve greater flexibility
in managing this portfolio. Long-term statutory deposits and financial investments with Central 1 are a required
investment as a condition of membership in Central 1 and are required by provincial legislation.
Coast Capital is also required to hold a specified number of membership shares in Central 1 as a condition of
membership. The amount of the required equity investment in Central 1 is determined based on Coast Capital’s
membership and assets. Coast Capital also has equity investments in other affiliated co-operative entities that
complement and support the credit union system. All such shares are classified as AFS. Typically, the Central 1
shares are not available for trade in an active market therefore market values are not readily available. In addition,
the variability in the range of fair value estimates based on valuation models is significant. Therefore Coast Capital’s
equity investments in Central 1 are reported at their original cost, $43,950 (2012 – $41,610) because their fair value
cannot be measured reliably. Investments in the other affiliated co-operative organizations have been measured at
fair value, estimated using valuation models.
6. Loans

December 31, 2013
Loan principal
Fair value adjustment for loans at FVTPL
Accrued interest
Total loans
Allowances for credit losses

Residential
mortgages
$ 8,032,838

$

Personal
loans

Commercial
mortgages
and loans

Total

261,053

$ 2,727,098

$ 11,020,989

–

–

316

316

8,952

2,163

9,217

20,332

8,041,790

263,216

2,736,631

11,041,637

6,167

5,800

26,895

38,862

8,035,623

257,416

2,709,736

11,002,775

Impaired loans

15,534

1,606

22,467

39,607

Less amounts where loss not expected

13,451

740

18,599

32,790

2,083

866

3,868

6,817

Specific allowances
Collective allowances
Total allowances for credit losses
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6. Loans (continued)

Residential
mortgages

December 31, 2012
Loan principal

$ 8,013,205

Total
$ 10,785,236

278,989

$ 2,493,042

–

238

238

10,831

822

9,440

21,093

8,024,036

279,811

2,502,720

10,806,567

8,137

3,926

30,444

42,507

Accrued interest
Total loans

Commercial
mortgages
and loans

–

Fair value adjustment for loans at FVTPL

Allowances for credit losses

$

Personal
loans

8,015,899

275,885

2,472,276

10,764,060

Impaired loans

19,937

1,106

29,498

50,541

Less amounts where loss not expected

16,260

106

24,076

40,442

3,677

1,000

5,422

Specific allowances

10,099

Collective allowances

32,408

Total allowances for credit losses

$

42,507

Substantially all of Coast Capital’s loans are written on properties and businesses located in the Metro Vancouver
and Vancouver Island regions of British Columbia. Of the amounts reported above, $7,405,237 (2012 – $7,709,242) is
expected to be received more than 12 months after the reporting date.
Commercial loans also include finance lease receivables for leases of certain property and equipment where Coast
Capital and CCEFL are the lessors:
2013
Gross
investment
in finance
leases
receivable
Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

$

11,754

2012

Unearned
finance
income
$

330,250

Net
investment
in finance
leases
receivable

(1,971)

$

(41,174)

9,783
289,076

Gross
investment
in finance
leases
receivable
$

12,234
305,024

Net
investment
in finance
leases
receivable

Unearned
finance
income
$

(1,942)

$

(39,489)

10,292
265,535

3,258

(578)

2,680

3,927

(764)

3,163

$ 345,262

$ (43,723)

$ 301,539

$ 321,185

$ (42,195)

$ 278,990

7. Allowances for Credit Losses

Residential
mortgages

2013
Balance, beginning of year

$

Provision for credit losses

6,167
0.08%

$

5,800
2.25%

Total
$

(10,676)

204
$

26,895

42,507
5,794

(3,152)

10
$

30,444
(601)

(4,750)

1,023
$

3,926

Commercial
mortgages
and loans

6,614

(2,774)

Recoveries of loans written off
Percentage of total loans

$

(219)

Loans written off
Balance, end of year

8,137

Personal
loans

1,237
$

0.99%
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7. Allowances for Credit Losses (continued)
Residential
mortgages

2012
Balance, beginning of year

$

Provision for credit losses
Loans written off
Recoveries of loans written off
Balance, end of year

6,188

Personal
loans
$

Percentage of total loans

$

32,303

Total
$

43,658

1,959

3,181

2,907

8,047

(1,609)

(4,437)

(4,911)

(10,957)

1,599
$

5,167

Commercial
mortgages
and loans

8,137

15
$

0.10%

3,926

145
$

1.42%

30,444

1,759
$

1.23%

42,507
0.39%

The allowance for credit losses adjusts the value of loans to reflect their estimated realizable value. In assessing their
estimated realizable value, Coast Capital must rely on estimates and exercise judgment as they relate to economic
factors, historical loss experience and specific issues with respect to single borrowers. Changes in circumstances
may cause future assessments of credit risk to be materially different from current assessments, which could require
an increase or decrease in the allowance for credit losses.
8. Credit Quality

Residential
mortgages

2013

Personal
loans

Commercial
mortgages
and loans

Total

$ 2,604,245

$ 2,604,245

100,667

100,667

Grades
1 to 3 – satisfactory risk
4 – watch list
5 – sub-standard but not impaired
Commercial mortgages and loans not impaired
Residential mortgages and personal loans
not impaired

$ 8,017,304

Loans not impaired

$

35

35

2,704,947

2,704,947

259,447

8,276,751

8,017,304

259,447

2,704,947

15,534

1,606

22,467

39,607

8,032,838

261,053

2,727,414

11,021,305

Past due up to 29 days

90,753

6,109

14,882

111,744

Past due 30 – 89 days

25,769

3,127

10,034

38,930

Past due 90 – 179 days

5,979

955

1,420

8,354

Past due over 180 days

10,366

1,306

10,160

21,832

132,867

11,497

36,496

180,860

Past due up to 29 days

90,503

5,911

9,640

106,054

Past due 30 – 89 days

23,732

3,055

3,349

30,136

Past due 90 – 179 days

3,098

925

1,040

5,063

Past due over 180 days

–

–

–

–

117,333

9,891

14,029

141,253

Impaired

10,981,698

Loans past due

Loans past due but not impaired

Loans impaired
250

198

5,242

5,690

Past due 30 – 89 days

Past due up to 29 days

2,037

72

6,685

8,794

Past due 90 – 179 days

2,881

30

380

3,291

Past due over 180 days

10,366

1,306

10,160

21,832

$
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8. Credit Quality (continued)
Residential
mortgages

2012

Personal
loans

Commercial
mortgages
and loans

Total

$ 2,265,918

$ 2,265,918

197,772

197,772

Grades
1 to 3 – satisfactory risk
4 – watch list
5 – sub-standard but not impaired
Commercial mortgages and loans not impaired
Residential mortgages and personal loans not
impaired

$ 7,993,268

Loans not impaired

$

92

92

2,463,782

2,463,782

277,883

8,271,151

7,993,268

277,883

2,463,782

19,937

1,106

29,498

50,541

8,013,205

278,989

2,493,280

10,785,474

Past due up to 29 days

103,119

5,252

20,058

128,429

Past due 30 – 89 days

15,755

2,337

13,058

31,150

Past due 90 – 179 days

7,224

653

2,338

10,215

Past due over 180 days

16,313

321

17,901

34,535

142,411

8,563

53,355

204,329

Past due up to 29 days

102,419

5,059

16,419

123,897

Past due 30 – 89 days

14,822

2,131

6,132

23,085

Past due 90 – 179 days

5,233

267

1,306

6,806

Impaired

10,734,933

Loans past due

Loans past due but not impaired

Past due over 180 days

–

–

–

–

122,474

7,457

23,857

153,788

Past due up to 29 days

700

193

3,639

4,532

Past due 30 – 89 days

933

206

6,926

8,065

1,991

386

1,032

3,409

Loans impaired

Past due 90 – 179 days
Past due over 180 days

16,313
$

19,937

321
$

1,106

17,901
$

29,498

34,535
$

50,541

Credit grades are formally applied to commercial mortgages and loans and comply with provincial regulations.
Residential mortgages and personal loans are tested for impairment on an ongoing basis. If a residential mortgage
or personal loan is 14 days past due but is not deemed to be impaired, management has a formalized process which
queues loans by age for regular monitoring.
Accrued interest of $2,169 (2012 – $3,176) has been accrued on the impaired loans but a specific provision of $1,310
(2012 – $2,313) has been established to reduce the carrying value of this accrual to its estimated net realizable value.
The fair value of the collateral held by Coast Capital as security for impaired loans was $35,418 (2012 – $47,854).
Coast Capital has estimated the fair value of collateral based on an updated assessment of the respective security
appraisal undertaken at the original funding assessment and management’s knowledge of current local economic
conditions.
The collateral and other credit enhancements held by Coast Capital as security for loans include: (i) insurance,
mortgages over residential lots and properties, (ii) recourse to business assets such as real estate, equipment,
inventory and accounts receivable, (iii) recourse to the commercial real estate properties being financed, and
(iv) recourse to liquid assets, guarantees and securities.
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9. Transfers of Mortgage Receivables
As part of its program of liquidity, capital and interest rate risk management, Coast Capital enters into arrangements
to fund mortgage growth by selling loans to unrelated third parties. Coast Capital reviews these securitization
arrangements in order to determine whether they should result in all or a portion of the transferred mortgages
being derecognized from the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The derecognition requirements include an assessment
of whether Coast Capital’s rights to contractual cash flows have expired or have been transferred or whether an
obligation has been undertaken by Coast Capital to pay the cash flows collected on the underlying transferred assets
over to a third party. The derecognition standards also include an assessment of whether substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred.
The amount of residential mortgages, including accrued interest, that were transferred but which were not
derecognized at December 31 was $91,561 (2012 – $50,042). Coast has also recognized $83,464 (2012 – $51,720) of
secured borrowing relating to securitization transactions as Coast Capital did not transfer substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership, principally because it did not transfer prepayment, interest and credit risk of the
mortgages in the securitization. The residential mortgages are categorized as loans and they are held as security
for this secured borrowing. The average weighted-average interest rate on the secured borrowing was 2.08 per cent
(2012 – 3.70 per cent) and mature at the same rate as the underlying mortgages.
As a result of the transactions, Coast Capital receives the net differential between the monthly interest receipts of
the mortgages and the interest expense on the borrowings.
The following table summarizes quantitative information about mortgages securitized by Coast Capital as at
December 31, 2013:

Type of loan
Residential

Total principal
amount of
mortgages
$

Principal
amount of
loans over 60
days past due

91,457

–

Average
balances
$

62,393

Coast Capital has no obligation to repurchase the securitized mortgages. The mortgages and the secured borrowing
mature as follows:

Mortgages
2017

$

2018
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$
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10. Premises and Equipment
Original cost
Balance at January 1, 2012

Land
$

3,229

Buildings
$

17,716

Furniture and
equipment
$

28,212

Leasehold
improvements
$

24,095

Total
$

73,252

Additions during the year

–

104

6,521

4,271

10,896

Disposals during the year

164

1,841

2,295

8

4,308

3,065

15,979

32,438

28,358

79,840

–

3

2,874

879

3,756

Balance at December 31, 2012
Additions during the year
Disposals during the year
Balance at December 31, 2013

2,940
$

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at January 1, 2012

125

14,250
$

Land
$

–

1,732

Buildings
$

10,931

961
$

34,351

Furniture and
equipment
$

16,666

224
$

29,013

18,375
$

65,221

$

39,325

Leasehold
improvements
$

11,728

Total

Depreciation during the year

–

588

4,280

2,468

7,336

Disposals during the year

–

1,585

2,104

5

3,694

Balance at December 31, 2012

–

9,934

18,842

14,191

42,967

Depreciation during the year

–

167

4,450

2,655

7,272

Disposals during the year

–

9,040

278

134

9,452

Balance at December 31, 2013

$

Net book value, 2012
Net book value, 2013

–

$

3,065
$

125

1,061

$

6,045
$

671

23,014

$

13,596
$

11,337

16,712

$

14,167
$

12,301

40,787
36,873

$

24,434

During the year, Coast Capital sold one of its subsidiaries, CCIS, and the related tangible assets to an unrelated third party.
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11. Investment Property
Original cost
Balance at January 1, 2012

$

Additions during the year

–

Disposals during the year

–

Balance at December 31, 2012

1,440

Additions during the year

–

Transfers to/from owner occupied properties

412

Disposals during the year
Balance at December 31, 2013

1,440

–
$

1,852

$

590

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at January 1, 2012
Depreciation during the year

24

Disposals during the year

–

Balance at December 31, 2012

614

Depreciation during the year

31

Transfers to/from owner occupied properties

176

Disposals during the year
Balance at December 31, 2013

–
$

821

$

1,031

Net book value, 2012
Net book value, 2013

826

Investment property is comprised of a property that is not being used for the supply of services or for administrative
purposes and includes a part of a commercial property held by Coast Capital, which is currently not being used for
operational or administrative purposes. The intent is to hold the property until there is adequate capital appreciation
to merit a sale. Occupancy costs related to this property, including repairs and maintenance expenses, were $678
(2012 – $493), and $58 (2012 – $3) was recognized as rental income in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
An external, independent valuation company, having appropriate recognized professional qualifications and
recent experience in the location and category of property being valued, valued the investment property. The fair
value is based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date
of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s-length transaction after proper marketing
wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably and willingly. As at December 31, 2013, the fair value of the
property was $2,250 (2012 – $1,905).
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12. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Original cost
Balance at January 1, 2012

Software
$

38,231

Intangible
assets

Goodwill
$

6,242

$

5,244

Total
$

49,717

Additions during the year

20,806

–

–

20,806

Disposals during the year

202

–

–

202

58,835

6,242

5,244

70,321

4,404

–

–

4,404

Balance at December 31, 2012
Additions during the year
Disposals during the year
Balance at December 31, 2013

30
$

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at January 1, 2012

63,209

5,610
$

Software
$

Amortization during the year
Disposals during the year

5,696

632

4,309
$

$

–
–

9,949
$

Intangible
assets

Goodwill

1,464

935

$

1,985

64,776

Total
$

201

7,681
1,665

1

–

–

1

Balance at December 31, 2012

7,159

–

2,186

9,345

Amortization during the year

4,150

–

80

4,230

Disposals during the year
Balance at December 31, 2013

–
$

Net book value, December 31, 2012
Net book value, December 31, 2013

11,309

–
$

51,676
$

51,900

–

1,340
$

6,242
$

632

926

1,340
$

3,058
$

9

12,235
60,976

$

52,541

During the year, Coast Capital sold one of its subsidiaries, CCIS, and the related intangible assets to an unrelated
third party, which included some customer lists, ICBC licenses and goodwill. As at December 31, 2013, other
intangible assets are comprised of purchased customer lists. Amortization of computer software and customer lists
is recognized in Depreciation and Amortization in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
13. Other Assets
2013
Accounts receivable

$

Prepaid expenses

8,225

2012
$

11,739

Derivatives (note 27)
Other
$

9,528
12,199

1

1,887

16,418

16,806

36,383

$
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14. Deposits
2013

2012

$ 4,369,450

$ 4,110,316

Term

5,437,519

5,538,357

Registered plans

1,445,200

1,471,271

2,344

2,256

Demand

Class A membership shares
Class P non-equity shares

144

153

62,256

66,429

$ 11,316,913

$ 11,188,782

Accrued interest

Of the amounts reported above, $2,409,746 (2012 – $2,515,268) is expected to be recovered or settled more than 12
months after the reporting date.
Class A shares are a membership requirement and are redeemable on demand upon cessation of membership
and accordingly are classified as deposits. These are voting shares with a par value of $1 each. Coast Capital has
authorized an unlimited number of Class A shares. All issued shares are fully paid.
Amounts contributed by members for Class P shares can be withdrawn on demand or redeemed at any time by
Coast Capital and accordingly are classified as deposits. These shares have a life insurance component such that
the shareholder’s estate is paid double the value of the share upon death of the shareholder. These shares do not
participate in any annual dividend. Coast Capital has authorized an unlimited number of Class P shares, each with a
par value of $1. All issued shares are fully paid.
Class A
membership
shares
Balance at January 1, 2012

$

Issued during the year

$

160

Redeemed during the year
Balance at December 31, 2012
Issued during the year
Redeemed during the year
Balance at December 31, 2013

2,161

Class P nonequity shares
–

65

12

2,256

153

753

–

665
$

165

2,344

9
$

144

15. Assets Pledged as Collateral
In the normal course of business, Coast Capital pledges assets to secure credit facilities and other financing
arrangements. Asset pledging transactions are conducted under terms that are common and customary to standard
financing activities. Standard risk management controls are applied with respect to asset pledging.
Assets which are pledged as collateral are related to proceeds from securitizations and other borrowings. Coast
Capital has pledged its assets to Central 1 through a general security agreement in relation to its borrowing line. As
at December 31, 2013, Coast Capital has also pledged $83,464 (2012 – $50,042) of residential mortgages in relation to
its Borrowings secured by loans and has $175,000 of other borrowings secured by $262,500 of mortgages insured by
the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation.
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16. Borrowings
Maturity date

Interest rate

January 3, 2014

Maturity date

1.6450%

2013
$

175,000

$

175,000

$

30,000

Interest rate

2012

January 4, 2013

1.7700%

January 9, 2013

1.7700%

50,000

January 10, 2013

1.7700%

50,000

January 11, 2013

1.7800%

50,000

January 11, 2013

1.7700%

50,000

January 15, 2013

1.7700%

30,000

January 18, 2013

1.7800%

30,000

January 28, 2013

1.7900%

25,000

February 5, 2013

1.7150%

100,000

February 5, 2013

1.7150%

25,000

February 19, 2013

1.7150%

75,000

February 28, 2013

1.8500%

50,000
$

565,000

Coast Capital has the ability to borrow up to 5 per cent of its total assets from Central 1. Borrowings would be secured
by a debenture in favour of Central 1, creating a floating charge on the assets and undertakings of Coast Capital, and
an assignment of book debts.
17. Provisions
Total
Balance at December 31, 2012

$

Provisions made during the period

1,998
1,660

Provisions used during the period

–

Provisions reversed during the period

(288)

Balance at December 31, 2013

$

3,370

Provisions generally relate to various items arising in the normal course of operations based on management’s best
estimate of the future obligations. Coast Capital expects to incur most of the liabilities over the next five years.
18. Other Liabilities
2013
Accounts payable and accruals

$

53,962

2012
$

58,974

Derivatives (note 27)

4,207

3,551

Deferred fee income

1,457

2,778

$

59,626

$
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19. Capital Management
IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, requires Coast Capital to disclose information that enables users of its
financial statements to evaluate the entity’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital.
a) Objectives, policies and processes
Coast Capital’s objectives in managing financial capital resources include: generating value to all stakeholders but
primarily to members while ensuring the long-term viability of the credit union by holding a level of capital deemed
sufficient to protect against unanticipated losses; providing prudent depositor security; and exceeding applicable
regulatory requirements and long-term internal targets.
Coast Capital’s policy is to hold capital in a range of different forms and from diverse sources but with an emphasis
on growing retained earnings. Retained earnings represent the highest quality, the most stable, and the least
expensive form of capital.
To ensure processes are in place to meet its objectives, Coast Capital follows policies approved by the Board of
Directors. Management monitors capital levels on a regular basis. The capital plan is updated annually and provides
a forecast of capital requirements over a three-year horizon.
Coast Capital’s Finance and Treasury departments manage compliance with policies monthly, with regular
monitoring by the Asset and Liability Committee (“ALCO”). ALCO is chaired by the Chief Financial Officer, and
includes the senior executive management team. Departures from policy are reported to the Board of Directors’ Risk
Review Committee with a detailed action plan to resolve any deviation.
b) Regulatory capital
Total capital comprises both primary and secondary capital. Capital requirements are regulated by the Financial
Institutions Commission of British Columbia (“FICOM”) using the risk-weighted approach developed by the Bank
for International Settlements (“BIS”). FICOM established a minimum regulatory capital standard based on a ratio
of capital to risk-weighted assets of 8.0 per cent or $474,191 (2012 – $455,574). In addition, FICOM has now set a
supervisory target of 10 per cent and also requires a credit union to set its own internal capital target above this limit,
which Coast Capital has set at 13 per cent. At least 50 per cent of a credit union’s capital base, for the purpose of
meeting the standard, must consist of primary capital, known as Tier 1.
Tier 1 capital is the permanent capital of Coast Capital, comprised primarily of retained earnings but also voting
shares, qualifying investment shares, and contributed surplus. It is offset by deferred income tax assets and various
capital deductions such as goodwill as prescribed by FICOM. Investment share redemption is subject to limitations,
reviewed at least annually, ensuring adequate capital for both regulatory and operational purposes.
Secondary capital, also known as Tier 2 capital, includes subordinated debentures, other investment shares,
and 50 per cent of a credit union’s portion of retained earnings in the Credit Union Deposit Insurance Corporation
(“CUDIC”), Central 1 and Stabilization Central Credit Union (“Stab Central”).
A credit union’s assets are weighted according to six categories of relative risk ranging from 0 per cent to
200 per cent. Residential mortgages, the largest portion of Coast Capital’s assets, are risk-weighted on average at
35 per cent, while commercial loans, the second largest portion, are risk-weighted at 100 per cent.
As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, Coast Capital’s capital ratio was greater than the minimum requirement and
Coast Capital reported the following components of regulatory capital:
2013
Tier 1 capital

$

Tier 2 capital
Total capital
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821,343

2012
$

84,628
$

905,971

663,579
82,657

$

746,236
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20. Net Interest Income
Interest income
Loans

2013
$

Financial assets, designated at FVTPL
Financial investments, classified as AFS
Deposits with Central 1, classified as loans and receivables

410,666

2012
$

400,066

741

1,047

20,337

12,805

969

11,598

$

432,713

$

425,516

$

184,436

$

180,246

Interest expense
Deposits
Borrowings

4,694

8,036

Derivatives

1,754

2,335

Secured borrowings

1,128

1,263

192,012
Net interest income

$

240,701

191,880
$

233,636

21. Other Income
2013
Credit card revenues

$

Safety deposit box rental income
Gains on financial investments measured at FVTPL
Other

4,837

2012
$

1,452

503

2,838

2,712
$

4,252

1,571

9,623

3,649
$

12,191

During the year, Coast Capital engaged in a number of transactions, as a part of its strategic plan, to maintain
sufficient resources to optimize its existing core business activities, while at the same time to focus and develop the
key competencies of the organization for the long term.
As a result, a number of properties owned by Coast Capital were sold. These sale transactions resulted in gains
which are included in the Gain on Sale of Assets and Shares.
Furthermore, in July 2013, Coast Capital entered into an agreement to sell 100 per cent of its shares in CCIS
to Western Financial Group (WFG). Management committed a plan to sell this operation in the first half of 2013
following a strategic decision to focus on and grow the core banking business and to enable CCIS to access resources
required for it to become a leader in the insurance industry. WFG purchased all of the general insurance business
operations from Coast Capital as a part of this transaction. CCIS offered general insurance products through 30 retail
insurance offices across Vancouver Island and Metro Vancouver. Through these operations, members purchased a
variety of insurance products, including habitational, auto, travel, marine and commercial products. The gain on sale
of CCIS was $88,796 and is included in the Gain on Sale of Assets and Shares.
At the same time, CCS formed a new wholly owned subsidiary, Coast Capital Financial Management Ltd. (“CCFM”).
CCFM will continue to operate the investment services business line that was offered through CCIS.
22. Salaries and Employee Benefits
2013
Salaries

$

Benefits

103,071

2012
$

105,968

12,203

12,647

Post-employment benefits

6,771

6,383

Termination benefits

7,712

2,612

40

93

Other
$

129,797

$
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23. Administration Expenses
2013
ATM/POS operations

$

12,668

2012
$

12,919

CUDIC assessments

8,143

6,208

Central 1 and FICOM assessments

3,052

2,975

Chequing service charges

3,613

3,858

Marketing

4,892

6,050

Bonding and other insurance

1,859

1,559

Professional services

9,603

6,454

Stationery, telephone and postage

6,267

5,463

Travel, meals and entertainment

2,129

2,285

Loan processing

1,032

1,324

Courier

924

993

Training and recruitment

378

428

6,260

6,472

Other
$

60,820

$

56,988

24. Provision for Income Taxes
2013

2012

Current income taxes
Current year

$

28,447

$

9,969

$

28,447

$

9,969

Deferred income taxes
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

3,283

Change in estimate of tax rate

3,364

(1,300)

22

1,983
Total income taxes

$

30,430

3,386
$

13,355

Income tax expense differs from the amount that would be computed by applying the federal and provincial
statutory income tax rates of 25.75 per cent (2012 – 25 per cent) to income before income taxes. The reasons for the
differences are as follows:
2013

Combined federal and provincial statutory
income taxes

$

Reduction applicable to credit unions
Change in estimate of tax rates
Change in estimate of tax reversals
Other
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% of pre-tax
income

46,623

25.8

–

Reduction applicable to capital gains

Effective income tax rate

Amount

$

2012

$

0.0

Amount

% of pre-tax
income

21,450

25.0

(7,589)

(8.8)

(15,239)

(8.4)

(528)

(0.6)

(1,300)

(0.7)

22

0.0

(771)

(0.4)

35

0.0

1,117

0.6

(35)

0.0

30,430

16.9

$

13,355

15.6
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24. Provision for Income Taxes (continued)
The components of the net deferred income tax asset are as follows:
2013
Allowance for credit losses

$

Deferred revenue/prepaid expense

7,822

2012
$

(1,883)

6,697
(1,593)

Restructuring costs

1,476

499

Employee future benefits

1,226

1,006

Capital and intangible assets

1,229

4,718

Other

(52)
$

9,818

(475)
$

10,852

25. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
a) Commitments
Lease commitments
Coast Capital occupies premises under long-term leases extending to 2027. Aggregate basic annual lease payments
are as follows:
2013
Not later than 1 year

$

Later than 1 year and less than 5 years

12,487

2012
$

32,739

Later than 5 years

16,386
$

61,612

11,849
31,123
6,766

$

49,738

During the year ended December 31, 2013 an amount of $18,304 was recognized as an expense in the Statement of
Income in respect of operating leases for minimum lease payments (2012 – $16,320) and $188 was recognized as an
expense in the Statement of Income in respect of operating leases for sublease payments (2012 – $198).
Coast Capital leases a number of premises for its administrative functions and for its branch operations. The leases
typically run for a period of 5 to 10 years and most agreements have an option to renew the leases for an additional 5
to 10 years after that date at rates which reflect prevailing market prices. Also, at two branch locations, Coast Capital
has the right of first refusal to purchase the leased premises from the lessors.
Credit instruments
Coast Capital enters into various off-balance-sheet commitments such as letters of credit and loan commitments.
These are not reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. In the normal course of business, many of these
arrangements will expire or terminate without being drawn upon, and therefore the actual credit risk is expected to
be less than the amounts set forth. Details of these are as follows:
2013

2012

Lines of credit, unfunded

$ 1,702,476

$ 1,879,369

Letters of credit

$

$

38,460

26,204

Coast Capital, as part of its commercial lending services program, issues letters of credit and guarantees. These are
issued in the normal course of business. Coast Capital issues guarantees that commercial clients will perform certain
work or services on behalf of third parties. Additionally, Coast Capital may issue guarantees to facilitate commercial
trade of goods and services between clients and third parties. Coast Capital’s policy for requiring collateral security with
respect to these instruments held is generally the same as for loans. As at December 31, 2013, all but $16,321 (2012 –
$5,931) of the total letters of credit and guarantees issued were secured by deposits by the borrower with Coast Capital.
Management estimates that there will be no losses under these obligations that require an allowance for credit losses.
b) Contingencies
Coast Capital is involved in various claims arising in the normal course of business and provisions for these claims
have been included in liabilities where management has considered this to be appropriate. We do not expect the
outcome of any of these proceedings, in aggregate, to have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or
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25. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (continued)
our results of operations. Specific claims have arisen related to the actions of a former employee in our Investment
Services area. Management believes, based on available information, that the probability of a material net cash
outflow arising from this matter is low.
26. Interest Rate Sensitivity Position
Interest rate risk results from differences in the maturities or repricing dates of interest rate sensitive assets and
liabilities, both on and off the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The resultant mismatch, or gap, as it is commonly called,
may produce favourable or unfavourable variances on interest margins depending on the direction of the gap, the
direction of interest rate movements and/or the volatility of those interest rates. The maturity or repricing profiles
change daily in the ordinary course of business as members select different terms of mortgages, member loans and
deposits.
Fixed-rate terms
0–3
months

4–6
months

7–12
months

1–3
years

3+
years

Noninterest
sensitive

Total

%

–

86,780

103,437

183,902

600,937

265,711

161,973

1,402,740

1.31

4,109,591

252,485

185,795

443,644 2,740,874 3,295,333

(24,947) 11,002,775

3.53

Variable
rate

2013
Asset
Cash and
investments
Loans
Other assets
Asset yield

–

–

–

4,109,591

339,265

289,232

3.36%

3.79%

3.15%

–

–

–

627,546 3,341,811 3,561,044
3.32%

3.29%

3.25%

722,808 2,005,439 1,985,186

424,563

124,207

124,207

–

261,233 12,529,722
–

–

3.25

984,338 11,316,913

1.83

Liabilities
Deposits

3,646,832 1,547,747

Borrowings

175,000

–

–

–

–

–

Borrowings secured
by loans

–

–

–

–

–

Other liabilities

–

–

–

–

–

3,821,832 1,547,747
Total Liability cost

722,808 2,005,439 1,985,186

–

175,000

2.00

83,464

–

83,464

2.31

–

82,024

82,024

–

508,027 1,066,362 11,657,401

0.95%

1.80%

1.85%

1.78%

2.24%

1.97%

–

–

1.44

36,454

–

–

–

–

–

–

36,454

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

838,142

838,142

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

36,454

–

–

–

–

–

Members’ equity
Class B shares
Retained earnings
Accumulated other
comprehensive
loss
Balance sheet
mismatch

(2,275)
835,867

251,305 (1,208,482) (433,576) (1,377,893) 1,356,625 3,053,017 (1,640,996)

(2,275)

–

872,321

–

–

–

Derivatives
Asset

–

127,654

–

–

–

–

–

127,654

1.38

Liabilities

–

–

–

30,000

76,759

20,895

–

127,654

2.88

–

127,654

–

(30,000)

(76,759)

(20,895)

–

–

–
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Net mismatch

251,305 (1,080,828) (433,576) (1,407,893) 1,279,866 3,032,122 (1,640,996)

–

–

26. Interest Rate Sensitivity Position (continued)
Fixed-rate terms

2012

Variable
rate

0–3
months

4–6
months

7–12
months

1–3
years

3+
years

Noninterest
sensitive

Total

%

165,710

487,883

376,690

136,288

1,685,498

1.37

(26,610) 10,764,060

3.58

Asset
Cash and
investments
Loans
Other assets
Asset yield

–

434,811

84,116

4,260,008

151,656

107,282

–

–

–

4,260,008

586,467

191,398

3.32%

1.99%

3.45%

271,374 2,159,085 3,841,265
–

–

–

437,084 2,646,968 4,217,955
3.67%

3.48%

3.35%

779,477 2,244,633 1,867,727

519,162

149,947

149,947

259,625 12,599,505
–

–
–

–

3.24

889,164 11,188,782

1.89

Liabilities
Deposits
Borrowings
Borrowings secured
by loans
Other liabilities

3,455,837 1,432,782
565,000

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

51,720

22

–

–

–

–

779,477 2,244,633 1,919,447

519,162

4,020,859 1,432,782
Total liability cost

–

565,000

2.00

–

–

51,720

2.38

–

69,542

69,564

0.00

0.82%

1.68%

1.98%

2.01%

2.35%

2.75%

38,892

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

38,892

–

–

–

–

–

958,706 11,875,066
–

–

–

1.49

–

38,892

–

688,091

688,091

–

Members’ equity
Class B shares
Retained earnings
Accumulated other
comprehensive
loss
Balance sheet
mismatch

200,257

(846,315) (588,079) (1,807,549)

(2,544)
685,547

727,521 3,698,793 (1,384,628)

(2,544)

–

724,439

–

–

–

Derivatives
Asset

–

199,209

–

–

–

–

–

199,209

1.40

Liabilities

–

11,025

30,000

30,000

90,000

38,184

–

199,209

2.86

–

188,184

(30,000)

(30,000)

(90,000)

(38,184)

–

–

–

–

–

Net mismatch

200,257

(658,131) (618,079) (1,837,549)

637,521 3,660,609 (1,384,628)

In managing interest rate risk, Coast Capital relies primarily upon its contractual interest rate sensitivity position
adjusted for certain assumptions regarding customer behaviour preferences, which are based upon historical trends.
Adjustments made include assumptions relating to early repayment of loans and customer preferences for demand,
notice and redeemable deposits.
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27. Derivative Instruments
All derivative instruments, including hedging derivatives, are recorded at their fair value in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet.
Types of derivatives
Coast Capital enters into the following types of derivatives:
• Interest rate swaps: these are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange a series of cash flows and
are tools that Coast Capital uses to manage interest rate risk. Generally, counterparties exchange fixed and floating
rate interest payments on a notional value. These contracts are linked to and adjust the interest rate sensitivity of
a specific asset, liability, forecasted transaction or a specific pool of transactions with similar risk characteristics.
Notional amounts are not exchanged.
• Options: these are contractual agreements that convey to the buyer the right but not the obligation to either buy or
sell a specified amount of a currency, commodity, interest rate sensitive financial instrument or security at a fixed
future date or at any time within a fixed future period.
In addition, Coast Capital can classify the derivatives it uses into two broad categories according to their intended purpose:
Trading derivatives
Trading derivatives are transacted to generate trading income or include interest rate swaps that do not qualify
as hedges for accounting purposes. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are recorded in Other Income in
the Consolidated Statement of Income. Unrealized gains on trading derivatives are recorded as Other Assets and
unrealized losses on trading derivatives are recorded as Other Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Hedging derivatives
A derivative will qualify as a hedge if the hedge relationship is designated and formally documented at inception,
detailing the particular risk management objective and strategy for the hedge, the specific asset, liability or cash flow
being hedged, as well as how effectiveness will be assessed.
The effectiveness of these hedging relationships is evaluated at inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis,
both retrospectively and prospectively using quantitative statistical measures of correlation. Cash flows or changes
in the fair value of the derivative must be highly effective in offsetting either cash flows or changes in the fair value,
respectively, of on-balance-sheet items. Changes in the fair value of hedging derivatives, to the extent that they are
effective, are either offset in the Consolidated Statement of Income against the changes in the fair value of the risk
being hedged, or recorded in OCI, in the case of unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges. During the year,
Coast Capital recognized a gain of $115 (2012 – $105) on effective fair value hedges due to gains of $37 (2012 – $175)
on hedging instruments and gains on related hedged items of $78 (2012 – $(69)). During the year, Coast Capital
recognized a loss of $9 (2012 – $(147)) for ineffectiveness in cash flow hedges, which is recognized in interest expense
in the Consolidated Statement of Income as it arises.
Cash flow hedges are a type of hedging derivative used to modify exposure to variability in cash flows for
variable‑rate interest bearing instruments or the forecasted issuance of fixed-rate liabilities. Coast Capital records
interest receivable or payable on the derivative as an adjustment to interest in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
For cash flow hedges that are discontinued prior to the end of the original hedge term, the unrealized gain or
loss in OCI is amortized to interest in the Consolidated Statement of Income as the hedged item impacts earnings.
If the hedged item is sold or settled, the entire unrealized gain or loss is recognized in interest in the Consolidated
Statement of Income.
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27. Derivative Instruments (continued)
Coast Capital has the following derivatives:
Notional amounts
Maturities of derivatives
0–12
months

1–3 years

3–5 years

Total 2013

Total 2012

Fair values
2013

Fair values
2012

Interest rate swaps
Pay fixed

$

Total interest rate swaps

30,000

20,895

$ 127,654

$ 199,209

30,000

$

76,759
76,759

$

20,895

127,654

199,209

$

(4,207)

$

50,000

–

–

50,000

–

22

–

6,500

–

–

6,500

1,000

(21)

–

56,500

–

–

56,500

1,000

1

–

20,895

$ 184,154

$ 200,209

(4,207)

(1,664)
(1,664)

Options
Forward contracts
U.S. currency options
Total options
Total derivative
contracts

$

86,500

$

76,759

$

$

(4,206)

$

(1,664)

Notional amounts are the contract amounts used to calculate the cash flows to be exchanged. They are a common
measure of volume of outstanding transactions, but do not represent credit or market risk exposure.
The following tables indicate the periods in which the hedged cash flows associated with cash flow hedges are
expected to occur and affect profit or loss:

2013
Assets

Expected Cash
Flows
$

Liabilities
Net cash outflow

2012
Assets

$

(405)
$

(405)

Expected Cash
Flows
$

Liabilities
Net cash outflow

–

Less than 1
year

–
(2,687)

$

(405)
$

(405)

$

–

$

(1,854)

–

1–5 years
$

(1,854)
$

–

More than 5
years
$

–

Less than 1
year

(2,687)
$

–

1–5 years

–

$

(833)

–

More than 5
years
$

(833)
$

–
–

–
–

$

–

28. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The following table represents the fair values of Coast Capital’s financial instruments, including derivatives.
The fair value of financial investments is determined by using quoted market values when available. For financial
assets and liabilities where market quotes are not available, including loans and deposits, Coast Capital uses
valuation techniques to estimate fair value. These techniques include discounted cash flow models based on interest
rates being offered for similar types of assets and liabilities with similar terms and risks as at the balance sheet date.
These techniques incorporate Coast Capital’s estimate of assumptions that a market participant would make when
valuing the instruments.
Fair values of other financial assets and liabilities are assumed to approximate their carrying values, principally
due to their short-term nature. Fair values of derivative financial instruments have been based on market price
quotations. No fair values have been determined for capital assets or any other asset or liability that is not a financial
instrument.
The under noted fair values, presented for information only, reflect conditions that existed only at the respective
balance sheet dates and do not necessarily reflect future value or the amounts Coast Capital might receive or pay if
it were to dispose of any of its financial instruments prior to their maturity.
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28. Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)
2013
Book value

Fair value

Difference

2012
Book value

Fair value

Difference

Assets
Cash and short-term investments

$

152,121 $

Financial investments at FVTPL

152,121

$

– $

399,374 $

398,323

26,631

26,631

–

34,280

34,280

1,193,442

1,193,442

–

362,556

362,556

–

–

–

889,288

887,191

Loans

11,002,775

11,041,838

39,063

10,764,060

10,835,265

Other

24,643

24,683

40

26,335

26,335

Financial investments, AFS
Financial investments, HTM

$

(1,051)
–
–
(2,097)
71,205
–

$ 12,399,612 $ 12,438,715

$

39,103 $ 12,475,893 $ 12,543,950

$

68,057

$ 11,316,913 $ 11,355,571

$

38,658 $ 11,188,782 $ 11,236,712

$

47,930

Liabilities
Deposits
Secured borrowings
Borrowings
Other
Derivatives

83,464

81,374

(2,090)

51,720

51,319

(401)

175,000

174,976

(24)

565,000

564,425

(575)

61,539

61,539

64,522

64,522

–

$ 11,636,916 $ 11,673,460

$

$

$

(4,206) $

(4,206)

36,544 $ 11,870,024 $ 11,916,978
– $

(1,664) $

(1,664)

–
$

46,954

$

–

Derivatives are comprised of instruments in an asset position, with a carrying value as at December 31, 2013 of $
1 (2012 – $1,887) and instruments in a liability position, with a carrying value as at December 31, 2013 of $4,207
(2012 – $3,551). The change in the fair value of the derivatives is comprised of changes in market conditions and
changes in counterparty credit risk. Coast Capital measures credit risk at each reporting date by incorporating a
quantitative measure of credit risk, which is based on each counterparties’ credit rating as determined by credit
rating agencies, into its valuations of financial instruments.
Coast Capital follows a fair value hierarchy to categorize the inputs used to measure fair value. The fair value
hierarchy is based on quoted prices in active markets (Level 1), models based on observable inputs (Level 2), or
models using significant inputs that are not based on observable market data (Level 3).
2013
Available
for sale
securities
Level 1 – Valued using
quoted market prices $

232,379 $

Level 2 – Valued using
internal models (with
observable inputs)

932,658

Level 3 – Valued using
internal models
(without observable
inputs)
Total

78

Trading
securities

–
$ 1,165,037 $

Coast Capital Savings Credit Union

26,631

Financial
asset
designated
as FVTPL
$

–

–
26,631

$

Financial
assets
disclosed
at FV

Derivative instruments
Asset

– $

– $

–

1

15,660

–

15,660 $

1 $

Liability
–

(4,207)

–

$

Financial
liabilities
disclosed
at FV

– $

–

–

–

11,066,521

(11,673,299)

(4,207) $ 11,066,521 $ (11,673,299)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
28. Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)
2012
Available
for sale
securities

Trading
securities

Financial
asset
designated
as FVTPL

Asset

Level 1 – Valued using
quoted market prices $

308,975 $

Level 2 – Valued using
internal models (with
observable inputs)

259,239

–

–

1,887

Level 3 – Valued using
internal models
(without observable
inputs)

–

–

16,074

–

Total

$

568,214 $

34,279

34,279

$

$

– $

16,074 $

Financial
assets
disclosed
at FV

Derivative instruments

– $

1,887 $

Liability
–

$

(3,551)

–

Financial
liabilities
disclosed
at FV

– $

–

–

–

11,748,791

(11,916,978)

(3,551) $ 11,748,791 $ (11,916,978)

During the year, there were no transfers of financial instruments between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
Level 2 financial instruments consist of AFS securities, which are comprised of statutory deposits and investments
with Central 1, other fixed-income securities and money market instruments and derivative instruments. Discounted
cash flow valuation models are used to determine the present value of the securities. Discount rates are based on
observable market inputs, other than quoted prices, which include relevant interest rates pertaining to the value of
the assets.
Level 3 financial instruments consist of a commercial loan which has been designated at FVTPL. A market comparison
model is used to determine the current market price of a comparable commercial asset. The current market price is
based on commercial lending rates in accordance with internal pricing guidelines and these rates are not entirely based
on observable market inputs. As at December 31, a comparable commercial asset would have been quoted a rate of 2.8
per cent and would have an estimated value of $15,660. During the year, there were no transfers of financial instruments
neither in nor out of Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The following table reconciles the opening and closing totals:
Valued using internal models (without observable inputs)
Balance, beginning of year

2013
$

16,074

2012
$

16,617

Purchases

–

–

Redemptions

–

–

Issues

–

Settlements
Interest/dividends

(1,054)

560

Fair value adjustments
Balance, ending of year

–

(1,051)

580

77
$

15,660

(69)
$

16,074

Fair value adjustments are included in Other Income in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Holding other assumptions constant, changing the current market rate used in the model to reasonably possible
alternative assumptions would change the fair value of the commercial loan as follows:

Change in fair value

1% increase

1% decrease

$

$

(389)
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29. Classification of Financial Instruments

2013

FVTPL

AFS

HTM

Hedging

Loans and
receivables

Financial
liabilities

Nonfinancial
instruments

Total

Financial assets
Cash

– $

– $

– $

– $

Short-term investments

$

–

18,508

–

–

–

–

–

18,508

Short-term deposits
with Central 1

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Long-term deposits
with Central 1

–

–

–

–

30,315

–

–

30,315

25,673

1,186,151

–

–

–

–

–

1,211,824

957

7,292

–

–

231

–

–

8,480

Other investments
Accrued interest

– $

– $

133,613 $

133,613

Loans

–

–

–

– 11,002,775

–

–

11,002,775

Derivatives

1

–

–

–

–

–

1

–

Premises and
equipment

–

–

–

–

–

–

24,434

24,434

Investment property

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,031

1,031

Deferred income
tax assets

–

–

–

–

–

–

9,818

9,818

–

–

24,115

–

64,808

88,923

Other assets

–

–

$ 26,631 $ 1,211,951 $

– $

– $11,191,049 $

$

– $

– $

– $ 100,091 $ 12,529,722

Financial liabilities
and equity
Deposits

– $

– $

– $ 11,316,913 $

– $ 11,316,913

Borrowings secured
by loans

–

–

–

–

–

83,464

–

83,464

Borrowings

–

–

–

–

–

175,000

–

175,000

Derivatives

4,207

3,819

–

–

388

–

–

–

Provisions

–

–

–

–

–

3,370

–

3,370

Income taxes payable

–

–

–

–

–

–

19,028

19,028

Other liabilities

–

–

–

–

–

55,419

–

55,419

Equity

–

–

–

–

–

–

872,321

872,321

– $

– $

$

80

3,819 $
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388 $

– $ 11,634,166 $ 891,349 $ 12,529,722
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29. Classification of Financial Instruments (continued)

2012

FVTPL

AFS

HTM

Hedging

Loans and
receivables

Financial
liabilities

Nonfinancial
instruments

Total

Financial assets
Cash

– $

– $

– $

– $

Short-term investments

$

–

254,125

–

–

–

–

–

254,125

Short-term deposits with
Central 1

–

–

73,717

–

–

–

–

73,717

Long-term deposits with
Central 1

–

–

851,859

–

33,001

–

–

884,860

32,997

360,898

–

–

–

–

–

393,895

1,282

1,797

4,432

–

–

–

–

7,511

–

–

–

– 10,764,060

–

–

10,764,060

Other investments
Accrued interest
Loans
Derivatives

– $

– $

71,389 $

71,389

1,887

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,887

Premises and equipment

–

–

–

–

–

–

36,873

36,873

Investment property

–

–

–

–

–

–

826

826

Deferred income
tax assets

–

–

–

–

–

–

10,852

10,852

–

–

–

–

24,317

–

75,193

99,510

Other assets

$ 36,166 $ 616,820 $ 930,008 $

– $10,892,767 $

$

– $

– $ 123,744 $ 12,599,505

Financial liabilities
and equity
Deposits

– $

– $

– $

– $ 11,188,782 $

– $ 11,188,782

Borrowings secured
by loans

–

–

–

–

–

51,720

–

51,720

Borrowings

–

–

–

–

–

565,000

–

565,000

Derivatives

2,529

–

–

1,022

–

–

–

3,551

–

–

–

–

–

1,998

–

1,998

Provisions
Income taxes payable

–

–

–

–

–

–

2,263

2,263

Other liabilities

–

–

–

–

–

61,752

–

61,752

Equity

–

–

–

–

–

–

724,439

724,439

– $

– $

$

2,529 $

1,022 $

– $ 11,869,252 $ 726,702 $ 12,599,505
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30. Related-party Transactions
Related parties of Coast Capital include subsidiaries, key management personnel and close family members of key
management personnel.
A number of transactions were entered into with key management personnel in the normal course of business:
Outstanding loans to:
Key management personnel

2013
$

Other employees

1,698

2012
$

301,523
$

303,221

1,840
274,802

$

276,642

Loans are advanced to employees at interest rates that range from market rates to preferred rates but directors are
not eligible for this employee benefit. No individual allowances for credit losses have been recognized with respect
to these loans (2012 – nil). Employee loans are recorded at their fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheet with
the difference between market values and carrying values being recognized as Salaries and employee benefits in the
Consolidated Statement of Income.
Outstanding deposits from:
Key management personnel

2013
$

Other employees

407

2012
$

68,949
$

69,356

765
96,187

$

96,952

The deposits possess the same terms and conditions as those extended to unrelated parties.
During the year, the following compensation was charged to Salaries and employee benefits in the Consolidated
Statement of Income for key management personnel who are managers of Coast Capital and who have the authority
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of Coast Capital, directly or indirectly. These
key management personnel are comprised of the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating
Officer, Chief Commercial Officer, Chief Marketing & Strategy Officer, Chief Transformation Officer, Chief Risk Officer
and Chief Information Officer.
2013
Short-term employee benefits

$

Post-employment benefits

3,723

2012
$

272

Other long-term benefits
Termination benefits
$

3,759
243

673

955

4,668

4,957

–

53

4,668

$

5,010

Employee benefits include amounts earned in that year. Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits which
are payable within twelve months after December 31 of each year. This includes gross wages, incentive payments, all
taxable/company-paid benefits and perquisite allowances. Post-employment benefits are employee benefits which
are payable after the completion of employment and this includes compensation made to retirement and pension
plans. Other long-term employee benefits are employee benefits which are payable more than twelve months after
December 31 of each year. This includes compensation under the long-term incentive plan. Termination benefits
are employee benefits payable as a result of an employee’s employment being terminated and include severance
payments and accruals for pending severance offers.
During the year, members of the Board of Directors, who are also considered key management personnel under IFRS,
received remuneration of $693 (2012 – $720). Directors do not receive or pay preferred rates on products and services
offered by the credit union and are only compensated with short-term Directors’ fees and related statutory benefits.
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31. Pension Plan
Coast Capital is a participating member of the B.C. Credit Union Employees’ Pension Plan (the “Plan”), a multiemployer contributory defined benefit plan which is administered by Central 1.
Under IFRS, an employer is required to account for its participation in a multi-employer plan in respect of its
proportionate share of assets, liabilities and costs in the same fashion as for any other defined benefit plan except in
the circumstances where the information is not available to the employer, as follows:
• There is insufficient information available to enable the employer to use defined benefit accounting.
• The Plan exposes the participating employers to actuarial risks associated with the current and former employees
of other entities with the result that there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, plan
assets and costs to individual entities participating in the Plan.
The Plan has informed Coast Capital that insufficient information is available to enable defined benefit accounting for
the Plan. In particular, the investments made from contributions are not tracked on an individual employer basis to
enable an apportionment of Plan assets to the respective member employers. Furthermore, the Plan exposes each of
the employers to common actuarial risks of all of the members with the consequence that, in management’s opinion,
there is no reasonable and consistent basis of allocation of the actuarial assets (liabilities).
An actuarial valuation of the overall Plan was carried out as at December 31, 2012 and it was determined that the
overall Plan was 87 per cent funded on a going concern basis. The next actuarial review is scheduled for the period
ending December 31, 2015 and should be available in September 2016. Pension expense of $2,992 (2012 – $2,735)
in respect of contributions paid into the Plan in 2013 has been charged to Salaries and Employee Benefits in the
Consolidated Statement of Income. Contributions to the plan in 2014 are expected to be $4,047.
In addition to the Plan, Coast Capital also provides a group RRSP to its employees, whereby all of the contributions
are funded by Coast Capital. Pension expense of $3,490 (2012 – $3,369) in respect of contributions paid into this plan
in 2013 has been charged to Salaries and Employee Benefits in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
Coast Capital also provides other post-retirement benefits to its eligible employees. The obligations are comprised
of the amount of future benefits that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods
and the benefits are discounted to determine its present value. The health care plans (“Health Care Plans”) obtain an
actuarial valuation once every three years. The latest actuarial valuation was performed as at December 31, 2013 and
the next valuation will be completed as at December 31, 2016.
Risks associated with this plan are similar to those of similar benefit plans, including market risk, interest rate risk,
bankruptcy/insolvency risk, currency risk, longevity risk, etc.
The weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 9 years as at December 31, 2013.
2013
Benefit obligation – beginning of year

$

Current service costs
Interest costs
Benefit payments

5,128

2012
$

5,145

226

74

62

204

(450)

(417)

(100)

(58)

Actuarial (gain) loss, due to:
Experience adjustments
Changes in demographic assumptions

249

Changes in financial assumptions
Benefit obligation – end of year

–

(222)
$

4,893

180
$

5,128

Pension expense of $288 (2012 – $278) has been charged to Salaries and Employee Benefits in the Consolidated
Statement of Income. Any actuarial gains and losses are recognized in OCI in the period in which they arise.
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31. Pension Plan (continued)
2013
Cumulative actuarial gains at January 1

$

(874)

$

(801)

Actuarial gains (losses) in the year
Cumulative actuarial losses at December 31

2012
$

73

(752)
(122)

$

(874)

The main actuarial assumptions used for the accounting valuations are summarized in the following table:
Assumptions

2013

2012

Discount rate

4.3%

3.6%

Rate of compensation increase

5.0%

5.0%

Inflation for 10 years

2.3%

2.3%

Provincial medical services plan trend rate for 10 years

4.0%

4.0%

Dental benefits trend rate for 10 years

5.0%

5.0%

Extended health benefits trend rate for 10 years

8.0%

8.2%

Assumptions regarding future mortality have been based on published statistics and mortality tables.
The following table shows how the defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2013 would have been affected
by changes that were reasonably possible at that date, in each of the actuarial assumptions that were considered
significant to the valuation of the benefit obligation.
Assumptions
Discount rate (1% increase)

2013
$

(431)

$

287

Mortality rates (RPP 2014 Private Mortality Table (instead of UP-94 Mortality Table
generational with scale AA))
Trend rates (1% increase)
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Corporate Governance
The elected directors serving on the Board of Directors (the “Board”) must bring the skills, experience and
competencies required to enable the Board to effectively guide and oversee one of Canada’s largest co-operative
financial institutions. Both the Board and senior management of Coast Capital Savings Credit Union (“Coast Capital”)
are committed to excellence in sound business practices and the achievement of responsible economic, social and
environmental objectives. The Board is responsible for managing Coast Capital’s business and affairs. It has the
statutory authority and obligation to protect and enhance the assets of the credit union. The Board reviews and
approves Coast Capital’s strategic direction and risk appetite, sets and monitors corporate policies, and is responsible
for overseeing management and ensuring that Coast Capital complies with regulatory and statutory requirements.
Governance of Coast Capital
Coast Capital uses the Corporate Governance Guidelines for Building High Performance Boards published by the
Canadian Coalition for Good Governance as a baseline of best practices and as they would apply to a non-public
company and member-controlled financial co-operative.
A high performance board is accountable and independent
Guideline 1

Facilitate shareholder (member) democracy

Guideline 2

Ensure at least two-thirds of directors are independent of management

Guideline 3

Separate roles of Chair and Chief Executive Officer

✔
✔
✔

A high performance board has experienced, knowledgeable and effective directors and committees,
and the highest level of integrity
Guideline 4

Ensure that directors are competent and knowledgeable

Guideline 5

Ensure the goal of every director is to make integrity the hallmark of the company

Guideline 6

Establish mandates for board committees and ensure committee independence

Guideline 7

Establish reasonable compensation and (equity) share ownership guidelines
for directors

Guideline 8

Evaluate board, committee and individual director performance

✔
✔
✔
✔
✔

A high performance board has clear roles and responsibilities
Guideline 9

Oversee strategic planning, risk management and the hiring and evaluation
of management

Guideline 10

Assess the Chief Executive Officer and plan for succession

Guideline 11

Develop and oversee executive compensation plans

✔
✔
✔

A high performance board engages with shareholders (members)
Guideline 12

Report governance policies and initiatives to shareholders (members)

Guideline 13

Engage with shareholders (members) within and outside the annual meeting

Board of Directors
The Board is accountable to the members of Coast Capital.
Each year, three or four directors are elected by the
membership to the Board for three-year terms. All directors,
including the Chair, are currently independent. The
definition of a “non-independent director” is any person
who derives more than 5 per cent of their commercial
business income from their relationship with Coast Capital.
Thirteen board meetings (including two two-day meetings)
were held in 2013. A portion of each regularly scheduled
board meeting is set aside for a directors-only session with

✔
✔

and without the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”). The Chair,
as the presiding board member, ensures the relationships
between the Board, the CEO and the Executive Committee
and the membership are effective, efficient and further the
best interests of Coast Capital.
The Board undertakes a regular process of identifying
and reviewing the overall skills and experience required
amongst directors to strengthen the Board and to meet
the needs of Coast Capital’s governance, both in the
present and into the future.
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Ethical Business Conduct
The Board embraces and promotes a culture of
ethical behaviour at Coast Capital and is accountable
for ensuring Coast Capital meets public, regulatory,
customer and member expectations in complying with
existing laws.
The Board has a Code of Conduct and Ethics Policy
(the “Director’s Code”) that establishes the standards
that govern the manner in which directors conduct
themselves and in particular how they consider the
interests of members, employees and other stakeholders.
Annually, each director is required to formally adopt
and agree to the Director’s Code. Coast Capital also has
a Code of Conduct and Business Ethics Corporate Policy
(“The Code”) that applies to the Board, officers and
employees. The Code states the values upheld by Coast
Capital and the standards of behaviour expected. Every
director, officer and employee at Coast Capital is required
to acknowledge and sign The Code each year. The Board’s
Human Resources Committee is responsible for reviewing
The Code at least annually, reviewing any incidents of
non-compliance and the resulting consequences, and
reporting to the Board.
Position Descriptions
Annually, the Board reviews the position descriptions
for directors, the Board Chair, Committee Chairs and
the CEO. A director’s job is to work with the Board in
providing strategic advice and business oversight of
Coast Capital’s operations. This includes critiquing and
giving approval to Coast Capital’s three-year strategic
plan and annual operating capital expenditure plans.
Directors are required to act honestly, in good faith and in
Coast Capital’s best interests. In doing so, they must take
into account the interests of the members, depositors,
employees and other stakeholders.
Nomination of Directors
Each year three or four vacancies occur on Coast Capital’s
10-member Board for three-year terms. Immediately after
the Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”), the Board
appoints a Nominations Committee (the “Committee”)
that is tasked with recommending qualified candidates
in the following year for election to the Board. The
Committee reports directly to the membership, not to the
Board. The composition of the Committee is restricted to
directors who will not be standing for re-election in the
ensuing year. The Committee seeks qualified candidates
from the membership and retains the services of an
expert governance consultant to assist in seeking out and
screening for highly qualified nominees.
In keeping with its charter and adhering to corporate
governance best practices, the Committee carries out
a due diligence review of all nominees, including a
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structured full-committee interview of new nominees,
whose stated skills and experience most closely match
the current year’s Ideal Director Candidate Description.
Following the interviews and at the completion of all the
due diligence reviews, the Committee determines those
candidates it will recommend for election to the Board.
The Committee is responsible for:
• Approving an updated Ideal Director Candidate
Description for the current year based on a gap
analysis of the required skills and experience
required within the Board to guide and oversee the
implementation of Coast Capital’s strategic plan;
• Sourcing candidates for election to the Board who
possess the skills and experience set out in the Ideal
Director Candidate Description;
• Recommending qualified candidates for election to
the Board equal to the number of upcoming vacancies;
• Providing information to all Coast Capital members
in a standard format for all candidates seeking
election to the Board;
• Recommending to the Board the appointment of
an independent returning officer to supervise the
election; and
• Receiving certified election results from the returning
officer.
The results of each year’s Directors election are
announced at the AGM by the Chair of the Nominations
Committee.
Total Board and Committee Remuneration Paid for 2013
The current amounts paid to directors are in accordance
with an external compensation consultant’s 2013 report
to the Governance Committee and follow the parameters
set out in the 2007 member-approved Remuneration
Philosophy. Total remuneration paid to directors in 2013
was $693,207 (2012 – $720,529) including matching
Canada Pension Plan contributions as required by law.
Directors do not receive any product or service preferences
that are not available to the general membership.
The Board of Directors meets a minimum of eight
times a year for regular board meetings and two two-day
strategy sessions. In 2013 the Board met 13 times. The
Board is currently supported by five standing committees
and one special purpose ad hoc committee (see table).
Committees are populated by a minimum of three
directors and meet throughout the year and as required
to fulfill their responsibilities.
The following table summarizes the attendance of
directors at Board and committee meetings. The table
also provides the total remuneration paid for the year to
each director for attendance at all Board and committee
meetings and at other designated meetings and events
deemed eligible for payment:

Corporate Governance
Board Meetings

Assigned Committees of the Board

Percentage
of all
Total
Meetings Remuneration
Attended
Paid for Year

Director

Attended

Percentage

Doug
Brownridge

13 of 13

100

5 of 5 Governance
7 of 7 Nominations
5 of 5 Risk Review
5 of 5 Banking System Conversion
Board Oversight

100
100
100
100

100

$62,760

Daniel Burns

9 of 13

70

3 of 4 Audit & Finance (Chair)
4 of 5 Governance

75
80

73

$49,429

Robin
Chakrabarti

13 of 13

100

5 of 5 Governance
6 of 7 Human Resources
4 of 4 Risk Review

100
86
100

97

$53,660

Bill Cooke

11 of 13

85

5 of 5 Risk Review (Chair)
5 of 5 Banking System Conversion
Board Oversight (Chair)

100
100

91

$59,096

Christian
Findlay

13 of 13

100

2 of 2 Human Resources
10 of 10 Nominations (Chair)
4 of 4 Risk Review
5 of 5 Banking System Conversion
Board Oversight

100
100
100
100

100

$78,549

Mary Jordan

13 of 13

100

3 of 4 Audit & Finance
7 of 7 Human Resources (Chair)
3 of 3 Nominations

75
100
100

96

$59,429

Susan
Senecal

12 of 13

92

4 of 4 Audit & Finance
3 of 4 Governance
3 of 3 Nominations

100
75
100

92

$48,600

Chris
Trumpy

10 of 13

77

4 of 4 Audit & Finance
3 of 4 Governance
1 of 1 Risk Review

100
75
100

82

$43,580

Bill
13 of 13
Wellburn
(Board Chair)

100

1 of 1 Audit & Finance
9 of 9 Governance
7 of 7 Human Resources
7 of 7 Nominations
1 of 1 Risk Review
5 of 5 Banking System Conversion
Board Oversight

100
100
100
100
100
100

100

$148,312

Glenn
Wong

100

9 of 9 Governance (Chair)
5 of 5 Human Resources
1 of 1 Risk Review

100
100
100

100

$89,789

13 of 13

Meetings Attended

Percentage

Additional detailed information about director remuneration is available at www.coastcapitalsavings.com/governance.
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Board Committees and Meetings
The Board delegates specific governance responsibilities
to five standing committees: Audit and Finance,
Governance, Human Resources, Nominations and
Risk Review. The Committees draw upon management
resources as appropriate and are authorized by the
Board to engage outside advisors as required. The Board
determines the authority and responsibilities of each
committee and approves the charter and committee
membership annually immediately following the AGM.
Committees meet in-camera as a matter of routine, make
recommendations to the Board and, with the exception
of the Nominations Committee, report regularly to the
Board. The Nominations Committee is accountable to
and reports directly to the membership.
Audit and Finance Committee: oversees the quality,
integrity, accuracy and clarity of Coast Capital’s
financial reporting and the effectiveness of systems of
internal control. The Committee is the liaison between
internal audit, the external auditors and the Board.
The Committee is also responsible for monitoring the
performance of the members’ external auditors and
reviewing legal and regulatory matters as they relate to
financial reporting and controls.

Nominations Committee: under the Coast Capital Rules,
operates independently from the Board to ensure there
are qualified candidates recommended for election to fill
all upcoming vacancies on the Board. The Committee
ensures the integrity of the election process for directors
to the Board and reports the results of the election to the
members at the AGM.
Risk Review Committee: identifies and monitors the key
risks at Coast Capital and evaluates the management
of risks. The Committee approves risk management
policies, ensures policies and related internal controls
are in place and assesses Coast Capital’s business
strategies and plans from a risk perspective. The
Committee reviews and monitors adherence to and
the effectiveness of policies and internal controls, and
ensures Coast Capital is in compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements. It provides a forum for macro
analysis of future risks which includes considering
emerging risks, significant events and trends.
In addition to the standing committees, the Board may
establish ad hoc Special Purpose Committees which are
disbanded upon completion of their purpose. Two ad
hoc committees operated in 2013:

Governance Committee: ensures the Board’s governance
practices are consistent with leading practices and the
needs of Coast Capital. The Committee recommends to
the Board an annual evaluation process for individual
directors, the Board as a whole, committees and the
Board and committee chairs. The Committee oversees
the relationship of Coast Capital Savings and the Board
with members and the community.

Mergers & Acquisitions Advisory Committee (formerly
Case for Progress Advisory Committee): acts as a
resource to management in exploring the opportunities,
challenges and risks as Coast Capital considers the
benefits and impact to members, employees and other
stakeholders of growing in British Columbia and beyond.
This Committee did not meet in 2013.

Human Resources Committee: ensures human resources
policies are in place, implemented and maintained. The
Committee reviews and recommends policy and strategy
with respect to employee salaries, benefits and incentive
compensation and succession planning. It engages an
independent outside advisor to assist in the determination
and approval of executive compensation and directs the
annual evaluation process for CEO performance. The
Committee is responsible for overseeing the conduct of
Coast Capital’s directors, officers and employees.

Banking System Conversion Board Oversight
Committee: a sub-committee of the Risk Review
Committee responsible for the oversight of the
integration and installation of the new banking system
in February 2013. In May 2013, the Banking System
Conversion Board Oversight Committee was dissolved
following the successful implementation of the new
banking system.
Information regarding Board and committee meeting
attendance is available at:
www.coastcapitalsavings.com/governance.
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Performance Reviews
The Board undertakes annual evaluations to review the
effectiveness of the Board’s governance. This review
process is based on the duties and responsibilities
of the Board, individual directors and the Board Chair
as described in their respective charters. Annually,
the Governance Committee recommends to the
Board a process for the evaluation. The evaluation is
administered by an external governance consultant and
involves the elements listed below.
• Structured individual interviews are conducted by
the consultant with members of senior management
to obtain input on the performance of the Board, the
Board’s committees and the Board Chair.
• Structured interviews are conducted by the consultant
with each director to discuss self-performance as a Coast
Capital director and obtain input on peer performance,
the performance of the Board, the Board’s committees
and the Board Chair. Each director is provided with the
consultant’s findings in respect of his or her performance.

• An in-depth governance review and debriefing session
on Board performance is held with the consultant and
all directors. Board goals for the next 12 months are
determined and the responsibility for achieving each
goal is assigned.
• The Board Chair meets privately with each director
to discuss their peer evaluation results with a view to
determining how the director could contribute more
effectively to the Board.
The Board undertakes an annual performance
evaluation of the CEO. Each director completes a
comprehensive evaluation of the effectiveness of the
CEO’s performance against the CEO’s agreed goals for
the year and the competencies and expectations of the
CEO’s position description. Following Board discussion
and analysis of the directors’ findings, the Board Chair
prepares a memorandum setting out the Board’s position
on CEO performance. The Board and Human Resources
Committee Chairs meet privately with the CEO to
formally present and review the evaluation results.

More information regarding governance is available at www.coastcapitalsavings.com/governance.
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Glossary
Actuarial gains (or losses) on defined benefit plans:
gains (or losses) resulting from differences between the
assumptions used to value defined benefit pension plans
and what actually occurred and the effects of changes in
the assumptions.
Allowance for credit losses: equals the difference between
outstanding loan balances and their estimated net
realizable value, and consists of a specific allowance and a
collective allowance. The allowances are increased by the
provision for credit losses and decreased by write-offs, net
of recoveries. The allowance for credit losses is maintained
at a level that management considers adequate to absorb
all credit-related losses in its loan portfolio.
Amortized cost: amount at which a financial instrument
is measured at initial recognition, minus principal
payments, plus or minus cumulative amortization of any
difference between the initial amount recognized and the
maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.
Assets under administration: total assets plus financial
assets that are managed by a third party on behalf
of members and clients. The credit union provides
administrative services such as placing trades on behalf
of members and clients.
Available for sale (“AFS”) financial instruments:
designated non-derivative financial instruments that are
not designated or classified as financial instruments at
fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables,
or held to maturity financial instruments.
Carrying value: amount at which an asset or liability is
recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Cash flow hedges: derivatives used to hedge exposure
to variability in cash flows that are attributable to a
particular risk associated with a recognized asset or
liability that could affect profit or loss.
•

Effective portion of cash flow hedges:
degree to which a cash flow hedge is
effective in achieving offsetting changes in
cash flows attributable to the hedged risk.

Central 1 Credit Union (“Central 1”): the financial
facility and trade association for the B.C. and Ontario
credit union systems. Owned and funded by the credit
unions, Central 1 represents member-owned retail
financial institutions that serve 3.2 million members and
collectively hold $91 billion in assets.
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Credit risk: risk that one party to a financial instrument
will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to
discharge an obligation.
Deferred tax assets: amounts of income taxes payable
or recoverable in future periods as a result of temporary
differences between the carrying amount of an asset
or liability in the financial statements and its carrying
amount for tax purposes.
Derivative financial instruments: financial contracts
whose value is derived from interest rates, foreign
exchange rates or other financial indices.
Effective interest rate: rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the
expected life of a financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial instrument.
Fair value: amount at which an asset could be exchanged,
or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing
parties in an arm’s-length transaction. Adjusting to fair
value is referred to as “mark-to-market”.
Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”): non-derivative financial instruments that
are acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term or for which there is evidence of a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking. Financial instruments
may also be designated as FVTPL when the designation
eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or
recognition inconsistencies that would otherwise arise
from measuring financial assets, or from recognizing
gains and losses on them, on different bases.
Financial Institutions Commission of British Columbia
(“FICOM”): regulatory agency of the provincial Ministry
of Finance responsible for regulating B.C. credit unions
under the Financial Institutions Act and the Credit Union
Incorporation Act.
Forward contracts: contracts that oblige one party to the
contract to buy and the other party to sell an asset for a
fixed priced at a future date.
Hedging: risk management strategy used to manage
exposures to interest rate fluctuations, foreign currency
risk and other market factors as part of its asset/liability
management program.

Glossary
Held to maturity (“HTM”) financial instruments:
designated non-derivative financial instruments with
fixed or determinable payments and a fixed maturity,
other than loans and receivables, which an entity has the
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.

Return on average assets: indicator used to assess the
profitability of the organization and to evaluate how
efficiently it is utilizing its assets in comparison to peers
in the same industry. The ratio is calculated by taking net
income and dividing by average total assets.

Impairment: where the present value of estimated future
cash flows of a financial instrument is less than its carrying
amount as a result of the occurrence of a loss event.

Return on average equity: indicator used to assess
the profitability of the organization by evaluating how
much profit it generates with the funds retained in the
organization by members. The ratio is calculated by
taking net income and dividing by average total equity.

Net interest income: difference between revenues
generated by interest-bearing assets, primarily loans,
and the cost of servicing interest-bearing liabilities,
primarily deposits.
Net interest margin: net interest income expressed as a
percentage of average total assets.

Risk-weighted assets: total assets adjusted by applying
regulatory pre-determined risk-weight factors ranging
from zero per cent to 200 per cent to on- and off-balance
sheet exposures. The risk-weight factors are regulated
by FICOM.

Non-interest expenses: operating expenses incurred by
a financial institution that are not related to deposit costs
or financing expenses.

Securitization: arrangement where loans are sold to
unrelated third parties to raise liquidity or fund additional
mortgage growth.

Notional amount: amount on which payments for
derivative financial instruments are based.

Swaps: contracts that involve the exchange of fixed
and/or floating interest rate payment obligations and/or
currencies for a specified period of time.

Operating efficiency: ratio that shows the organization’s
efficiency by comparing non-interest expenses to revenues,
which for a financial institution is comprised of net
interest income, fees and commission and other income.
Options: contracts in which one party grants the other
party the future right to buy or to sell an exchange rate,
interest rate, financial instrument or commodity at a predetermined price at or by a specified future date.
Other comprehensive income (“OCI”): fair value
adjustments of financial instruments that in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards are not
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income but
affect Members’ Equity directly.
Provision for credit losses: amount added to or
subtracted from the allowance for credit losses in a
reporting period to bring it to a level that management
considers adequate to absorb all credit-related losses in
its loan portfolio.
Provisions: liabilities of uncertain timing or amount that
are unrelated to credit issues.

Tier 1 capital: permanent capital comprised primarily
of retained earnings but also voting shares, qualifying
investment shares and contributed surplus. It is offset
by deferred income tax assets and various capital
deductions such as goodwill as prescribed by FICOM.
Tier 2 capital: secondary capital, which includes
subordinated debentures, other investment shares and
50 per cent of a credit union’s portion of retained earnings
in the Credit Union Deposit Insurance Corporation,
Central 1 and Stabilization Central Credit Union.
Total capital: comprises both Tier 1 (primary) and Tier 2
(secondary) capital. Capital requirements are regulated
by FICOM and a minimum capital standard based on a
ratio of capital to risk-weighted assets of 8.0 per cent is
required. At least 50 per cent of the capital base must
consist of Tier 1 capital.
Trailer fee revenues: revenues earned from mutual fund
managers for selling their fund(s) and providing advice
to investors. The fee is applied to the market value of the
assets held by investors.
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Corporate Information
Board of Directors
Christian Findlay, Chair, Nominations Committee
Mary Jordan, Chair, Human Resources Committee
Susan Senecal
Chris Trumpy
Glenn Wong, Chair, Governance Committee

Bill Wellburn, Board Chair
Doug Brownridge
Daniel Burns, Chair, Audit and Finance
Robin Chakrabarti
Bill Cooke, Chair, Risk Review Committee
Executive Committee
Tracy Redies
President and Chief Executive Officer

Jay-Ann Gilfoy
Chief Transformation Officer

Wayne Berg
Chief Commercial Officer

Kathy McGarrigle
Chief Operating Officer

Don Coulter
Chief Financial Officer

Pehlaj Malhotra
Chief Risk Officer

Lawrie Ferguson
Chief Marketing and Strategy Officer

Erwin Martinez
Chief Information Officer

Biographies of our Board of Directors and Executive Committee are available at www.coastcapitalsavings.com/governance.
Contact Information
Surrey Administration Office
1900, 13450 – 102 Avenue
Surrey, B.C. V3T 5Y1

Head Office
15117 – 101 Avenue
Surrey, B.C. V3R 8P7
T: 604.517.7400
F: 604.517.7405
Contact Centre
604.517.7000 (Metro Vancouver)
250.483.7000 (Greater Victoria)
1.888.517.7000 (Toll-free)

Victoria Administration Office
400, 645 Tyee Road
Victoria, B.C. V9A 6X5

Website
www.coastcapitalsavings.com
Twitter
@Coast_Capital
Facebook
facebook.com/coastcapitalsavings

Annual General Meeting
The meeting will also be available by webcast
at www.coastcapitalsavings.com/AGM.

Wednesday, April 30, 2014 at 5 pm (PT)
Sheraton Guildford Hotel
15269 – 104 Avenue, Surrey

Eco-audit
Excluding the cover this Annual Report was printed on recycled paper containing 100 per cent post-consumer
waste and saved the following:
		
H2O
Waste
CO2
Energy
NOx
Trees
in litres
in kilograms
in kilograms
in BTUs
in kilograms
28

44,522

590

1,162

19.6 million

FSC® is not responsible for any calculations on saving resources by choosing this paper. Source of calculation: http://www.mohawkconnects.com
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